# **Music Media Helper**

**User Documentation** 

Tools for managing and converting Audio and Music Video media files, creating Playlists and Music Video NFOs

App Version 8.0.10 Document Version 8.4

7 December 2024

## **Table of Contents**

Requirements:	6
Installing Music Media Helper (MMH):	6
Updating Music Media Helper	7
Tools Launcher Dialog:	8
Application Preferences dialog:	9
Split & Rename Concerts:	
Functionality:	
Split & Rename Walk-Through:	
Getting Track (file) Names from Musicbrainz (online music database):	
Copying all the Tracks Titles from the clipboard:	
Tagging Files - Overview:	
The Tag Editor control:	
Renumbering Tracks and Files:	
Renaming Files:	
Scrape Concert Folders:	
Functionality:	
Kodi NFO files:	
How to Scrape Concert folder:	
About the Music Video Scraper dialog:	
Editing Tags in the Concert Tag list:	
How to get Concerts into Kodi's Music Video Library:	
Batch Creation Tools (Music Videos):	
Functionality:	
Batch Creation:	
Batch Concert Folder Scraping:	
Batch Play List Creation:	
Creating NFO (Kodi) or XML (JRiver) tag files:	
Creating CUE Files:	
Batch Split and Join MKV Files:	
Functionality:	
Batch Split:	
Batch Split Preferences:	
Batch Merge:	
Chapter Editor:	
Functionality:	
Edit Chapters dialog description:	
Changing the Default Audio Stream in the MKV/MKA:	
Getting Chapter Titles from MusicBrainz:	
Saving a CUE file for your MKV/MKA/MP4 file:	
Adding Chapters to an MKV without Chapters:	
Manually Adding Chapters & Start Times	
Adding Chapters & Start Times by Copying from the Clipboard	55
Tag & Rename Media Files:	
Functionality:	

Tag & Rename Files dialog description:	
Selecting Media Files to Tag and/or Rename	
Tagging Files - Overview:	
The Tag Editor control:	
Tagging Tracks from Musicbrainz (online music database):	
Tagging Album Cover Art from Fanart.tv (online artwork database):	
Copying all the Tracks Titles from the clipboard:	
Renaming Files:	
Renumbering Tracks and Files:	
Playlist Editor:	
Functionality:	
Playlist dialog description:	
Copying Playlist Media Files:	
Playlist Preferences:	
Media File Manager:	
Functionality:	
Media File Manager dialog description:	
To setup your Sources	
Saving and Importing Sources from a text file	
Scanning Your Sources for Media	
Filtering & Sorting rows and Hiding Columns	
Example PDF Report from the Export/Print command	
Copying Files to Another Folder or Disc:	
Viewing Track details from the Media Manager grid:	
Adding a Track from the Media Manager grid to a Playlist:	
Merge Video and FLAC files:	
Functionality:	
File Naming Requirements	
Output (New Merged) Files	
Merge Video and FLAC Walk-Through:	
Extract Audio from MKV, MKA & M4A files:	
Functionality:	
Extract Audio from MKV/MKA dialog description:	
Extract Audio Preferences:	
Tagging Files - Overview:	91
The Tag Editor control:	
Tagging Tracks from Musicbrainz (online music database):	
Copying all the Track Titles from the clipboard for editing:	94
Renaming Files:	
Renumbering Tracks and Files:	
Resample Audio Files:	
Functionality:	
Resample Files dialog description:	
Channel Volume:	
Functionality:	
Channel Volume dialog description:	
Applying Gain (Saving volume changes to file):	

The Channel Player:	
Automatic Target Gain Calculation:	
Channel Volume Disparity Checking:	
Peak Limiter:	
Normalisation:	
Viewing Multichannel Wave forms:	
The Waveform Channel Player:	
Channel Volume tool Preferences:	
Remix Channel Layout:	
Functionality:	
Remix Channel Layout dialog description:	
To define your own Remix Channel Mapping:	
To reuse (Restore) a previously saved Remix Channel Mapping:	
Advanced Channel Mixing Definitions	
Channel Delay:	
Functionality:	
Channel Delay dialogue description:	
Channel Split & Merge:	
Functionality:	
Split Files tab description:	
Merge Files tab description:	
Join or Split Audio:	
Functionality:	
Merge or Split Audio dialog description:	
Adding Files to Merge (join) into a single new file	
To Split a Merged FLAC file	
To Split a large FLAC file from a CUE	
Create a CUE from an existing large FLAC or WAV file	
Batch Audio Tools:	
Functionality:	
Batch Audio Tools Audio dialog description:	
ReplayGain:	
To View existing ReplayGain tags	
To Analyze ReplayGain	
To Update ReplayGain tags	
To View existing Cover Art tags:	
To Update Embedded Cover Art	
To View or Calculate DR for Album folder:	
Update Penteo (& SpecWeb) files:	
Functionality:	
Why is this Tool in MMH?:	
Rules/Requirements for the tool to work as designed:	
Penteo Tagging Tool Preferences:	
Finding Album Cover Art and Disc Art:	
Album Artwork Search Preferences:	
MMH Atmos Helper:	

Functionality:	
MMH Atmos Helper dialog description:	
Encoding to Atmos with MMH Atmos Helper:	
Decoding Atmos to multichannel wavs with MMH Atmos Helper:	
MPEG-H Decoder:	
Functionality:	
MPEG-H Decoder tool description:	
Appendix:	150
.NET 8 Desktop Runtime x64	150
Integrated Audio and Video Player in MMH:	150
A Note on Music Concert Folders & File naming:	150

### **Requirements:**

- Windows 11, 10, or 8
- Microsoft .NET 8 Desktop Runtime (may be pre-installed on some Windows 11, 10 and 8 PCs with recent Service Packs)
- Internet connection: Required for tagging audio files with data from Musicbrainz and to scrape album and concert/music videos artwork. Also, to check for and download updated future versions of Music Media Helper.

If you are planning to do lots of media conversion and tagging: a fast hard drive is recommended (SSD is the fastest)

### **Installing Music Media Helper (MMH):**

Install the application from this URL (hosted on a Microsoft Azure server in USA):

https://reva.blob.core.windows.net/mmh8/publish.htm

This screen will show you the current version number. Example:

## Music Media Helper Music Media Helper

- Version: 6.2.4
- Publisher: Reva Consulting Services

The following prerequisites are required:

Microsoft .NET 6 Desktop Runtime for Windows x64

Install

Microsoft .NET 6 Desktop Runtime for Windows x64

Click: Install

The program installer (MMHInstaller.msi) will be downloaded (approx. 200MB).

**NOTE:** This file is standard Microsoft Windows installer. (No viruses or malicious code).

- Microsoft Edge web browser pops-up a small window asking what you want to do with the MMHInstaller.msi file. Click: Run (to start the installer & download all required files).
- The Google Chrome browser will warn you that this file may be 'dangerous' (just like any executable downloaded from the internet). You will need to tell Windows to 'Keep' the file (Don't discard it).



In Google Chrome use the pop-up menu next to the 'Open' the MMHInstaller.msi file. Please use that. When downloaded open the MMHInstaller.msi or run it to start the installation of all required files.

Depending on your browser and Windows version you may get another security warning (again normal for running code from a downloaded file). Here's the one on Windows 10 after running MMHInstaller.msi from Google Chrome:



You will need to confirm that MMHInstaller.msi is ok to run. With the above dialog click: 'More Info' link text with will show more info and give you an option to 'Run anyway':



The installer (MMHInstaller.msi) will now run and install the Music Media Helper application and add it to your Start menu and creates a short-cut on your desktop.

#### **Updating Music Media Helper**

Music Media Helper (MMH) automatically checks if there is an updated version on start-up and will allow you to update your version. Of course, this will only occur if you have an internet.

There is a 'Check for Updates' toolbar command on the MMH Launcher dialog which you can use to check if you have the latest version. If a newer version has been published, you will see a pop-up asking if you wish to upgrade. If you click 'Yes' MMH will auto download and update its changed files, then automatically will re-start MMH. Easy.

### **Tools Launcher Dialog:**

On start-up Music Media Helper (MMH) shows the tool MMH *Tools Launcher* dialog allowing access to the various Audio and Video tools provided by this application:

Music Media Helper Tools	s Launcher — X						
Preferences About He	p Check For Updates						
Concert Video Tools							
Split & Rename Concerts	Split MKV video file into Chapters, Rename Concert Chapter files (lookup releases on MusicBrainz)						
Scrape a Concert Folder	Scrape a single Concert Video folder to get Poster and Fanart and/or Create NFO files for Kodi						
Batch Creation Tools	Scrape, Create NFO (XML), CUE files or M3U Playlists for All Music Concerts/Video folders (all at once)						
Split & Join Media Files	Batch Split MKV files with Chapters. Batch Join MKV, MKA, MP4 & M2TS (into Single file with Chapters)						
Audio and Video Tools:							
Chapter Editor	Create & Edit Chapters in a MKV, MKA, MP4 or M4A file. Create CUE file. Change Default Audio stream						
Tag & Rename Media Files	Tag & Rename files (Supports Copy & Paste from track list) and/or Tag from MusicBrainz. Create CUE file.						
Play List Editor	Create and Edit M3U Playlist files for both Audio and Music Video files						
Media File Manager	Create a List of all Media files from multiple Sources, Copy selected files to another disc etc						
Merge Video & FLAC files	Merge MKV/MP4 video & FLAC/WAV audio files to create new MKV/MP4 files						
Audio Tools:							
Extract Audio from MKV	Split MKV/MKA into Audio files by chapter, convert audio files & Tag (lookup releases on MusicBrainz)						
Resample	Resample Audio files (stereo or multichannel - FLAC, WAV & W64 only)						
Channel Volume	Edit Channel Volume (Gain) for FLAC & WAV. View DR & Waveforms (FLAC, WAV, DSF, M4A, MKA & MKV)						
Remix Channel Layout	Edit Channel Layout, Add Silent Channel(s) to Quad (4.0 to 5.0 or 5.1), Remove Channels, Invert Phase						
Channel Delay	Edit Channel Alignment/Delay in multichannel files (FLAC, WAV or DSF)						
Channel Split & Merge	Split MCH files into Mono Channel files. Merge Mono files to create MCH files.						
Join or Split Audio	Join or Split WAV, W64 or FLAC files. Join m4A files. Create CUE files.						
Batch Audio Tools	Analyze & update ReplayGain; Update/Report Cover Art; Report Disc Art & DR; Report Musicbrainz IDs						
Update Penteo Files	Batch Tag Penteo MCH FLACs. Copy Tags from input files & rename Output files. Add Quad silent ch.						
Rename Audio Folders	Restructure Audio files from single: 'Artist - Album' folders to: 'Artist\Album' folders for Kodi						
MMH Atmos Helper	Create Atmos® Master File Sets from multichannel interleaved WAV files. Decode Atmos to WAV.						
MPEG-H Decoder	Decode MPEG-H Audio in .MP4 or .M4A files to WAV.						
Version: 8.0.9	Exit						

Simply *click* on a Tool command button to launch the selected tool window.

**HINT:** To help new users understand each tool's workflow, upon opening a tool window only valid commands and options are enabled or visible. Most often opening a file or selecting multiple files will enable additional commands and options to continue with the current tool.

On the Launcher toolbar there are four options:

Preferences: Allows setting of Application Global Preferences

About: Shows information about MMH

Help: Shows the MMH PDF manual

**Check For Updates:** This forces MMH to check if your version is still current. If there is a newer version available MMH will display a dialog with information about the update. You can accept the update (MMH will download and install) or you can choose to ignore the update.

**NOTE:** Clicking on the Version Number at the bottom left of the Launcher dialog pop up a version history dialog.

Each MMH Launcher tool's functionality is explained in the following sections:

#### **Application Preferences dialog:**

Global Preferences		
Look & Feel		
Skin:	WXI Darkness (wide)	
Folder Dialog Style:	O Compact Layout Wide Layout	
	Compact recommended for most users	
Dynamic Range optic	bns	
🛃 Auto Save DR fil	le when loading files in Channel Volume tool	
🧹 When Creating [	DR files - Append File Audio Stats	
File Naming: Tag & R	tename, Split & Rename Concerts and Extract Audio from MKV tool	
Use Artist Name	in File Names (s)	
🧹 Use Dot (. ) Trac	ck Number separator	
Use Dash ( - ) Tr	rack Number separator	
Example File Name	e: 01. Song Title.flac	
	Save Cancel	

#### **Description of Preference options:**

#### Look & Feel:

**Skin:** In Version 4.0 a new 'Preferences' dialog was added on the Launcher toolbar that enables users to select their preferred skin/themes. By default, the 'Office 2019 Black' skin is enabled (as shown above). You can choose from eight different skins. Some of the screen captures in this document were captured using the original default skin. Version 6.1.0 added two new Windows 11 themed skins (WXI Darkness & Clearness).

**Folder Dialog Style**: This preference controls how the Folder Browser dialog appears in MMH. 'Compact' is a simple tree view that works well for most users. 'Wide' provides a view more like Windows File Explorer and allows users to enter a folder name including folders on unmapped servers (e.g. <u>\\MyServer\MyFolder</u>).

#### **Dynamic Range options:**

Auto Save DR file when loading files in Channel Volume tool: Will save a DR file automatically on file loading

An MMH Dynamic Range file example:

```
      Analyzed:
      Santana / Caravanserai

      DR
      Peak
      RMS
      Duration Track

      DR14
      -7.53 dB
      -30.63 dB
      4:16 01-Eternal Caravan of Reincarnation

      DR10
      -6.58 dB
      -23.30 dB
      3:55 02-Waves Within

      DR11
      -4.07 dB
      -23.48 dB
      2:58 03-Look Up (to See What's Coming Down)

      DR11
      -6.00 dB
      -23.91 dB
      2:18 04-Just in Time to See the Sun

      DR11
      -5.97 dB
      -24.71 dB
      6:00 05-Song of the Wind

      DR10
      -6.04 dB
      -23.62 dB
      7:33 06-All the Love of the Universe

      DR12
      -6.03 dB
      -27.45 dB
      4:15 07-Future Primitive

      DR11
      -5.99 dB
      -24.24 dB
      6:16 08-Stone Flower

      DR11
      -5.99 dB
      -24.24 dB
      6:16 08-Stone Flower

      DR11
      -7.58 dB
      -25.23 dB
      4:35 09-La Fuente del Ritmo

      DR10
      -5.94 dB
      -23.62 dB
      9:08 10-Every Step of the Way
```

Official DR value: DR11

Samplerate:	88200 Hz
Channels:	5
Bits per sample:	24
Bitrate:	4276 kbps
Codec:	FLAC

When Creating DR files – Append File Audio Stats: Saves individual channel stats to the end of the normal DR files MMH creates in its Channel Volume tool or Batch Audio Tools (Report/Create DR report option)

If this option is enabled, MMH adds detailed Channel stats and DR for each channel as per this example for a Quad mix in a 5 channel file (with a silent centre):

```
Statistics for: 01. Eternal Caravan of Reincarnation
Duration: 4:16
Dynamic Range: DR14
Channel 1 Channel 2 Channel 3 Channel 4 Channel 5
Peak Value: -7.53 dB -9.00 dB 0.00 dB -11.47 dB -9.96 dB
Avg RMS: -25.69 dB -32.17 dB 0.00 dB -33.48 dB -32.42 dB
DR channel: DR11 DR14 DR15 DR14
```

MMH ignores a Channel's DR in the overall file DR calculation if it is zero or the Avg RMS < 30db (too quiet to be heard). The Overall calc is: (Sum of Non-Ignored Channel DR) / (No. of non-ignored Channels). In the above this is (11 + 14 + 15 + 14) / 4 = 13.5 (this is always rounded to nearest integer, so DR is reported as **DR14**)

#### File Naming:

When MMH auto-creates or updates a file name where the Tag Editor is used enabling this preference will append the Artist name (if known). This affects MMH's *Tag & Rename* tool, *Split & Rename Concerts* tool and *Extract Audio from MKV* tool.

Format of file name is always in format [Track][Separator] [Artist/No Artist] [Title]

Use Artist name in File Names: Add the Artist name before the Title

Use Dot (. ) Track Number separator: Uses a dot

#### Use Dash ( - ) Track Number separator : Uses a dash

The Example File Name text is dynamically updated as users change these File Naming settings.

#### Additional Preferences:

Many MMH tools have their own specific preferences and will save the users last used options when the tools' main dialog is closed or saved.

## Split & Rename Concerts:

#### **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Split an MKV file (with Chapters encoded) into individual MKV or MP4 files, one file per chapter.
- Convert an MKV without Chapters to MP4. Dragging multiple MKV files onto the Split and Rename grid with the output set to 'MP4' will convert all the MKV files to MP4 with the video stream and a single audio stream (without splitting each input file into chapters).
- Rename the output files by copying a list of tracks (typically from a website containing a list of songs in the music concert release disc).
- Rename and tag output files by using a MusicBrainz online lookup (only albums and concert release will be found in the Musicbrainz online database)
- Supports tagging via manual data entry.
- Renaming can also create NFO files (small XML data files used by Kodi) or XML sidecar files (for JRiver). These can be either scanned in Kodi's music video library to load artist and song titles into the music video library and used for playback from the library or scanned by JRiver to add additional tags to JRiver's video library.

Renaming also has an option to 'Renumber' all the new chapter files (prefix each file sequentially to force the chapters to be shown in file browsers in their original concert sequence). Example:

- 01. First Song Title.mkv
- 02. Second Song Title.mkv

*HINT:* There are various applications that will convert a DVD or Blu-ray disc to MKV including MakeMKV. You should ensure the MKV output contains chapter information (chapter start times) if you wish to split into chapter files.

**NOTE:** The MKV chapter files created by MMH will contain the same audio tracks as per the original MKV file. When MP4 output selected the output file(s) contain only the selected audio stream (MMH will display a list of audio streams to choose – if the MKV file has multiple audio streams). The original source MKV file does not get changed in any way.

**NOTE:** MP4 does not support PCM streams. If your selected audio input stream is PCM, MMH will auto convert to the stream to FLAC. Therefore, the output files will contain a lossless copy of the PCM input stream converted to FLAC. MMH supports copying of Dolby (inc. Atmos) and DTS streams

If your music concert is already split into chapters, you can still use the Split & Rename tool to only *Rename* your files.

Although this tool is named 'Split & Rename Concerts' it can also be used to split audio-only Albums in MKV format to MKV or MP4 files.

#### Split & Rename Walk-Through:

#### Splitting a Concert Video MKV file:

In this scenario we will assume you already have a Concert MKV containing the entire concert in a single MKV file.

Firstly, ensure you have created a folder named in this format: ARTIST - CONCERT NAME and you have copied your Concert MKV file into that folder.

Click: 'Split & Rename Concerts' from the *Launcher* dialog. The following dialog appears as shown in the next figure. All the controls a disabled until you select an MKV file from the 'Split MKV File' button (or you drag and drop an MKV File from Windows Explorer):

Split MKV File into Chapter Files or Add MKV files to Tag & Rename			– 🗆 X
Split MKV File Output: MKV +			
I  Current Filename  Proposed New Name  Artist  Title  Album  AlbumArtist  Year  Genre  Co  Duration  Track  Disc			
	Ð		
Paste Track Titles list from dipboard Load MKV tags (slow)			

**HINT:** If your Concert Video has already been split into chapters you can use the 'Tag & Rename Media Files' tool to load all the files into its dialog. (This supports copying a list of song titles in one step and/or renaming from a Musicbrainz online lookup)

Click: 'Split MKV File' from the top menu (You can also drag an MKV or MKA file from Windows Explorer into the tool's grid)

MMH will pop up a file browser dialog for you to select the source MKV file you wish to split:

Please select your MKV file to split into Chapter files												
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \neg \uparrow$ Concerts $\rightarrow$ ACDC - Live At River Plate (2009) $\neg$ Enter text to search												
🖿 New Folder												
🕨 🍌 Music		Name	Туре	D. S								
🕨 💻 Desktop	_	ACDC - Live At River Plate (2009).mkv	VLC media file (.mkv)	1 4								
🕨 🛗 Documents												
🕨 🚆 Videos												
🕨 📇 Local Disk (C:)												
🕨 👝 Working (D:)												
<ul> <li>Data (E:)</li> </ul>												
Working (F:)												
WorkingG (G:)												
Concerts												
File Name:	▼ MKV ( <sup>3</sup>	*.mkv) 🔹	Open	Cancel								

**NOTE:** The new output chapter files are saved to the same directory as the original source MKV selected to split.

Select the Concert MKV and click: Open (or just *double-click* on the MKV file)

MMH will now pop up a dialog displaying all the Audio Streams in the selected file so you can change the Default Audio Stream. This only pops up if the input MKV file has multiple audio streams:

Ch	Change Default Stream to selected Audio Stream										
Sel	ect New Default Audio Stream: Double-Click	Default Stream Highlighted									
	Audio Stream	Channels									
►	PCM (Stereo) 24/96kHz	Front: L R									
	DTS-HDMA (6Ch) 24/96kHz (Lossless) (Default)	Front: L C R, Side: L	R, LFE								
	DTS (6Ch) 24/48kHz (Lossy)	Front: L C R, Side: L	R, LFE								
	Atmos (16Ch)/TrueHD (8Ch) 48kHz (Lossless)	Front: L C R, Side: L	R, Back: L R, LFE								
	Dolby Digital (6Ch) 48kHz (Lossy)	Front: L C R, Side: L	R, LFE								
Al	1 Audio Streams will remain from your Source MKV	/мка	Select Cancel								

The current Default stream is highlighted (as shown above).

**NOTE:** The Default audio stream is played automatically on initial playback.

Select a new audio stream and click: Select (or just *double-click* on the stream in the list) to change the default audio stream. Click: Cancel to leave the existing default audio stream unchanged.

**NOTE:** When outputting to MP4 only the selected audio stream is copied to the MP4 files created.

MMH now splits the selected file into its chapter files – You will see a progress bar showing percentage complete while this task runs.

When the split task is completed the original MKV has now been split into its individual chapter files named in same sequence as the original chapter layout and all the chapter file names are loaded into the *Split & Rename* dialog. If the original MKV file has named chapters to the 'New name' column they will be loaded as the screenshot below:

Split MKV File into Chapter Files or Add MKV files to Tag & Rename												- 🗆	×						
Re-Number Files Disc Number Prefix 🗧 🗘 Get Tags from Musicbrainz Edit Selected Tags Copy Title Tag to New Name																			
	Split MKV File	Output: MKV -																	
	I Current Filena	me Proposed New Name	Artist	Title	Album	AlbumArt	Year	Genre	Co	Duration	Track Dis	ic	Track	1 0	of 19	Disc	of		
•	Output-001	01. Chapter 01								02:01.835									
	Output-002	02. Chapter 02								04:55.070			Title						
	Output-003	03. Chapter 03								03:21.191			Artist					Remove	
	Output-004	04. Chapter 04								03:42.199	4								
	Output-005	05. Chapter 05								06:02.954			Album					Clear List	
	Output-006	06. Chapter 06								04:06.273			Album Artist						
	Output-007	07. Chapter 07								03:55.031									
	Output-008	08. Chapter 08								04:04.633			Year		Genre			Play	
	Output-009	09. Chapter 09								05:51.381			Comments						
	Output-010	10. Chapter 10								04:13.697	10		Connerte						
	Output-011	11. Chapter 11								04:02.834	11		Disc Title						
	Output-012	12. Chapter 12								06:00.434	12		Remixed						
	Output-013	13. Chapter 13								03:29.865	13								
	Output-014	14. Chapter 14								07:06.165	14		Album Art						
	Output-015	15. Chapter 15								05:14.630	15								
	Output-016	16. Chapter 16								06:15.225	16								
Pi	aste Track Titles list	from dipboard		Load M	KV tags (sl /Update JF	low) River XML tag	gging fi	les for MK	Vs					Save Cu	ue	Tag Only	Rename	Tag & Renam	e

HINT: You can manually edit the 'New Name' value if required.

If there are no named chapters in the original MKV you may end up with 'New Names' that do not contain correct Song Titles or they are empty like the next screenshot, in which case you should rename them: HINT: You can select any file (row) in the grid and click: Play to listen/view the file. This is sometimes useful when auto renaming files in the next section as often video releases have additional chapters such as Intro and credits. Playing the first and last chapter files is always useful.

#### Getting Track (file) Names from Musicbrainz (online music database):

After the split files are loaded into the grid, to get the concert or album information and tracks from Musicbrainz:

Click: 'Get Tracks from MusicBrainz' from the toolbar menu.

This displays the MMH Musicbrainz Tagging dialog:

Initially this is empty.

To search for an album's tracks:

Enter the Artist and Concert or Album Name (first two text boxes), then

click: 'Find'

#### HINT: if the folder name is in the format ARTIST – CONCERT NAME then MMH will split the folder name and preload the artist name and concert name into the dialog ready to search

The next figure shows a typical Musicbrainz dialog after a search for a concert video:

🄊 MusicBrainz Tagg						×
Album Artist:	AC/DC				Find	
Album Name:	Live at River Plate					
Releases:	Live at River Pla	te	201:	I Blu-ray		
	Live at River Pla	te	2012	2 2xCD		
	Live at River Pla	te	2012	2 2xDigital	Media	
	Live at River Pla	te	2012	2 3xLP		
	Live at River Pla	te	2014	4 2xDigital	Media	
	Live at River Pla	te	N/A	Digital M	edia	
Album Informat	ion					
Album Informat	.011					
Year:	2011					
Genre:	Arena Rock				Genre	
Comment:						
Track List:	Rock N Roll Train					
	Hell Ain't A Bad I	Place To Be				
	Back In Black					
	Big Jack					
	Dirty Deeds Done I	Dirt Cheap				
	Shot Down In Flam	es				
	Thunderstruck					
	Black Ice					
	The Jack					
No. of Tracks:	Hells Bells					
21	Shoot To Thrill					
	Copy Track Titles to E	dit				
🗸 Use MusicBrain	iz First Release Year	Close	Сору Та	ags Show	/ Artwork>>	

**NOTE:** If there is more than one matching 'Album Artist' name found in the Musicbrainz database, MMH will ask you to select the correct artist from the Album Artist pop-up list. Once selected MMH will then search for your selected Album or Concert Name by the Album Artist chosen.

If you enter valid names the 'Releases' list will be populated with all known releases. Click on any release to see its track names listed in the Track List.

To use these tracks to rename and tag: Click: 'Copy Tags' at bottom. The Split & Rename dialog will now contain the album's track info.

You can also manually edit the track list by clicking 'Copy Track Titles to Edit'. This opens a new dialog with free form editing of all the text. You can also copy txt into that dialog.

₽ Re-	Split MKV File into Cha Number Files Disc N	pter Files or Add MKV fil lumber Prefix	es to Tag & Get Tags fi	Rename rom Musicbrai	inz Edit Se	elected Tags	Сор	y Title Tag	to Ne	ew Name							- 🗆 X
	Split MKV File Out	put: MKV -															
	I Current Filename	Proposed New Name	Artist	Title	Album	AlbumArtist	Year	Genre	Co	Duration	Track	Tradu	1 -6	19	Dian	-6	
	Output-001	01. Rock N Roll T.	AC/DC	Rock N Rol.	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		02:01.835		ITACK	× 01	1.7	Disc		
	Output-002	02. Hell Ain't A.	AC/DC	Hell Ain't…	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		04:55.070		Title	Rock N Rol	ll Trai			
	Output-003	03. Back In Black	AC/DC	Back In Bl	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		03:21.191		Artist	AC/DC				Remove
	Output-004	04. Big Jack	AC/DC	Big Jack	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		03:42.199							
	Output-005	05. Dirty Deeds D.	AC/DC	Dirty Deed	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		06:02.954		Album	Live At Ri	iver Pl	ate		Clear List
	Output-006	06. Shot Down In	AC/DC	Shot Down	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		04:06.273		Album Artist	AC/DC				
	Output-007	07. Thunderstruck	AC/DC	Thunderstr	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		03:55.031							
	Output-008	08. Black Ice	AC/DC	Black Ice	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		04:04.633		Year	2011	Genre	Arena Rock		Play
	Output-009	09. The Jack	AC/DC	The Jack	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		05:51.381		Comments					
	Output-010	10. Hells Bells	AC/DC	Hells Bells	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		04:13.697	10						
	Output-011	11. Shoot To Thri	AC/DC	Shoot To T	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		04:02.834	11	Disc Title					
	Output-012	12. War Machine	AC/DC	War Machine	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		06:00.434	12	Remixed					
	Output-013	13. Dog Eat Dog	AC/DC	Dog Eat Dog	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		03:29.865	13						
	Output-014	14. You Shook Me	AC/DC	You Shook	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		07:06.165	14	Album Art					
	Output-015	15. T.N.T.	AC/DC	T.N.T.	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		05:14.630	15						
	Output-016	16. Whole Lotta R.	AC/DC	Whole Lott	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		06:15.225	16						
	Output-017	17. Let There Be	AC/DC	Let There	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		07:16.749	17						
	Output-018	18. Highway To He…	AC/DC	Highway To	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		12:26.888	18						
	Output-019	19. For Those Abo.	AC/DC	For Those	Live At	AC/DC	2011	Arena Ro.		04:03.744	19						
P	aste Track Titles list fro	m clipboard		Load MKV ta	gs (slow) ate JRiver X	ML tagging fi	es for	MKVs					Save Cue		Tag Only	Rename	Tag & Rename

**NOTE**: When tagging from MusicBrainz MMH will tag MusicBrainz IDs for: AlbumArtist, Album and ReleaseGroup used my Kodi's music library. You can view these tag values by adding these columns to the tagging grid (*right-click* on a column header and click: 'Column Chooser'. There are also columns for Disc No and DiscTitle used by Kodi to group multi disc releases in the Kodi UI.

Users can freely edit any tag field directly in the grid or click on any row (track) and edit the tags in the MMH 'Tag Editor' control (refer to the MMH '<u>Tag & Rename Media File'</u> tool documentation for a full description).

#### **Copying all the Tracks Titles from the clipboard:**

Sometimes the Musicbrainz lookup will not find the release (maybe it doesn't yet exist in the database, or your search names entered aren't a close enough match to find the entry). In this case you can copy a list of track name from a text list of tracks or from a web page.

If you do not already have a list of all the track names that you can copy, use your favourite web browser, search for your Concert or Album in Google, find a web page that lists the songs, select all the list text and 'copy' (CTRL-C) to your clipboard.

The next figure shows a webpage from Discogs where a mouse was dragged over the track list (ready to copy):

Genre:

Style:

Year: Notes:



#### The Beatles – Abbey Road

Rock Pop Rock 1969 Released originally in 1969, the 2019 50 years anniversary editions have the same basic artwork but contain a remix/remaster of the album and the arrangements do differ from the original album.

More Images

#### Tracklist

Come Together	4:21
Something	3:03
Maxwell's Silver Hammer	3:27
Oh! Darling	3:27
Octopus's Garden	2:51
I Want You (She's So Heavy)	7:47
Here Comes The Sun	3:05
Because	2:46
You Never Give Me Your Money	4:02
Sun King	2:27
Mean Mr. Mustard	1:06
Polythene Pam	1:13
She Came In Through The Bathroom Window	1:57
Golden Slumbers	1:32
Carry That Weight	1:37
The End	2:20
Her Maiesty	0:23

After highlighting (selecting) the track list press CTRL-C to copy the selected text to your clipboard

If you do have the titles already in a file then open the file, select all the track list text and 'copy' (CTRL-C) to your clipboard.

**HINT:** Sometimes the published concert Track List does not include the introduction chapter or the credits chapter, so sometimes the number of chapters (hence the number of chapter files) is not the same as the number of track list songs. In this case you may wish to first copy your clipboard selection to a temporary text file and manually add an intro at the beginning and/or credit at the end. You can remove the first and/or last chapters from the Rename dialog's list by selecting the file and clicking 'Remove'. Once you have your updated Track List copy that to your clipboard and you are ready to continue.

Now click: 'Paste from clipboard' command on the main dialog:

This pops up the MMH Track Editor:

Click: 'Paste Track Titles from Clipboard' from the Track Editor's toolbar and the text copied from Discogs is pasted, but in this example, it also includes the track duration:



To remove the track lengths, use the Track Text Editor's Remove menu option 'Remove Trailing Numbers' as shown above. This removes the unwanted trailing numbers:



Click: 'Copy Tracks' to update the track names and proposed new file names in the main grid.

**NOTE:** The Track Text Editor shows each track name in its own line. Users can add and delete lines in this editor to add and remove tracks from the current track list used to rename tracks in the grid.

**NOTE:** MMH will automatically add a sequence prefix to the New Names imported from the clipboard. So, you don't have to add any numeric prefix. You only need to ensure the song titles are in the correct sequence. MMH will remove any leading numbers and renumber them, so if some song titles have leading numbers and some don't' MMH will clean up those for you.

#### **Tagging Files - Overview:**

All existing tags for each loaded file are displayed in the file's grid row. These can be freely edited on a cell-by-cell basis (which saves the changes directly to each media file), or users can edit tags in the MMH 'Tag Editor' control on the right side of this dialog. Tags can also be edited in batch using MMH's Musicbrainz online database lookup or by copying a list of track names from a text file or from a web page.

Tags from the grid cells are saved to each file by:

- Editing in a grid cell immediately the cell is exited (e.g. Tab key or mouse click on another cell)
- Clicking either the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' command buttons

When either of the two 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' command buttons are used, MMH saves all grid tags for all files in the grid if there is only one album (folder) in the grid. If there are multiple folders (albums) in the grid MMH saves all tags for all files BUT only for the selected rows (files).

**HINT**: Use the normal Windows selection methods to select rows (CTRL+A for all, CTRL+Click, SHIFT+Click for multiples). Each folder name row has a 'Select Files' button on its right which selects all rows for that folder.

The dialog's 'Tag & Rename' and 'Tag Only' command buttons save the grid tags to each media file:

- If only one folder (album) is loaded in the grid, both commands save tags to all files for the folder
- If multiple folders (albums are loaded in the grid, both commands save tags to all files by folder (album) if the row (file) is selected

#### The Tag Editor control:

The Tag Editor always displays the tags from the current grid row (see next figure on left) or tags for all the selected rows (se next figure on right). When displaying tags for multiple rows (files) if all the tag values for each file's tag are identical the tag textbox shows that value (see Artist tag in right figure). If the all the values are not identical the tag shows '[multiple values' (or '[mv] if the text box is small – see Track tag) and the textbox becomes a dropdown list which list all the unique values for that tag.

Users can edit any tag in the Tag Editor. Any changes are saved to the selected grid rows when a user clicks the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' dialog buttons

- If only one row is selected, just that row's tags are updated in the grid.
- With multiple rows selected, the 'Tag' buttons save all tags (except those with values '[multiple values' or '[mv]') to all selected rows in the grid.

**IMPORTANT:** The Tag Editor does not save tags to media file(s). To save to tags to media files use the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' button at bottom of the main dialog.



#### Album Cover Art:

The Tag Editor control displays existing embedded cover art (if any). The 'Plus' button allows are user to select a cover art file via a file browser ('folder.jpg' or cover.jpg' only). The 'cross' button removes cover art.

#### **Renumbering Tracks and Files**:

Sometimes you may wish to auto-renumber the album/concert tracks or add a Disc Number prefix to all the files in a folder to help breakdown a large compilation or music concert or create your own compilation of music files and you want to renumber tracks.

The toolbar command: **Renumber Files** will automatically update the Track number for all selected rows in the grid using the current grid sort order (default sort is the File Name). The first row (file) will be 1 and all other selected files will be incremented. Renumbering files will auto update the proposed new file name.

MMH's normal file naming is in the form shown below with a two-digit track prefix added: Track. Title - example: 01. My Track's Title.flac (for Track 1)

**NOTE**: There is an Application Global Preference to append the track's Artist name to the file name. Example: 01. Pink Floyd – Speak to Me

**NOTE:** MMH uses a two-digit track prefix if the number of files in the grid < 100. If the number of tracks in the grid >99, MMH uses a 3-digit track prefix (example for > 100 files: 001. My Track's Title.flac)

#### **Disc Numbering:**

Setting the 'Disc No' in the toolbar (to the right of the Renumber Files command) adds a disc prefix to the file name: Disc.Track. Title - example: 1.01. My Track's Title.flac (for disc 1, Track 1)

#### **Renaming Files**:

You can rename all the files in the grid at any time using either the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Rename Only' button at the bottom right of the dialog.

MMH always uses the value of the 'Proposed New Name' cell for each file. This value is automatically updated by MMH using the row's Disc, Track and Title tag cells using the format:

Disc.Track. Title - example: 1.01. Speak to Me

If the Disc tag is empty or 0 the Disc number is ignored and the format used for the filename is:

Track. Title - example: 01. Speak to Me

**NOTE:** For Music Concert videos in MKV files in Kodi only the File Name (based on the song title) is required to generate NFO files for the Kodi Music Video library. All other tags are ignored by Kodi in the Kodi Video library. However, you can add MP4 music video files to the Kodi Music library by tagging the MP4 files and including the files in a Kodi Music source (just like for Kodi music (audio-only) files.

**NOTE:** MMH will automatically check for illegal characters in the proposed new file names (characters that are not allowed in Windows file names). If any exist, you will be warned and shown which new file names need to be edited.

You are now ready to rename your new files:

When you have your new names set as you require:

Click: 'Rename' button to rename all the chapter files to your new names.

If the Renaming is successful, you will see a dialog asking if you want to create NFO files for Kodi or create XML sidecar file for JRiver.

**NOTE:** MMH defaults to the Kodi NFO option unless the option 'Create/Update JRiver XML tagging files' is ticked.



Or:



Click: 'Yes' if you want to create the NFO or XML files now (recommended if you use Kodi or JRiver)

If you are creating Kodi NFO files, another dialog pop up asking if you want to Scrape the concert online using the MMH Concert Scraper. This will search The Movie Database and find additional data about the concert and image art for the Poster, Fanart and performers If available (see the 'Concert Scraper' section later in this document for more information):



(go to the Scraper docs to find out what happens if you click: 'Yes' to this dialog)

If you click: 'No', MMH will open a dialog to allow you to edit the Concert/Music Video NFO file information. It initially gets the Artist, Concert Name and Year from 'Split and Rename' grid (if it can):

Music Video / Con	icert Naming (Used in Kodi NFO files && JRiver XML files)
Folder Name: AC	/DC Live At River Plate
Artist:	AC/DC
Concert Name:	Live At River Plate
Year:	2009
Genre:	Hard Rock Genre
	Close Save

Depending on the JRiver XML file option either the NFO files (for Kodi) or XML files (for JRiver) will be created for each video file in concert folder from the data in this dialog and the file names and is formatted like these examples:

#### Kodi NFO file (minimum data version):

This file provides the Kodi Music Video Library with the metadata to group the music videos into Artist and Album and gives Kodi the track sequence (for the albums tracks).

#### JRiver XML file:

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8" standalone="yes"?>
<MPL Version="2.0" Title="JRSidecar" PathSeparator="/">
<Item>
<Field Name="Album Artist">AC/DC</Field>
<Field Name="Album">Live At River Plate</Field>
<Field Name="Date">40907</Field>
<Field Name="Track #">2</Field>
<Field Name="Track #">2</Field>
<Field Name="Artist">AC/DC</Field>
<Field Name="Artist">AC/DC</Field>
</Field Name="Comment"></Field>
</field Name="Comment"></field></field Name="Comment"></field></field Name="Comment"></fi
```

This file provides the JRiver Library with the metadata to tag the music videos with Artist, Album etc and gives JRiver the track sequence (for the 'albums' tracks)

**INFO:** There is feature 'Add Chapters to MKV' to enable users to add chapters to MKV Concerts that don't already have chapters and can't be split in song files.

If you are using Kodi or JRiver you just need to copy the new (split) MKV files and NFO (Kodi) or XML files (JRiver) to one of your Music Video source folders and 'Scan' its contents into the Kodi Music Video library or 'Import' into the JRiver library. Not all skins support Music Video views in Kodi. I use Aeon Nox Silvo.

## **Scrape Concert Folders:**

#### **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Download Concert Video Poster/Cover & Fanart Images, you can choose which one to use.
- Download the Concert's metadata from The Movie Database.
- Create Kodi NFO files for each video file in the scraped folder (adds files to Kodi's Music Video library) or Create XML sidecar files for JRiver (adds tags to JRiver's video library).
- When creating Kodi NFO files, include additional Concert metadata tags including performers and their image urls, concert outline etc. MMH will add this metadata and links to the NFO files.
- If you have multiple supported video files in your concert folder (if have split your concert into individual song files) MMH will create NFO files for all video files automatically.

**NOTE:** When using MMH's 'Split & Rename Concerts', after you have tagged the newly created files, MMH asks if you would like to Scrape the concert. If 'Yes' is selected, MMH starts this tool and passes the Artist and Concert names to this 'Scrape Concert' tool so you don't have to re-enter this data to scrape.

**NFO files** are used in Kodi to import Music Video artists, 'albums' and tracks into its Music Video library (database) for playback through Kodi's Music Video user interface which allows searching/grouping by Artist, 'Album' and playback of individual 'tracks' (or files with a matching NFO file).

**XML files** are used in JRiver to import additional tags into Video Library. MMH defaults to creating NFO files for Kodi but you can check the 'Create/Update JRiver XML tagging files' if you are using JRiver Media Centre.

**NOTE:** There is also an option in the 'Batch Creation Tools' dialog that runs this single Scrape dialog on all the concert sub-folders recursively which is a little faster and easier than running this single Scrape dialog manually on each concert folder. The Batch Creation tool has options to auto Scrape, auto Save and not to re-scrape concert folders already scraped etc.

It is highly recommended you Rename your video final output files to the song name prior to auto generating your NFOs. Please see the MMH Tools: 'Rename/Tag Media file' and 'Split & Rename Concerts'.

#### Kodi NFO files:

As at Kodi 19 the only way to get your Concert videos into Kodi's Music Video Library is to provide an accompanying NFO file for each music video file. This NFO file (an xml file text file) contains data about the concert, artist etc.

## The minimum data is: Artist & Concert Name (album) and video files should be named in the correct song title and track sequence file sort order.

The MMH Music Video Scraper can attempt to fetch additional data about the concert. A description outline, its release year, performers and images etc. If you do not want or need this extra data and images and just want to auto create NFOs then you can. This tool will also create auto-generated NFO files for all your folder's video files by entering just the *Artist* and *Concert Title* in the 'Concert Tags (Mandatory)' text boxes, you do not need to scrape, just click 'Save NFOs'. MMH will then create all the NFO files for all supported video files in your selected folder using each file name as track name and the file name sort order to generate the sequential Track number. Done. Now just Scan into Kodi's music video library in Kodi.

#### How to Scrape Concert folder:

The following dialog appears for you to select an existing concert folder to containing concert video files Scrape:



Select your concert folder to scrape, then:

Click: 'Ok'

MMH will now pop up its 'Scrape Concert' dialog:

🔊 Scrape a Concert and Select Poster, Fanart & Performer Art	- 🗆 X									
Posters Fanart Performers	Scrape Online:									
	Artist: The Police Scrape									
Covers	Concert Title: Certifiable									
	Search Text: The Police: Certifiable									
	Releases:									
	Concert Tags (Mandatory):									
	Artist: The Police									
	Concert Title: Certifiable									
	Year: 2008 Genre:									
	Concert Tags:									
Selected Art										
Remove All Save Art Only	Save NFOs Save All Close									

If a user starts this tool from the Launcher dialog and select a folder to scrape the concert's folder name is used to pre-enter the Artist and Concert names ready to scape and to pre-fill text boxes in the 'Concert Tags (Mandatory)' section (see previous screen shot).

**NOTE:** The concert folder name should be in the format: ARTIST - CONCERT NAME to support this pre-enter feature. If there is a year suffix in brackets '(NNNN)' is removed as The Movie Database (TMDB) website does not use the year in its search.

If you first use MMH's 'Split & Rename Concerts' tool to split a concert video with chapters into individual song files and rename the song files using the MusicBrainz, MMH will offer Scrape the concert and this dialog opens with the Artist and Concert names pre-filled.

You can manually edit/enter a new concert search name if required or if your folder name is not found on the in a scrape search.

**NOTE:** Only the 'Scrape Online' text box values for Artist and Concert name are used to do the online search. The 'Concert Tags (Mandatory)' area is not used for the search. Those values will be used when you save your data to create NFO files.

To change Concert search text, enter or change values in both the *Artist* and *Concert Title* textboxes in the 'Scrape Online' area. You can change pre-entered information at any time (especially if the Scraper does not find a match - The artist and concert title need to match The Movie Database very closely).

**NOTE:** If you already have a 'folder.jpg' or 'fanart.jpg' files in your selected concert folder they will appear in the 'Selected Art' image gallery at the left bottom of this dialog

**NOTE:** If you open a concert folder that already contains an NFO file, this dialog will pre-fill the 'Scrape Online' and Concert Tags (Mandatory)' areas with data from the existing NFO files, overwriting any values found by looking at the folder naming.

#### To Scrape:

#### Click: 'Scrape' button

If a match is found, all the matching releases are added to the Release list box (in the 'Scrape Online' box). If there is only one release MMH displays all the scraped metadata on the right and downloads Poster, Fanart and Performer images into the image gallery on the left side (adding to any existing images you may have in your concert folder or previously Scraped for your concert):



If there are multiple releases found for the Concert you need to select a release in the Releases list box to view metadata and images for the selected release.

#### About the Music Video Scraper dialog:

#### The dialog is split into two main sections:

- Scraping & data on the right side: A 'Scrape Online' area to do your online search and two 'Concert Tags' areas to display the metadata returned from a successful search. The 'Concert Tags (Mandatory)' area is used for a data entry or to modify those tags in the final NFOs created by 'Saving'.
- 2. Concert Images on the left: The top section has 3 tabs that will show all the available images found sorted into Posters, Fanart and Performers groupings. The bottom 'Selected Art' image gallery shows current images selected for the concert (either local files found in the concert folder or default images if a user has previously performed a Scrape)

#### Save Options:

<u>Save NFOs</u>: Saves a 'master' data NFO file named 'Concert.nfo' (not used by Kodi) containing all the metadata in the Concert Tags list boxes and creates an NFO file for every music video file in the concert folder.

<u>Save Art Only</u>: Any Poster or Fanart images in the 'Selected Art' image gallery are saved to 'folder.jpg' and "fanart.jpg' files respectively to the concert folder.

<u>Save All</u>: Combines both 'Save NFOs' and 'Save Art Only' above plus saves the Performer image URLs to the NFO for Performers in the 'Selected Art' gallery.

Auto Generation of Video File NFO files: Both these Save options automatically create a required music video NFO file (used by Kodi) for all video files in the concert folder selected earlier. The NFO files have the same file name as the video files but with an extension of '.nfo'. These music video NFO files inherit all tags from the 'Concert.nfo' file created from the 'Concert Tags' list boxes created initially in the save process. Each music video file also contains two additional tags not shown in this dialog used by Kodi: Track and Title (Kodi's user interface uses Track to sort the concert files and *Title* is used as the track name displayed in the concerts track list.

**IMPORTANT**: Saving NFOs after Scraping an existing concert ALWAYS OVERWRITES the master 'Concert.nfo' file and all the music video NFOs in the concert folder. If you wish to use this tool to just edit NFO data, open the concert folder (this loads the existing concert.nfo data), edit the tags and click: 'Save NFO'.

#### Selecting Concert Images to use from those available:

To select an image to use for your concert simple *double-click* on one of the images in the top galleries. The selected image will move from the top tabbed gallery to the bottom 'Selected Art' gallery.

Click on the Poster, Fanart or Performers tab to view images for those categories. The next screenshot shows the Performers tab selected (showing the Performer images found during a scrape):

#### Scrape a Concert and Select Poster, Fanart & Performer Art

#### Performers Posters Fanart

#### Performers



Sting Bass & Vocals



Sting Bass & Vocals



Sting Bass & Vocals



Andy Summers Guitar



Andy Summers Guitar



Stewart Copeland Drums



Stewart Copeland Drums



Stewart Copeland Drums

**NOTE:** Kodi supports a single Poster and Fanart image for the concert and single image per performer.

When loading any image into the 'Selected Art' gallery to be used as either local files (folder.jpg or fanart.jpg) or NFO URL tags (Performers) MMH first checks if the selected image type already exists in the 'Selected Art' gallery, if it does MMH will move the existing select image from 'Selected Art' to the appropriate Poster, Fanart or Performer tabbed image gallery. Finally, the image just selected is moved to the 'Selected Art' gallery. At this point no data is saved to files, you are just selecting your preferred art prior to Saving this data.

#### **Editing Tags in the Concert Tag list:**

Users can edit the mandatory tags for Kodi by entering data into the 'Concert Tags (Mandatory)' area text boxes. You must enter data for *Artist* and *Concert Title* to create NFOs for Kodi. *Year* and *Genre* are recommended but only optional.

The lower right 'Concert Tags' list box contains all other tags that will be saved to the NFO files. This data is usually created by performing a 'Scrape' or is pre-filled from a previously saved NFO file in the current folder (if one existed from a previous scrape or a user already has NFO files in the concert folder).

#### Editing a in the lower Concert Tags list:

To Edit a Tag: *Right-click* on the tag to be edited. This pops up a context menu with various options.

Edit
Delete
Add Performer
Add Genre
Add Simple Tag

Click: 'Edit' in the context menu

OR: You can simply *double-click* on the tag.

The Tag editor dialog opens:

Tag Editor	r			
Edit Tag	I:			
Tag				
year	2008			
			Save	Close

Go ahead and enter the new data.

Click: 'Save' to save the data back to selected tag

The Tag editor auto sizes to display the tag data, here is an Artist tag:

Tag Editor	
Edit Tag:	
Perfor	ner
name	Andy Summers
thumb	https://image.tmdb.org/t/p/original/h0vEeD0eFnOKmP0AaYudK8bChAD.jpg
	Save Close

**NOTE:** Performer roles in TMDB are often 'self' (i.e. musicians play themselves). This dialog allows users to change their role in Kodi to be the musical instruments used. You can also find your own artist image you prefer online and can paste the URL here so Kodi will display your specific profile image.

#### Adding a new Tag:

To add a Tag: *Right-click* on any tag. When the context menu pops up

Click one of the three new tag option:

- Add Performer
- Add Genre
- Add Simple Tag

Enter the required data, then click 'Save' to add the new tag (new tags are always appended to the list)

A Simple Tag can be any tag you like. Kodi supports user tags named 'tag' so users could decide to tag your favourite music videos they'd like to find later with a new tag of:

TagName: 'tag'

TagValue: 'Favourite'

For the geeks that will create an XML tag in the NFO like this: <tag>Favourite<tag>

**NOTE:** Kodi only a consumes a pre-defined list of tags. Any tag not supported will be ignored. Use a tag name of 'tag' shown above to create a tag you can use in Kodi. Any other Tag Name must be predefined. See the Kodi Wiki)

Since genre and performer are commonly added there are built in options to create those tags. Additionally, some tags cannot be included multiple times: artist, album, title etc so MMH will check when saving a new tag and will warn users when attempting to create unsupported duplicate tag names.

Supported multiple tags in a NFOs by MMH are:

- genre
- actor (called Performer in MMH but created as 'actor')
- director
- studio

HINT: The MMH Video Batch tool can batch Scrape concert folders (see next section)

#### How to get Concerts into Kodi's Music Video Library:

Once you have a concert in its own folder with its video files AND NFO files have been created by one of the 'Save' options:

Ensure you have created a Root Music Video folder on your media drive (a USB Drive or on a NAS) and that you have added this folder to Kodi's as a Video Source. (In Kodi's System, Setting, Media screen). **You must set the Source Type to 'Music Videos'.** With this root folder set as music videos Kodi will add video files (with an NFO) to the Kodi
Music Video library. You only need to do this once for each new Source.

Copy the Concert folder you have been working on (I rip and setup files on my PC, then copy to my NAS), copy the folder to your Kodi Source Music Video folder on your media drive (a USB Drive or on a NAS).

Scan the Kodi Video Library (Music Videos are of type 'video', they are not 'music' as they are not audio only – in the Kodi database world)

After the scan you Concert will appear in the Kodi Music Video menu, navigate from 'Artist' down.

## **Batch Creation Tools (Music Videos):**

#### **Functionality:**

These tools enable you to do the following:

- Batch Scrape all sub-folders under a selected Source folder to get concert data and art online.
- Batch Create an M3U Playlist file for every concert sub-folder, each concert has a single Playlist with all songs
- Batch Create NFO files for Kodi or XML sidecar files for JRiver for all sub-folders under a selected folder for all music video/concert files.
- Batch create CUE files for every concert sub-folder, each concert folder has a single CUE with all songs. If the concert folder has a single MKV or MP4 file with chapters, the CUE contains of chapters in the CUE.

These tools are ideal for users that already have music videos and just want to create NFO files for Kodi and/or M3U playlists to play their music videos.

Why create M3U playlist when Kodi can play music videos without M3U playlist? Some of the Kodi remote apps for smartphones and tablets cannot play music videos, but they can play files in playlists!

**IMPORTANT:** To help automate the NFO (& XML) and CUE creation feature the MMH expects all Music Concert Folders to be named with the format: ARTIST - CONCERT NAME (YEAR). However, if MMH cannot parse and find Artist, Concert name or Year you can still enter this data into a dialog that pops up if the Artist and Concert Name cannot be found.

In recent versions of MMH, for each sub-folder if a file named 'concert.nfo' exists (this file is created by MMH to hold data about the concert), then MMH ignores the folder naming and just reads the Artist, Concert Name, Year, Genre from the concert.nfo. In this case all media files in that folder have NFOs & CUEs created automatically (no user data entry).

A NFO file provides the Kodi Music Video Library with the metadata to group the music videos into Artist and 'Album' and gives Kodi the track sequence (for the albums tracks). If using JRiver there is an option to create JRiver sidecar XML files instead of NFO files. These XML files add additional tags to the JRiver library for video files.

M3U Playlists are supported by Kodi and many other media players. For Kodi, if you copy an M3U playlist to either of these Kodi Userdata folders you can play video playlist:

UserData\Playlists\Video UserData\Playlists\Mixed

CUE files allow your Concert folders to be added to Kodi's music library. All the files in a concert folder can be viewed in the Kodi user interface as songs, concerts appear as 'albums'. If your music video is a single MKV or MP4 file with chapters, you see each chapter as a 'song' and can play any chapter in the file by selecting the song in Kodi.

#### **Batch Creation:**

Click: 'Batch Creation Tools' from the Launcher dialog.

This displays the Music Concert Batch Tools dialog:

🤰 Music Concert E	Music Concert Batch Tools —								
Preferences									
Source Directory:		Browse							
	O Scrape Concert∖Music Video sub-folders (under Source Directory)								
	Auto Save after succesful Scrape								
	Create M3U Playlists for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Direct	tory)							
	Include Video Duration (much longer to process)								
	Copy M3U Playlists to Kodi Userdata Directory								
	Userdata Directory: K:\Music\playlists\mixed		Browse						
	Delete M3U Playlist files from Source Directory after Copying								
	Create NFO/XML files for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Direc	tory)							
	Only Show Concert Dialog if Data is Missing								
	Create/Update JRiver XML tagging files for MKVs								
	Create CUE files for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Directory)								
	Check for Missing Chapter (Song) Names in Single File Folders (No CUE files ar	e Saver	d)						
Information									
144 44 4 Record (	0 of 0 + ++ ++1 ⊲								
info	Cancel Processir		Start Processi	na					

Select a 'Source Directory'. This is the Root Folder for your Music Concerts. The processing will occur on ALL subfolders from the selected Source Directory (Parent folder) down recursively.

Click: 'Browse' and select a Root folder for your Music Concerts

Once a Source Directory is selected, select one of the radio button batch options:

- Scrape Concert\Music Video sub-folders (this is semi-automated and calls the 'Scrape Concerts' tool)
- Create M3U Playlists for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders.
- Create NFO files for Kodi (or XML sidecar XML files for JRiver) for all Concert\Music Videos in sub-folders.
- Create CUE file for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders.

#### **Batch Concert Folder Scraping:**

This mode runs the MMH tool 'Scrape a Concert Folder' recursively on all sub-folders. Please refer to the section in this document describing the functionality.

Once the mode is selected you can enable options for the upcoming batch process:

• <u>Automatically Perform a Scrape</u>: With this enabled MMH will attempt to search online automatically if it can find enough data to do so. If the folder has never been scraped previously, it will attempt to find 'Artist' and 'Concert Name' from the sub-folder name. If it has been scraped previously, by reading the existing 'concert.nfo' file to get the data.

If the above option is enabled:

- <u>Only Auto-Scrape Concert folder NOT previously scraped</u>: With this enabled MMH will not auto-scrape folders already done, but instead just load the existing NFO data into the Music Video Scraper dialog for user to view, edit, choose new art, or do a manual Scrape.
- <u>Auto Save after successful Scrape</u>: With this enabled if the Music Video Scraper dialog will auto 'Save All' if there is enough data to create a minimum NFO file for Kodi.

**NOTE:** If you use Auto-Save MMH will keep and folder image file unchanged (folder.jpg and fanart.jpg) if they exist but auto those images if they do not exist and auto select Performer images (if found in the Scrape).

**IMPORTANT**: Saving NFOs after Scraping an existing concert ALWAYS OVERWRITES the master 'Concert.nfo' file and all the music video NFOs in the concert folder. If you wish to use this tool to just edit NFO data, open the concert folder (this loads the existing concert.nfo data), edit the tags and click: 'Save NFO'.

To go ahead and batch Scrape all you Concert folders:

Click: 'Start Processing'

MMH will recursively process every sub-folder from the selected Source Directory.

NOTE: You can Cancel Batch processing at any time

#### **Batch Play List Creation:**

**NOTE:** You should set your Playlist path naming Preferences from the preferences dialog (see later in this document) before using the 'Create M3U Playlist for all' option.

**NOTE:** If a folder contains a single MKV file and a CUE file, MMH will create an M3U file playlist from the contents of the CUE file

If you are using Kodi there is an option to set the Kodi Userdata Folder path. If this is set the after all the Playlist files have been created MMH will copy all those files to the folder selected like the following screenshot:

Music Concert Batch Tools	Music Concert Batch Tools —							
Preferences								
Source Directory: D:\Concert	Source Directory: D:\Concerts O Scrape Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Directory)							
Auto	omatically Perform a Scrape (if enough data available)   Only Auto-Scrape Concert folders NOT previously scraped   Auto Save after succesful Scrape							
O Create ✓ Indu ✓ Copy	M3U Playlists for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Directory ude Video Duration (much longer to process) y M3U Playlists to Kodi Userdata Directory	)						
Userda	ata Directory: \\192.168.1.12\userdata\playlists\mixed		Browse					
	Delete M3U Playlist files from Source Directory after Copying							
Create Create Only Create Create Create Chece Information	NFO/XML files for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Director) Show Concert Dialog if Data is Missing ate/Update JRiver XML tagging files for MKVs CUE files for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Directory) ck for Missing Chapter (Song) Names in Single File Folders (No CUE files are S	<b>y)</b> aved)						
144 44 4 Record 0 of 0 + ++	₩I <b>∢</b>							
info	Cancel Processing	St	tart Processin	g				

**NOTE:** If you are using another device for Kodi (e.g. CoreELEC or LibreELEC device) you may have to manually enter the Kodi UserData path if your Windows Explorer does not display it in your 'Network' devices

**NOTE:** The folder you select should be either the '..\userdata\playlists\video' or '..\userdata\playlists\mixed' folder on your Kodi device.

To go ahead and create all your Concert or Music Video playlists:

Click: 'Start Processing'

This is very fast!

MMH will recursively process every sub-folder from the selected Source Directory creating either: Page **36** of **151**
• Create an M3U Playlist for each Concert Folder (always saved into the Source Directory – each Playlist is named after the Concert Folder and contains every concert's video files in each playlist

If there is a valid 'Kodi UserData Folder' set (and your PC can connect to it), MMH will copy all the Playlists to that folder. There is also an option to delete the created m3u files on the Source after copying to the Kodi folder.

#### **Playlist Preferences:**

This dialog sets the music file path format in the saved playlists. The example settings are for a LibreElec/CoreElec (Linux based) Kodi system with music files stored on a NAS/Server):

Playlist Preferences	<
Music File Path Format in Playlist:	
Use Forward Slashes (not Back Slashes) for folder paths	
Use Absolute or Relative paths Absolute   Remove Drive	
Example: /Music/AlbumFolder/SongFile.flac	
Get Track Duration on Saving playlist (slower)	
Copying Playlist Files - Copied File Options	
Re-Tagging: Re-Tag Album Artist to 'Various Artists	
Re-Tag Song Title to Include Artist Name	
Re-Tag Track Number	
Re-Tag Album Name to Playlist Name	
File Renaming: Re-Number File Name	
Rename Files to Include Artist Name	
Example: 01. Artist Name - Song Title.flac	
Save Cancel	

**NOTE:** For Kodi files on a separate device (not your Windows PC, e.g. a LibreElec/CoreElec Media Player) NAS or Server you can use **advancedsettings.xml** to convert your Windows mapped drive paths to ones used on your Kodi device.

Example: Here is my Kodi advancedsettings.xml nodes for my LibreElec NUC to convert my Windows PC paths created in the Playlist Editor to paths used by my LibreElec Kodi & NAS using Kodi's pathsubstitution:

```
<pathsubstitution>
   <substitute>
     <from>/MediaBackup/Audio Surround/</from>
     <to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume1/Volume1/MediaBackup/Audio Surround/</to>
   </substitute>
     <substitute>
     <from>/MediaBackup/Music Video/</from>
     <to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume2/Volume2/MediaBackup/Music Video/</to>
}
```

```
</substitute>
<substitute>
<from>/MediaBackup/Audio Stereo/</from>
<to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume1/Volume1/MediaBackup/Audio Stereo/</to>
</substitute>
<substitute>
<from>/MediaBackup/Audio Classical/</from>
<to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume1/Volume1/MediaBackup/Audio Classical/</to>
</substitute>
</pathsubstitution>
```

**HINT:** If your music media source(s) is located on a USB hard drive plugged into a LibreElec or CoreElec (Linux based) media player your local Linux path to the drive is: /var/media/[YOUR DRIVE NAME]

#### Creating NFO (Kodi) or XML (JRiver) tag files:

If you choose to create NFO or XML tag files with the Batch Creation (Videos) tool MMH will pop up a Concert Info dialog for you to confirm each concert folders contents if your concert folder does not already have a file 'concert.nfo' created by MMH in a previous NFO creation task from Concert Scraping or Tagging. If the nfo file does exist, MMH reads the Artist, Concert Name, Year and Genre from the 'concert.nfo' file.

MMH will recursively process every sub-folder from the selected Source Directory and Create an NFO metadata file for all Concert folder's video files recursively.

If MMH cannot find enough data (from the folder name or 'concert.nfo' file) to get Artist, Concert Name and Year MMH will pop-up a dialog for users to enter this data. These fields will be blank. Just go ahead and enter the information requested (or edit the data if not correct or what you want to see in either Kodi or JRiver):

Music Video / Concert Naming (Used in Kodi NFO files && JRiver XML files)							
Folder Name: Hu	Folder Name: Hunter & Collectors						
Artist:							
Concert Name:							
Year:							
Genre:			Genre				
	Cancel Processing		Save	Close			
Music Video / Con	icert Naming (Used in K	odi NFO files &&	JRiver XML files)				
Folder Name: Pa	ul Kelly - The Video Coll	ection					
Artist:	Paul Kelly						
Concert Name:	The Video Collection						
Year:							
Genre:	Rock		Genre				
	Cancel Processing		Save	Close			

When you save this information about the folder's contents, MMH saves this data to a special file named 'concert.nfo' (an XML file). The next time you create NFOs or XML files for the current folder being processed MMH will read this data from the 'concert.nfo' file (if it exists) saving you from having to enter the information again.

When doing a batch process (creating NFO/ or XML files for all sub-folder recursively) this dialog pops up for every folder that it processes, unless an option is set to only show when there is missing data:

**NOTE:** In the main Batch Creation tools (videos) dialog there is an option to stop MMH from popping up this Music Information dialog above, if all the data is already entered for the current folder being processed:

# Create NFO/XML files for all Concert\Music Video sub-folders (under Source Directory) Only Show Concert Dialog if Data is Missing Create/Update JRiver XML tagging files for MKVs

This is also one place to set whether you wish to create JRiver sidecar XML files instead of NFO file

You can stop processing all the sub-folders by clicking [Cancel Processing].

#### **Creating CUE Files:**

The MMH Batch CUE tool supports creation of:

- A single CUE file for multiple MKV or MP4 files in a single folder
- A single CUE file for a single MKV or MP4 file with multiple chapters in a single folder

**NOTE:** A single CUE file for a single MKV or MP4 file with multiple chapters in a single folder uses the Chapter Names embedded in the MKV or MP4 file. Ideally the chapters names would be the song titles. MMH has a 'Chapter Editor' tool that supports renaming chapters from a Musicbrainz lookup or by a Copy and Paste from a track list. Of course, you can also manually edit the CUE file MMH creates and change the Track names in each cue file prior to scanning into Kodi or playback in another player (e.g. JRiver).

#### CUE Files for Concerts in Kodi:

CUE files allow your Concert folders to be added to Kodi's music library (not Kodi's Music Video library). All the files in a concert folder can be viewed in the Kodi user interface as songs, concerts appear as 'albums'. If your music video is a single MKV or MP4 file with chapters, you see each chapter as a 'song' and can play any chapter in the file by selecting the song in Kodi.

If you add your Concert folder as a Music Source in Kodi's Media Settings, when Kodi reads each CUE during a music scan it creates an 'album' and 'songs' for the concert's artist by reading tags from the cue file. User do not need to create NFO files (a requirement for Kodi's Music Video library). A single CUE file in each folder contains enough information for the Kodi music scan to create data in the music database. Furthermore, the Kodi scan can use one of its music scrapers to find additional data online during the scan process, assuming your *Artist* and *Album* (concert name) match one of the online databases.

When you select Cue Creation in the Batch Creation tool, you get an option to 'Check for Missing Chapter (song) names'. This option performs a recursive search from the selected Source Directory but does not save any CUE files. It checks for issues that should be fixed where artist, album and chapters names cannot be found (if a single file with multiple chapters) by MMH, allowing users to fix the issues prior to a full CUE creation run.

Click: 'Check for Missing...' option

Click: 'Start Processing' to run a Check

All the folders under the Source Directory are loaded into the Information list and if there is an issue the Error flag is shown against the folder as shown in the next screenshot:



Issues Reported:

Not All Chapters are named after songs: Occurs when a single file with multiple chapters has chapter names that do not contain Song Titles that would be used in the CUE file if it were created.

Fix: Rename the Chapters using MMH's 'Chapter Editor' or ignore the error and edit the CUE file that will get created.

#### If you double-click on this error type in the Information List (above), MMH opens its 'Chapter Editor' tool for the file.

NOTE: If you ignore this error MMH will create a CUE without valid Song Titles. (Not good for Kodi).

**Minimum Data not found**: Occurs when MMH could not find both the *Artist* and *Album* (concert) names to use as those tags in the CUE file if it were created (the CUE would not be imported into Kodi).

Fix: This error can be fixed by renaming the concert folder to the expected format or creating an NFO file (MMH's 'Scrape a Concert Folder' tool will create NFO files).

**NOTE:** MMH performs the following to attempt to get the *Artist* and *Album* names:

- Reads the concert folder name, expected naming format: ARTIST ALBUM (YEAR)
- Looks for an NFO file (compatible with Kod's Music Video library)

If you *double-click* on this error type in the Information List (above), MMH opens its Windows Explorer at the folder.

When the errors are resolved:

disable the 'Check..' option

Click: Start Processing

All the CUE files will be created (one per concert folder)

# **Batch Split and Join MKV Files:**

#### **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to:

- Split multiple MKV files (with Chapters encoded) into individual MKV files, one file per chapter but unlike the first tool you can select multiple files and each is Split in a batch mode (all at once).
- Merge previously split files to create a single MKV file with chapters created at the joins between each of the selected source files. Merging creates chapters using the file names of the source files. MMH will also create a CUE file for all the Merged file chapters.

This tool is useful if you have many MKVs to split or merge as you can run unattended on multiple files or folders.

#### **Batch Split:**

This Tool gives additional options for using a Temporary Folder for your conversions which is faster if your Source MKV files are stored on a NAS and you have a slow network connection.

This unlike the previous 'Split and Rename Concerts' tool this 'Batch Split' only creates a file per chapter. You would need to go back and rename the chapters using the 'Rename & Tag' tool. Since Splitting an MKV can take time and it does not require any input from a user (apart from selecting the MKVs to Split) this may be useful if you want to split multiple MKVs.

It is highly recommended you create a separate folder for each MKV you wish to split and copy each source MKV file into each folder prior to running this batch tool.

#### Splitting Multiple Concert Video files:

In this scenario we will assume you already have a few Concert MKV files containing the entire concerts in single MKV files.

Firstly, ensure each MKV is in its own folder named in this format: ARTIST - CONCERT NAME and you have copied your Concert MKV files into each folder.

Click: 'Batch Split MKV Files' from the *Launcher* dialog. The following dialog appears:

J) B	Batch Split MKV Files Or Batch Join Files	to Single MKV file						_			×
Prefe	erences										
	Split MKV files into Individual (	hapter files								Add Sub Fo	olders
	O Join Multiple MKV, M2T5 or MKA files into a Single MKV with Chapters							Add Fold	ler		
									Add File	s	
	Folder Name	File Name	Chapters	Video Co	dec	Audio Co	dec	Warning			
Stat	us: Ready				Clear I		Stop F	Processing		tart Proces	sing

Ensure you select the 'Split MKV Files..' option.

The 'Add Files' button allows you to select individual 'Source' MKVs to be split.

The 'Add Sub Folders' button allows you to select a single 'parent' folder and MMH will recursively scan all the subfolders and load all MKV files it finds.

With either method (above) the MKV files are added to the list for batch splitting and will show the number of chapters found in each MKV file. MMH will not allow you to Split an MKV with 1 or less chapters (for obvious reasons).

You can remove selected MKV files from the list or Clear the list using the appropriate command buttons. MMH will ignore any MKV files with less than 2 chapters.

Batch Split MKV Files into Cha	apters		↔ .	- 🗆 X
Preferences Split all MKV files with Chapters into	Separate C	hapter Files		
Media File Name Suzanne Vega Berlin Live.mkv FileWithChapters.mkv Santana IV - Live At The House	Chapters 0 15 24	Folder F:\Concerts\Suzanne Vega - Berlin Live (2016) F:\Concerts\Suzanne Vega - Berlin Live (2016) F:\Concerts\Santana - Live At The House Of Bl	Warning No Chapters - will be ignored	Add Sub Folders Add Files
				Remove Clear List
5			>	Stop Split MKVs
-				

By default, MMH uses each Source MKV's folder as its working folder.

**NOTE:** You should ensure there is enough spare disk space for the new Chapter files. All the chapters (together) will require the same disc space as the original Source MKV.

To Split all the Source MKVs in the list (that have more than 1 chapter):

Click: Split MKVs

MMH will pop-up a dialogue on completion showing the total time to Split all the selected MKVs. You can experiment with a Temporary Folder (see next section) to see if one of those options will provide better performance, particularly if you are splitting over a network or to a slow USB drive.

#### **Batch Split Preferences:**

The 'Preferences' toolbar menu on the 'Batch Split MKV' dialogue allows users to set a Temporary Folder:

This is the default settings:

Batch Split Preferences	
Working Folder	
O Use Source Folder	
Use Temporary Folder	
NOTE: The Temporary Folder should your fastest local drive for best performance.	
Temp Folder:	Browse
Copy Source File to Temporary Folder prior to Split (Copy Chapters back to Source on Com	pletion)
Create Chapter Files in Temporary Folder (Copy Chapters back to Source on Completion)	
Save	Cancel

Here is a typical user setting:

Batch Split Preferences	
Working Folder	
Use Source Folder	
<ul> <li>Use Temporary Folder</li> <li>NOTE: The Temporary Folder should your fastest local drive for best performance.</li> </ul>	
Temp Folder: D:\Working	Browse
Copy Source File to Temporary Folder prior to Split (Copy Chapters back to Source on C	Completion)
<ul> <li>Create Chapter Files in Temporary Folder (Copy Chapters back to Source on Completion)</li> </ul>	n)
Save	Cancel

The fastest method will always be using your fastest (high performance drive, such as an SSD drive). You may need to experiment to find the best set of preferences for your infrastructure (network, drives, processor etc.)

When your batch split is completed use MMH's 'Rename & Tag' tool to rename and tag your files and to create NFO files for Kodi or XML files for JRiver if required.

#### **Batch Merge:**

This tool works by merging all the video files in a single folder into a new single Merged MKV file with chapters at each input file's join time. The Merged MKV file has the same name as the file's folder name. The CUE file created also has the same name as the file's folder name.

The chapters created in the Merged MKV have the same chapter names as the source file names. The CUE file is created using the Chapter Names as Song Names. If the source file names (chapters names) are named in a format: PERFORMER – SONG TITLE then the CUE file splits that name to create the Performer and Title CUE tags.

#### Merging Multiple Concert Video files from a folder:

In this scenario we will use the 'Add Folder' button to select a folder containing multiple MKV files previously split by chapter into files. After you select a folder using the MMH folder browser, all the MKV files in the folder are loaded into the tools grid:

<b>)</b> B	🔊 Batch Split MKV Files Or Batch Join Files to Single MKV file 🛛 📃 🗙						
Prefe	rences						
	Split MKV files into Individual Chapte	er files					Add Sub Folders
	O Join Multiple MKV, M2TS or MKA files	into a Single MKV with Chap	ters				Add Folder
							Add Files
	Folder Name	File Name	Chapters	Video Codec	Audio Codec	Warning	
	✓ Folder: Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995) (I	lo. of files: 25)					
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	01. Shine On You Crazy D	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	02. Learning To Fly.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	03. High Hopes.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	04. Take It Back.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	05. Coming Back To Life	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	06. Sorrow.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	07. Keep Talking.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	08. Another Brick In The	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	09. One Of These Days.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	10. Speak To Me.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	11. Breathe (In The Air)	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	12. On The Run.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	13. Time.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	14. The Great Gig In The	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	15. Money.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	16. Us And Them.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	17. Any Colour You Like	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	18. Brain Damage.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	19. Eclipse.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	20. Wish You Were Here.m_	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	21. Comfortably Numb.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
	Pink Floyd - Pulse (1995)	22. Run Like Hell.mkv	0	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 6Ch		
25 fi	es to process (You can add another folder or r	nore files)		Remove	Clear List	Stop Processing	Start Processing

MMH can only merge video files that have identical video and audio streams. If the streams in some files are different a Warning is displayed and MMH will ignore those files will during its merge process.

To merge the files:

Click: 'Start Processing'

A progress bar will show progress. At the end, a CUE file is also created along with a Merged MKV with all the sources files. The CUE file only contains data about the files merged (it ignores files with Warnings).

#### Merging Multiple Concert Video files from multiple folders:

In this scenario we will use the 'Add Sub Folders' button. MMH will then search recursively all sub-folder from the selected folder and load each sub-folders files as shown in the next figure:

Batch Split MKV Files Or Batch Join Files to Single MKV file							
Preferences							
<ul> <li>Split MKV files into Individual Chapter files</li> <li>O Join Multiple MKV, M2TS or MKA files into a Single MK</li> </ul>	(V with Chapters			Add Sub Folders Add Folder			
				Add Files			
Folder Name	File Name	Chapters Video Codec	Audio Codec	Warning			
> Folder: Crowded House - Dreaming The Videos (20	02) (No. of files: 21)						
> Folder: David Gilmour - Live At Pompeii (2016) (No.	. of files: 32)						
> Folder: Dire Straits - Alchemy Dire Straits Live (19)	84) (No. of files: 11)						
Folder Biel Elevel Delivete Cound of Thurder (10)	(10, 01  mcs, 11)						
Pick Sloud - Delicate Sound of Thunder (198	66) (NO. OF MES: 16)	1 1000/1000 10/5	4 pTC upus cch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	01. INCRO - SHINE ON YOU CRAZY	1 1920×1080 AVC	1.DTS HDMA 6CH				
Pink Floyd Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	A2 Learning To Elv mby	1 1920×1000 AVC	1.015-HDHA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)		1 1920×1000 AVC	1.015-H0HA 6CH_				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	of The Degr. of Han where	1 1920×1080 AVC	1.DTS HDMA 6CH.				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	65. On The Tunning Away may	1 1920/1080 AVC	1.DTS HDMA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	AZ One of These Days may	1 1920×1000 AVC	1.015-HDHA 6Ch.				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	AS Time mky	1 1920/1000 AVC	1.DTS-HDWA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	69 On The Run mky	1 1920×1080 AVC	1.DTS-HDWA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	10 The Great Gig In The Sky m	1 1920x1080 AVC	1.DTS-HDWA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	11 Wish You Were Here mky	1 1920×1090 AVC	1 DTS-HDWA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	12. Us And Them.mky	1 1920x1050 AVC	1.DTS-HDMA_6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	13. Money.mky	1 1920x1080 AVC	1.DTS-HDMA 6Ch				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	14. Comfortably Numb.mky	1 1920x1080 AVC	1.DTS-HDMA 6Ch				
Pink Flovd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	15. One Slip.mky	1 1920×1080 AVC	1.DTS-HDMA 6Ch_				
Pink Floyd - Delicate Sound of Thunder (1988)	16. Run Like Hell.mkv	1 1920×1080 AVC	1.DTS-HDMA 6Ch				
Folder: Porcupine Tree - Anesthetise (2008) (No. of the section	f files: 17)						
> Folder: Roger Waters - Us + Them (2020) (No. of fi	Folder: Roger Waters - Us + Them (2020) (No. of files: 24)						
121 files to process (You can add another folder or individual files)		Remov	ve Clear List	Stop Processing Start Processing			

The grid is in a 'treeview' style where you can click the Folder name to open/close the folder's file details. By default, on loading all folder files are shown.

Again, MMH can only merge video files that have identical video and audio streams. If the streams in some files are different a Warning is displayed and MMH will ignore those files will during its merge process.

To merge the files:

Click: 'Start Processing'

A two progress bars will show progress. One is the progress by Folder, the other progress by Files in the current folder being processed. When each folder is completed, a CUE file is also created along with a Merged MKV containing all the source files for each folder. The CUE file only contains data about the files merged (it ignores files with Warnings).

To play the Merged MKV in Kodi with Songs copy the Merged MKV and its CUE file to a Kodi Music Source.

## **Chapter Editor:**

#### **Functionality:**

This tool enables users to:

- Create Chapters in an MKV, MKA, MP4 or M4A file without chapters.
- Edit existing chapters (manually change titles, and/or start times).
- Remove existing chapters (all or selected)
- Rename existing chapters for music releases from a Musicbrainz online lookup.
- If the MusicBrainz lookup is used MMH will tag the source MKV or MKA file
- Change the Default audio stream for MKV/MKA files with multiple audio streams.
- Create a CUE file to enable playback of specific chapters (songs) in Kodi and other media players.

Creating chapters is useful if you want to split an MKV, MKA or MP4 concert or album into its songs (by chapter) using the MMH tool 'Split & Rename MKV' or extracting audio to FLAC and splitting into song files your Concert Video does not have Chapters.

Chapters are useful for creating a CUE file's track (song) titles. The CUE file is created using the chapter names as Song titles. If the chapters names are named in a format: PERFORMER – SONG TITLE then the CUE file splits that name to create the Performer and Title CUE tags.

**NOTE:** Kodi can import CUE files for concerts and albums into its Music Library if the Cue file was created by Chapter Editor. For concert videos to be added Kodi must have MKV and/or MP4 added as a valid music file type.

Editing chapter start times can correct incorrect authoring of chapter times on some releases.

Users can also fetch chapter titles from the MusicBrainz online database if the MKV was created from a BDA or DVD Audio for an album or from a BDV or DVD Video of a concert release.

A CUE file can be created from the chapters for playback from the MKV track times and titles. This is ideal to add a Concert (video) MKV with chapters to the Kodi Music (audio) library or to the JRiver audio library. Both Kodi and JRiver adds each chapter and its CUE tags as individual album tracks in their respective audio libraries.

**NOTE:** Saving Chapters in large MP4 files takes much longer than saving chapters in MKV files. It is recommended to use MKV files for video in Kodi.

This tool can also change the default audio stream in any MKV or MKA file. This is the audio stream that will be played by default by your playback application or device.

There are five methods supported setting the Chapter Names:

- Manually add chapters and enter the desired Start Time (for each song)
- Copy & Paste a track list from a simple text file (copying multiple selected lines of text in one paste)
- Copy & Paste a track list from the MKVMerge/www.chapterdb.org website's text file (see below)
- Use 'Get Tracks Titles from MusicBrainz' to fetch the data from the online database (recommended)
- Import from an existing CUE file (MMH will convert a cue format time in mm:ss:ff to hh:mm:ss.nnn format)

**NOTE:** The www.chapterdb.org website can also create chapters

This dialog only support chapter start times in the format: hh:mm:ss.nnn (Hours, Minutes and Seconds with s separated by a colon ':' – milliseconds with a decimal point) but CUE files are created with times converted to frames (ff) and to use hours only (e.g. converts 1 hour to 60 minutes)

#### **Edit Chapters dialog description:**

Click: 'Chapter Editor' from the Launcher dialog.

This displays the Chapter Editor tool dialog:

🗾 Create/Edit Chapt	ters in MKV, MKA, MP4	1 and M4A files	 						×
Open Media File	Default Audio Strea								
Number of Chapters:	10 Apply								
Chapter	New Name			Start (hh:mm	:ss.nnnnn)	Durat	tion (Read	Only)	
								Exit	

To get the existing chapter data, load the MKV, MKA MP4 or M4A file into the Chapter Editor dialog:

Click: 'Open Media file'

Now navigate and select the file to load.

NOTE: Users can also drag & drop files from the Windows File Explorer onto the grid

After selection, MMH reads the input file and loads the chapters, its current chapter name and duration into the grid.

**NOTE:** If there are no chapters you can import and create chapters from a list of chapters with Copy & Paste (see later)

The next screen shot shows the Chapter Editor dialog after an MKV file with existing chapters is loaded:

C	Oreate/Edit Chapters (D:\TEST\The Beatles - Abbey Road\The Beatles - Abbey Road (with Chapters).mkv)						—		×
0	Open Media File Default Audio Stream: Set Default Audio Stream				Default Audio Stream		Paste fro	m dipboa	ard
Numb	er of Chapters:	10 Apply Remove Selected	Remove All	Get Chapter T	itles from Musicbrainz	Get C	hapters fro	om Cue fi	le
	Chapter	New Name		Start	t (hh:mm:ss.nnnnnn)	Duration	n (ReadOnl	y)	
	1	Chapter 01		00:0	0:00.00000	00:04:	20.551000		
	2	Chapter 02		00:0	4:20.551000	00:03:	02.141000		
	3	Chapter 03		00:0	7:22.692000	00:03:	28.124000		
	4	Chapter 04		00:1	0:50.816000	00:03:	27.207000		
	5	Chapter 05		00:1	4:18.023000	00:02:	50.713000		
	6	Chapter 06		00:1	7:08.736000	00:07:	47.341000		
	7	Chapter 07		00:2	4:56.077000	00:03:	95.728000		
	8	Chapter 08		00:2	8:01.805000	00:02:	45.623000		
	9	Chapter 09		00:3	0:47.428000	00:04:	92.618000		
	10	Chapter 10		00:3	4:50.046000	00:02:	26.438000		
	11	Chapter 11		00:3	7:16.484000	00:01:	96.358000		
	12	Chapter 12		00:3	8:22.842000	00:01:	12.739000		
	13	Chapter 13		00:3	9:35.581000	00:01:	58.827000		
	14	Chapter 14		00:4	1:34.408000	00:01:	31.508000		
	15	Chapter 15		00:4	3:05.916000	00:01:	36.430000		
Sav	e Chapter File				Save Cue	Sa	ve	Exit	

At the top, the current Default Audio stream is shown.

**HINT:** When an MKV with multiple audio streams is played its Default Audio Stream is played. Often Blu-rays are authored with the stereo track as the Default stream. For surround enthusiasts wanting to hear a surround stream it is recommended you change the Default to your preferred surround stream (e.g. Atmos if you have an Atmos system

Users can edit chapter names and start times by editing the appropriate cells in the grid.

A user can remove chapters by selecting a row and clicking 'Remove Selected'.

The chapter edits are not saved to the source file unless the 'Save' button is clicked.

Some Blu-rays have an extra very short duration chapter defined at the end (last chapter), in MMH 8.0.5 an error icon is displayed for a chapter if has a very short duration to highlight this issue (Remove the chapter if it's a music release)

#### Changing the Default Audio Stream in the MKV/MKA:

To change the default audio stream:

Click: Audio Streams button at top

MMH will now pop up a dialog displaying all the Audio Streams in the current file so you can change the Default Audio Stream:

c	Change Default Stream to selected Audio Stream								
Se	ele	ct New Default Audio Stream: Double-Click	to Select Default Stream Highlighted						
		Audio Stream	Channels						
	Þ	PCM (Stereo) 24/96kHz	Front: L R						
		DTS-HDMA (6Ch) 24/96kHz (Lossless) (Default)	Front: L C R, Side: L R, LFE						
		DTS (6Ch) 24/48kHz (Lossy)	Front: L C R, Side: L R, LFE						
		Atmos (16Ch)/TrueHD (8Ch) 48kHz (Lossless)	Front: L C R, Side: L R, Back: L R, LFE						
		Dolby Digital (6Ch) 48kHz (Lossy)	Front: L C R, Side: L R, LFE						
,	All Audio Streams will remain from your Source MKV/MKA Select Cancel								

The current Default stream is highlighted (as shown above).

Select a new audio stream and click: Select (or just *double-click* on the stream in the list) to change the default audio stream. Click: Cancel to leave the existing default audio stream unchanged.

#### **Getting Chapter Titles from MusicBrainz**:

NOTE: Only music albums and concert data are available on MusicBrainz. Ignore this section for Movies.

To get the chapter titles from MusicBrainz:

Click: 'Get Titles from MusicBrainz'

The MMH Musicbrainz Tagger pops up:

**NOTE:** MMH attempts to preload the Artist and Album (or Concert Name) by reading the folder name (expected format: ARTIST – ALBUMNAME) or from a Kodi compatible NFO file located in the folder. If these values are not pre-loaded then enter the values.

Enter the Album Artist and Album Name (For Concert videos enter the release title):

🤰 MusicBrainz Tag	gging	×
Album Artist: Album Name:	The Beatles	Find
Releases:		
Album Inform	ation	

Click: 'Find'

If the Artist name is unique MMH will attempt to download matching releases from the MusicBrainz database. If there are multiple artists with same names you will need to select the artist to use.

If the Artist and Album names match a release(s) you will see dialog populated with release data.

Find the desired release from the Releases list box and select it. The Track List will be populated from the selected release. If the release has multiple discs (e.g. a CD and a DVD or Blu-ray or two DVDs etc) the Discs list is shown with a list of its discs. Select the desired disc to see the disc's tracks. If the release has only one disc, no disc list is displayed):

🤰 MusicBrainz Tag	ging			×
Album Artist:	The Beatles			•• Find
Album Name:	Abbey Road			
Releases:	Abbey Road		2010 Digital Me	dia 🔺
	Abbey Road		2012 LP	
	Abbey Road		2015 Digital Me	dia
	Abbey Road		2019 2xSHM-CD	
	Abbey Road		2019 3xCD Blu-ra	ay
	Abbey Road		2019 LP	
Album Inform	ation			
Year:	2019			
Genre:	Blues			Genre
Comment:				
Track List:	Come Together			
Discs	Something			
1 CD	Maxwell's Silver H	ammer		
2 CD	Oh! Darling			
3 CD	Octopus's Garden			
4 Blu-ray	I Want You (She's	So Heavy)		
	Here Comes the Sun			
	Because			
	You Never Give Me	Your Money		
	Sun King			
	Mean Mr Mustard			
	Polvthene Pam			
	Copy Track Titles to E	Edit		
			F	
Use MusicBrain	nz First Release Year	Close	Copy Tags Sh	ow Artwork>>

Click: 'Copy Tags' to copy the Track List to the MKV Chapter Editor dialog

HINT: Often concert video discs (both BDV and DVD) will have short intro chapters and/or short outro chapters. Copying the tags may mean the tracks list is not correctly aligned in the Chapter Editor's grid. If this is the case, you can use 'Copy Track Titles to Edit'. This feature allows you to add new track titles, remove them and even change the names. When you save that edited list it copies the new track list back to MusicBrainz dialog, overwriting the track list found in Musicbrainz.

You will now see the track titles in the Chapter Editor:

C	reate/Edit Chapi	– o ×		
O	pen Media File		Set Default Audio Stream	Paste from dipboard
Numb	er of Chapters:	10 Apply Remove Selected Remove All	Get Chapter Titles from Musicbrainz	Get Chapters from Cue file
	Chapter	New Name	Start (hh:mm:ss.nnnnn)	Duration (ReadOnly)
	1	Come Together	00:00:00.00000	00:04:20.551000
	2	Something	00:04:20.551000	00:03:02.141000
	3	Maxwell's Silver Hammer	00:07:22.692000	00:03:28.124000
	4	Oh! Darling	00:10:50.816000	00:03:27.207000
	5	Octopus's Garden	00:14:18.023000	00:02:50.713000
	6	I Want You (She's So Heavy)	00:17:08.736000	00:07:47.341000
	7	Here Comes the Sun	00:24:56.077000	00:03:05.728000
	8	Because	00:28:01.805000	00:02:45.623000
	9	You Never Give Me Your Money	00:30:47.428000	00:04:02.618000
	10	Sun King	00:34:50.046000	00:02:26.438000
	11	Mean Mr Mustard	00:37:16.484000	00:01:06.358000
	12	Polythene Pam	00:38:22.842000	00:01:12.739000
	13	13 She Came In Through the Bathroom Window		00:01:58.827000
	14	Golden Slumbers	00:41:34.408000	00:01:31.508000
	15	Carry That Weight	00:43:05.916000	00:01:36.430000
Sav	e Chapter File		Save Cue	Save Exit

There are two main options moving forward:

Click: 'Save' to save the 'New Name' (Title) column to the Chapter names in the MKV or MKA file (the dialog will exit)

**NOTE:** If the 'Get Chapter Titles from Musicbrainz' command has found a release and the user has saved the selected release's data MMH will tag an MKV or MKA file with Artist, Album and MusicbrainzIDs for use in Kodi.

Or:

#### Saving a CUE file for your MKV/MKA/MP4 file:

After loading chapters into your Chapter Editor and naming the tracks (previous section)

Click: 'Save Cue' to create a CUE file for the MKV/MKA/MP4file selected with the chapter titles included.

If you save a Cue file, MMH will pop up a dialog to collect further data about the album or concert release to include in your CUE file:



If you have just fetched data from Musicbrainz this dialog will be pre-filled with this data (as above). If you have not used Musicbrainz or the search found nothing you will need to enter this data which will be saved to the CUE file.

#### IMPORTANT FOR KODI USERS:

Kodi 21 and earlier versions do not recognise CUE files when used with a Chaptered MKA file.

To load Kodi's music library from a CUE using an MKA file before creation of the CUE you can check the option:

• Create Chapterless mka file (Kodi)

With this option checked, MMH will create a copy of your original MKA file but removing the chapters in the new version.

#### Adding Chapters to an MKV without Chapters:

Click: 'Edit Chapters in MKV' from the Launcher dialog.

To add chapters, first select an MKV file (that does not have chapters):

Click: 'Open MKV'

This pops up a dialog asking you to select an MKV file:



Click: 'Open' or double-click on the desired file

Let's describe the first method of adding Chapters:

To manually add Chapters:

Enter the Number of Chapters in the 'Number of Chapters' numeric up/down control (or click up or down to increase/decrease the current number. Then:

Click: 'Apply' to set the number of chapters entered

į	🖶 Crea	te Chapters	;		<b>↔</b>	_		×
	Open N	ИKV						
	Number	of Chapters:	10 🜩 Apply	Remove Selected	]	Paste	from clipb	oard
		Chapter	New Name			Start (	hh:mm:ss)	)
	•	1	(empty)					
		2	(empty)					
		3	(empty)					
		4	(empty)					
		5	(empty)					
		6	(empty)					
		7	(empty)					
		8	(empty)					
		9	(empty)					
		10	(empty)					
					S	ave	Ex	it

Now you need to enter each Chapter Name and its start time (always absolute meaning 00:28:05 is 28 minutes and 5 seconds from the beginning of the video).

Typically, the first chapter will begin at 00:00:00.000 but it's possible to cut out the intro and start at the first song (e.g. first chapter at 00:02:00.000).

The Start Time column is a masked input allowing only valid time entry:

	Chapter	New Name	Start (hh:mm:ss)
	1	Fat Man & Dancing Girl	00:00:00
	2	Marlene on the Wall	00:07:13
•	3	Caramel	L:_:_
	4	(empty)	

The New Name column allows you to manually enter the chapter/song name. (of course you can manually copy & paste a text string into either column, but the Start text must be in the hh:mm:ss.sss format)

**HINT:** When entering Start times in the grid cell you can use the space bar to move to next time field (e.g. When entering minutes hit space to move to seconds etc)

Typically, you could view your MKV in something like *VLC Media Player* to find the time at which each song starts, entering that into the dialog's Start Time field for each song.

#### Adding Chapters & Start Times by Copying from the Clipboard:

MMH supports two text formats copied to the clipboard: (You do not need to set the number of chapters like you have to for manual chapter creation. MMH will auto add all the chapters from the clipboard)

#### Simple Format:

Just a list of chapter names, one line per chapter. This also supports the Start Time if it is appended to the Chapter Name (but separated with a bar '|' character) as per the example below (Time must be in hh:mm:ss format):

Intro|00:00:00.000 One Way or Another|00:01:14.000 Rave|00:05:03.000 Hanging on the Telephone|00:09:19.000

If the Start time is not included MMH will only add the Chapter Names, not the Start Times and you must manually edit the Start Times in the dialog after it is pasted from the clipboard.

To copy & paste a Simple Format simply open the text file you have with the chapter/track list, highlight all the text, and copy (CTRL-C), now in the 'Create Chapters' dialog:

Click: 'Paste from clipboard'

Chapter	New Name	Start (hh:mm:ss)
1	Intro	00:00:00
2	One Way or Another	00:01:14
3	Rave	00:05:03
4	Hanging on the Telephone	00:09:19
5	Mile High	00:13:14
6	Call Me	00:17:21
7	Take Me in the Night	00:23:05
8	Maria	00:25:48
9	Euphoria	00:31:30

MMH creates a Chapter entry for each of the text lines from your clipboard and if the text contains the Start Times then they are also copied for each chapter.

#### MKVMerge and Chapterdb.org website's Format (both are same formats):

This format is a more complex text file list of Chapters and chapter Start Times in the following format:

CHAPTER01=00:00:00.000 CHAPTER01NAME=Intro CHAPTER02=00:01:14.000 CHAPTER02NAME=One Way or Another CHAPTER03=00:05:03.000 CHAPTER03NAME=Rave CHAPTER04=00:09:19.000 CHAPTER04NAME=Hanging on the Telephone

With this text file format each chapter's information is on two text lines, first the Start Time then the Chapter Name.

To copy & paste a MKVMerge/Chapter.org Format simply open the text file you have with the chapter/track list, highlight all the text, and copy (CTRL-C), now in the 'Create Chapters' dialog:

Click: 'Paste from clipboard'

Chapter	New Name	Start (hh:mm:ss)
1	Intro	00:00:00
2	One Way or Another	00:01:14
3	Rave	00:05:03
4	Hanging on the Telephone	00:09:19
5	Mile High	00:13:14
6	Call Me	00:17:21
7	Take Me in the Night	00:23:05
8	Maria	00:25:48
9	Euphoria	00:31:30

MMH creates a Chapter entry for each of the text lines from your clipboard with the Start Times for each chapter.

#### To Create new Chapters:

Once the dialog chapter list completed (by manual entry or from the clipboard) to create the chapters:

Click: 'Save'

MMH now runs mkvmerge.exe in a command window and the chapters are added into a copy of your original chapter-less MKV (in the same folder as the original MKV). Please do not close the command window, wait until it automatically closes on completion.

When completed, you will have a new MKV file with your added chapters. Now you can use the MMH tool 'Split and Rename MKV' to break your new MKV into separate concert song files named after the new chapter names you just added.

## Tag & Rename Media Files:

#### **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Tag supported media files (including adding cover art):
  - Manually editing the grid cells or using the MMH 'Tag Editor' control on right.
  - o Auto tagging of tracks from MusicBrainz (based on a search by Artist and Album names).
  - Copying a list of tracks (typically from a website containing a list of songs in the album or music concert release disc).
- Rename Media files (video or audio)
- For Video files only: Can create NFO files for Concerts/albums (For Kodi's Music Video library).
- Create JRiver sidecar xml files for mka and all supported video files (allows importing tags into JRiver)
- Create a CUE file for all album/concert files
- This tool supports loading files from multiple folders (albums) for convenient concurrent tag editing

This tool supports the following file types: In Audio mode: mkv, mka, mp4, m4a, flac, dsf, mp3, aac, ape, wav, wavpack, and wma In Video mode: m2ts, mkv, vob, mp4, avi, and ts

**NOTE**: When tagging from MusicBrainz MMH will tag MusicBrainz IDs for: AlbumArtist, Album and ReleaseGroup used my Kodi's music library. You can view these tag values by adding these columns to the tagging grid *(right-click* on a column header and click: 'Column Chooser'. There are also columns for Track, TrackCount, Disc, DiscCount and DiscTitle (tags used by Kodi to group multi disc releases in the Kodi UI).

#### Tag & Rename Files dialog description:

Click: 'Tag & Rename Media Files' from the *Launcher* dialog. This displays the Tag & Rename Files tool dialog:

🚺 Tag & Rename	Files (from Clipb	oard, Manua	l Edit or from	MusicBrainz)					_	· 🗆	×
									Rename Moo	le: Audio	~
Add Sub Folders	Add Folder	Add Fi	les F			Use Artist Nar	me in File Name	Tag Editor:			
Icon Cur	≞ Propos	Artist	Title	Album	Album	G C	Disc				
								Ð			
				Load MKV	tags (slow)						

Initially, all the controls except 'Add Sub Folders', 'Add Folder' and 'Add Files' are disabled. The disabled controls are enabled once files have been added to the tool's grid.

First set the 'Rename Mode' at top right. MMH works a little differently based on whether you are working with audio or video files – typically tagging and renaming options. NFO files are only created for Video files.

#### Selecting Media Files to Tag and/or Rename:

This tool supports loading of multiple folder (album) files (concurrent editing of multiple album tags).

There are five command buttons at the top left of the dialog. Three to add files to this tool:

Add Sub Folders:	Adds all supported media files in all sub-folders (recursively adds all sub folder files)
Add Folder:	Adds all supported media files in the selected folder(s) (supports multiple folder selection)
Add Files:	Adds the selected media files supported from files selected in the File browser

NOTE: Users can also drag & drop files from the Windows File Explorer onto the grid

Two buttons to remove files from this tool:

Remove:	Removes the current or all selected rows (files) – this does not delete the files just removes
	from the grid.
Clear List:	Removes all rows (files) from the grid.

**NOTE:** 'Add Folder" and 'Add Files' browser dialogs in this tool support multiple folder or file selections using Windows selection methods: First select the folder or file you wish to add (clicking on a folder or file selects that single row), CTRL + A key selects all rows, holding the CTRL key down while clicking folders/files adds folder/file clicked. Holding SHIFT key down and selecting a single item selects all folders/files from the first selected to the last and every folder/file in between.

#### **Tagging Files - Overview**:

All existing tags for each loaded file are displayed in the file's grid row. These can be freely edited on a cell-by-cell basis (which saves the changes directly to each media file), or users can edit tags in the MMH 'Tag Editor' control on the right side of this dialog. Tags can also be edited in batch using MMH's Musicbrainz online database lookup or by copying a list of track names from a text file or from a web page.

Tags from the grid cells are saved to each file by:

- Editing in a grid cell immediately the cell is exited (e.g. Tab key or mouse click on another cell)
- Clicking either the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' command buttons

When either of the two 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' command buttons are used, MMH saves all grid tags for all files in the grid if there is only one album (folder) in the grid. If there are multiple folders (albums) in the grid MMH saves all tags for all files BUT only for the selected rows (files).

**HINT**: Use the normal Windows selection methods to select rows (CTRL+A for all, CTRL+Click, SHIFT+Click for multiples). Each folder name row has a 'Select Files' button on its right which selects all rows for that folder.

The dialog's 'Tag & Rename' and 'Tag Only' command buttons save the grid tags to each media file:

- If only one folder (album) is loaded in the grid, both commands save tags to all files for the folder
- If multiple folders (albums are loaded in the grid, both commands save tags to all files by folder (album) if the row (file) is selected

When multiple album folders have been loaded, to select all the files in a specific album click the 'Select Files' button on that album's header row (shown with yellow highlight below). In this example 'Select Files' for The Yes Album has been clicked, focusing the Tag Editor control on all files in that album:

<b>.</b>									
Tag is kename hies (troit Lipboard, Manual Edit of Itom Pusicipium)									
Re-Numb	er Files Disc Number Prefix 🔷 🗘	Get Tags from Musicbrainz E	dit Selected Tags Find & Replace	Copy Title Tag to I	New Name				Rename Mode: Audio 🗸
Add Sub F	Folders Add Folder Add File	es Remove Clear Lis	t Use Artist Name in File Name					Tag Editor:	
Icon	Current File Name 🚊	Proposed (New) File Name	Artist Title	Album	Album Y G	Se Comm Tr	OfT Disc	Track	[mrv ∨ of 6 Disc of
Folde	r: D:\Audio Surround\John Melle	ncamp - Scarecrow (Atmos BDA	)				Select Files	Title	[multiple values]
	01. Rain on the Scarecrow.m.	01. Rain on the Scarecrow.m_	John _ Rain On The Scarecrow	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 1		Inde	
1	02. Grandma's Theme.m4a	02. Grandma's Theme.m4a	John _ Grandma's Theme	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 2		Artist	Yes
	03. Small Town.m4a	03. Small Town.m4a	John _ Small Town	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 3		Album	The Yes Album
	04. Minutes to Memories.m4a	04. Minutes to Memories.m4a	John _ Minutes To Memories	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 4		Album Artist	
	05. Lonely Ol' Night.m4a	05. Lonely Ol' Night.m4a	John _ Lonely Ol' Night	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 5		Year	1971 Genre Progressive Rock
	06. The Face of the Nation	06. The Face of the Nation	John _ The Face Of The Nation	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 6		0	
	07. Justice and Independenc	07. Justice and Independenc_	John _ Justice And Independen_	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 7		Comments	From 2023 Atmos BDA
	08. Between a Laugh and a T	08. Between a Laugh and a T_	John _ Between A Laugh And A _	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 8		Disc Title	
	09. Rumbleseat.m4a	09. Rumbleseat.m4a	John _ Rumbleseat	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 9		Remixed	Steven Wilson
1	10. You've Got to Stand for	10. You've Got to Stand for_	John _ You've Got To Stand Fo.	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 10		Album Art	
1	11. R.O.C.K. in the U.S.A	11. R.O.C.K. in the U.S.A	John _ R.O.C.K. In The U.S.A.	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 11			The Yes Album
1	12. The Kind of Fella I Am	12. The Kind of Fella I Am	John _ The Kind Of Fella I Am	Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 12			
1	13. Small Town (acoustic ve	13. Small Town (acoustic ve_	John _ Small Town [Acoustic V.	. Scarcrow	John 19 R	ock From 13			
⊳ Folde	r: D:\Audio Surround\Yes - The Y	'es Album (Atmos BDA)					Select Files		
20	01. Yours Is No Disgrace.m4a	01. Yours Is No Disgrace.m4a	Yes Yours Is No Disgrace	The Yes Album	Yes 19 P	'ro From 1			
201	02. The Clap.m4a	02. The Clap.m4a	Yes The Clap	The Yes Album	Yes 19 P	ro From 2			
20	03. Starship Trooper Life S	03. Starship Trooper: Life _	Yes Starship Trooper: Life.	. The Yes Album	Yes 19 P	'ro From 3			
20	04. I've Seen All Good Peop	04. I've Seen All Good Peop_	Yes I've Seen All Good Peo.	. The Yes Album	Yes 19 P	'ro From 4			
<b>1</b>	05. A Venture.m4a	05. A Venture.m4a	Yes A Venture	The Yes Album		ro From 5			
	06. Perpetual Change.m4a	06. Perpetual Change.m4a	Yes Perpetual Change	The Yes Album		ro From 6			
Paste Tra	ck Titles list from dipboard	Load MKV tags (slow)				Play	Export/Print	Save Cue	Tag Only Rename Only Tag & Rename
		Create/Update JRive	r XML tagging files for MKVs						

#### The Tag Editor control:

The Tag Editor always displays the tags from the current grid row (figure on left) or tags for all the selected rows (figure on right):

	Tag Editor:		Tag Editor:
Track	1 of 10 Disc 1 of 2	Track	[mv] - of 10 Disc 1 of 2
Title	Speak to Me	Title	[multiple values] -
Artist	Pink Floyd	Artist	Pink Floyd
Album	The Dark Side of the Moon (5.1)	Album	The Dark Side of the Moon (5.1)
Album Artist	Pink Floyd	Album Artist	Pink Floyd
Year	1972 Genre Progressive Rock	Year	1972 Genre Progressive Rock
Comments	From Immersion Bluray 5.1 track	Comments	From Immersion Bluray 5.1 track
Disc Title		Disc Title	
Remixed		Remixed	
Album Art		Album Art	
	543 x 543 20.7KB		543 x 543 20.7KB

When displaying tags for multiple rows (files) if all the tag values for each file's tag are identical the tag textbox shows that value (see Artist tag in right figure). If the all the values are not identical the tag shows '[multiple values' (or '[mv] if the text box is small – see Track tag) and the textbox becomes a dropdown list which list all the unique values for that tag.

Users can edit any tag in the Tag Editor. Any changes are saved to the selected grid rows when a user clicks the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' dialog buttons

- If only one row is selected, just that row's tags are updated in the grid.
- With multiple rows selected, the 'Tag' buttons saves all tags (except those with values '[multiple values' or '[mv]') to all selected rows in the grid.

**IMPORTANT:** The Tag Editor does not save tags to media file(s). To save to tags to media files use the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' button at bottom of the main dialog.

#### Album Cover Art:

The Tag Editor control displays existing embedded cover art (if any). The 'Plus' button allows are user to select a cover art file via a file browser ('folder.jpg' or cover.jpg' only). The 'cross' button removes cover art.

#### Tagging Tracks from Musicbrainz (online music database):

After loading files, first select a row from the folder (album) you wish to update, then:

Click: 'Get Tracks from MusicBrainz' from the toolbar menu.

This displays the MMH Musicbrainz Tagging dialog.

Initially this is empty, although MMH will pre-enter the 'Album Artist' and 'Album Name' text boxes if at least one of the following is found:

- The selected row's (file) contains values in the 'Album Artist' and/or 'Album' columns.
- The file's folder name is in the format: ARTIST NAME ALBUM NAME

To search for an album and its tracks on Musicbrainz:

Ensure the Artist and Album Names textboxes (first two text boxes) have the correct values, then click: 'Find'

👔 MusicBrainz Tag	2	×				
Album Artist:	Steven Wilson				Find	
Album Name:	Hand. Cannot. Erase					
Releases:	Hand. Cannot. Erase. Hand. Cannot. Erase. Hand. Cannot. Erase.		201   201   201	5 Blu-ray 5 CD 5 CD DVD-Vi	deo	
	Hand. Cannot. Erase. Hand. Cannot. Erase.		201   201	5 Digital M 5 HQCD	ledia	
	Hand. Cannot. Erase.		201	9 CD Blu-ra	у	
Album Informa	tion					
Year:	2015					
Genre:	Alternative Rock				Genre	
Comment:						
Track List:	First Regret					
Discs	3 Years Older					
1 CD	Hand Cannot Erase					
2 Blu-ray	Perfect Life					
	Routine					
	Home Invasion					
	Regret #9					
	Transience					
	Ancestral					
No. of Tracks:	Happy Returns					
42	Ascendant Here On					
	Copy Track Titles to Edit					
Use MusicBrainz First Release Year Close Copy Tags Show				w Artwork >		

**NOTE:** If there is more than one matching 'Album Artist' name found in the Musicbrainz database, MMH will ask you to select the correct artist from the Album Artist pop-up list. Once selected MMH will then search for your selected Album Name by the Album Artist chosen.

If you enter valid names the 'Releases' list will be populated with all known releases that match the Album name entered. Click on any release to see its track names.

To use these tracks to rename and tag: Click: 'Copy Tags' at bottom right. The Rename Files dialog will now contain the album's track info.

If the selected release (from the Releases list) contains multiple discs (see previous capture), MMH displays a Disc list on the left. Selecting a Disc updates the Track List to the selected disc. If a single disc release the Disc list is not displayed.

You can also manually edit the track list by clicking 'Copy Track Titles to Edit'. This opens a new dialog with free form editing of all the text. You can also copy txt into that dialog.

**HINT:** If your entered Artist and Album Name cannot be found in the online MusicBrainz database it could be your entered text does not match closely enough to the database values, or the album does not exist in the database. Users can click the small button at the right side of the Album Artist text box to open a browser window at the MusicBrainz website and can do a manual search using the website tools.

Musicbrainz will display the artists' Discography (Albums, Singles, Live etc. If you select an Album title you will then see a list of all the album's releases. If you click on one of the albums you will see all its tracks etc. You can now copy the Musicbrainz ReleaseID from your browser page URL (address) and paste in into the MMH dialogs 'Album Name' text box and click 'Find' and MMH will use that Release ID to populate the data. The ReleaseID is a GUID like this: 9f33f746-7f95-43b3-a388-772e7ba5556d

If an artist's release is selected in the browser users can copy the release page URL (or the ReleaseID) into MMH's 'Album Name' text box then click 'Find' an MMH will load that release into this dialog.

#### Tagging Album Cover Art from Fanart.tv (online artwork database):

After searching the Musicbrainz database for tags a new feature introduced in MMH 3.8.2 that allows users to find and download album art images from the Fanart.tv website (MKV and MKA cannot be tagged with cover art in MMH).

#### Click: Show Artwork

This will pop out the MMH Album artwork gallery. MMH will always attempt to download all cover art and disc art on the Fanart.tv website for the release selected in the Release list box from the Musicbrainz lookup:



To Save any art to the current albums folder: *Double-Click* on the art image

**NOTE:** If you use JRiver as your playback device and you are tagging MKV files it is recommended that you enable 'Create/Update JRiver XML tagging files for MKV' which will be visible at the bottom of the dialog after you load MKV files for tagging.

This setting only an MKV file is being tagged. This should only be enabled if you are using JRiver as your MKV playback device. With this enables MMH creates a JRiver sidecar xml file for each MKV file being tagged. The xml files contain the tags in the tagging grid view (either manually entered or from the Musicbrainz online music database lookup). The JRiver sidecar xml files are imported into the JRiver music view when your new MKV files are imported by JRiver, affectively auto tagging your MKV files in JRiver.

#### Copying all the Tracks Titles from the clipboard:

Sometimes the Musicbrainz lookup will not find the release (maybe it doesn't yet exist in the database, or your search names entered aren't a close enough match to find the entry). In this case you can copy a list of track name from a text list of tracks or from a web page.

If you do not already have a list of all the track names that you can copy, use your favourite web browser, search for your Concert or Album in Google, find a web page that lists the songs, select all the list text and 'copy' (CTRL-C) to your clipboard.

The next figure shows a webpage from Discogs where a mouse was dragged over the track list (ready to copy):

discogs.com/The-Beatles-Abbey-Road/master/24047 C

> Year: Notes



#### The Beatles – Abbey Road

Rock
Pop Rock
1969
Released originally in 1969, the 2019 50 years anniversary editions have the same basic artwork
but contain a remix/remaster of the album and the arrangements do differ from the original album.

#### Tracklist

Come Together	4:21
Something	3:03
Maxwell's Silver Hammer	3:27
Oh! Darling	3:27
Octopus's Garden	2:51
I Want You (She's So Heavy)	7:47
Here Comes The Sun	3:05
Because	2:46
You Never Give Me Your Money	4:02
Sun King	2:27
Mean Mr. Mustard	1:06
Polythene Pam	1:13
She Came In Through The Bathroom Window	1:57
Golden Slumbers	1:32
Carry That Weight	1:37
The End	2:20
Her Majesty	0:23

After highlighting (selecting) the track list press CTRL-C to copy the selected text to your clipboard.

If you do have the titles already in a text file then open the file, select all the track list text and 'copy' (CTRL-C) to your clipboard.

HINT: Sometimes the published concert Track List does not include the introduction chapter or the credits chapter, so sometimes the number of chapters (hence the number of chapter files) is not the same as the number of track list songs. In this case you may wish to first copy your clipboard selection to a temporary text file and manually add an intro at the beginning and/or credit at the end. You can remove the first and/or last chapters from the Rename dialog's list by selecting the file and clicking 'Remove'. Once you have your updated Track List copy that to your clipboard and you are ready to continue.

Now click: 'Paste from clipboard' command at the bottom left of the Tag and Rename dialog.

This will pop up the MMH Track Text Editor:

Click: 'Paste Track Titles from Clipboard' in the Track Editor and the text copied from Discogs is pasted, but in this example, it includes the unwanted track length:

Track Text Editor							
Remove Paste Track Titles from Clipboard							
Rem	ove Leading Numbers						
Remo	ove Trailing Numbers 7						
Rem	ove Text (below) 1						
User	Text: 7:47						
Because You Nev Sun Kin Mean Mr Polythe She Cam Golden Carry T The End Her Maj	e 2:46 ver Give Me Your Money 4:02 ng 2:27 r. Mustard 1:06 ene Pam 1:13 me In Through The Bathroom Window 1:57 Slumbers 1:32 That Weight 1:37 i 2:20 jesty 0:23						
	Copy Tracks Cancel						

To remove all the track lengths, use the Track Text Editor's Remove menu option 'Remove Trailing Numbers' as shown above. This removes the unwanted trailing numbers. You can also remove other unwanted text like '(5.1 version)' from all the track names by entering the test string to remove in the 'User Text' textbox and then click: 'Remove Text (below)'.



Click: 'Copy Tracks' to update the track names and proposed new file names in the main grid.

**NOTE:** The Track Text Editor shows each track name in its own line. Users can add and delete lines in this editor to add and remove tracks from the current track list used to rename tracks in the grid.

**NOTE:** MMH will automatically add a sequence prefix to the New Names imported from the clipboard. So, you don't have to add any numeric prefix. You only need to ensure the song titles are in the correct sequence. MMH will remove any leading numbers and renumber them, so if some song titles have leading numbers and some don't' MMH will clean up those for you.

#### **Renaming Files**:

You can rename all the files in the grid at any time using either the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Rename Only' button at the bottom right of the dialog.

MMH always uses the value of the 'Proposed New Name' cell for each file name. This value is automatically updated by MMH using the row's Disc, Track and Title tag cells using the format:

Disc.Track. Title - example: 1.01. Speak to Me

If the Disc tag is empty or 0 the Disc number is ignored and the format used for the filename is:

Track. Title - example: 01. Speak to Me

**NOTE**: There is an Application Global Preference to append the track's Artist name. Example: 01. Pink Floyd – Speak to Me

**NOTE:** For Music Concert videos in MKV files in Kodi only the File Name (based on the song title) is required to generate NFO files for the Kodi Music Video library. All other tags are ignored by Kodi in the Kodi Video library. However, you can add MP4 music video files to the Kodi Music library by tagging the MP4 files and including the files in a Kodi Music source (just like for Kodi music (audio-only) files.

**NOTE:** MMH will automatically check for illegal characters in the proposed new file names (characters that are not allowed in Windows file names). If any exist, you will be warned and shown which new file names need to be edited.

#### **Renumbering Tracks and Files**:

Sometimes you may wish to auto-renumber the album/concert tracks or add a Disc Number prefix to all the files in a folder to help breakdown a large compilation or music concert or create your own compilation of music files and you want to renumber tracks.

The toolbar command: **Renumber Files** will automatically update the Track number for all selected rows in the grid using the current grid sort order (default sort is the Original File Name). The first row (file) will be 1 and all other selected files will be incremented. Renumbering files will auto update the proposed new file name.

MMH's normal file naming is in the form shown below with a two-digit track prefix added: Track. Title - example: 01. My Track's Title.flac (for Track 1)

**NOTE**: There is an Application Global Preference to append the track's Artist name to the file name. Example: 01. Pink Floyd – Speak to Me

**NOTE:** MMH uses a two-digit track prefix if the number of files in the grid < 100. If the number of tracks in the grid >99, MMH uses a 3-digit track prefix (example for > 100 files: 001. My Track's Title.flac)

#### **Disc Numbering:**

Setting the 'Disc No' in the toolbar (to the right of the Renumber Files command) adds a disc prefix to the file name: Disc.Track. Title - example: 1.01. My Track's Title.flac (for disc 1, Track 1)

This tool supports selecting specific tracks in the grid, using Windows CTRL-Click, SHFT-Click (range) etc and renumbering only the selected files. This enables users to select groups of tracks and adding or changing the Disc prefix. Example:

Select the first 20 tracks, set Disc Number to '1', then click: 'Re-Number files'. Now select tracks 21 to 30, set Disc Number to '2', then click: 'Re-Number files'

# **Playlist Editor:**

#### **Functionality**:

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Create and edit m3U playlists for both Audio and Music Video files (including mixing Audio & Video files)
- Copying the media files in any m3U playlist to another folder location or disc
- Re-Order files in a playlist

The Playlist media supported should be all the common audio and video files supported by Kodi (FLAC, MKA, M4A MP3, AAC, WAV, DSF etc for Audio and MKV, M2TS, VOB, AVI and MP4 for video).

#### **Playlist dialog description:**

Click 'Playlist Editor' from the *Launcher* dialog.

#### This displays the Playlist dialog:

File Name Type Folder Artist Length   Add Folder Add Folder   Add CUE   Add CUE   Renove   Clear   Re-Order   Image: State S	2	Play List Editor (Audio and Video)				-	-		$\times$
File Name       Type       Folder       Artist       Length         Add Folder       Add Folder       Add Folder         Add Folder       Add CUE       Renove         Clear       Re-Order       Image: Save File to Folder:       Image: Save File to Folder:         Play List File       Browse       Play List Name:       Save	File	Preferences Print							
Image: Add Folder         Add Folder         Add Folder         Add CUE         Remove         Clear         Re-Order         Image: Add CUE         Play         Play List File         Save File to Folder:         Image: Play List File         Play List Name:         Save		File Name	Туре	Folder	Artist	Length			
Add Files         Add CUE         Renove         Clear         Re-Order         Image: Image								Add Fo	older
Image: Image								Add F	iles
Remove         Clear         Re-Order         Image: Save File to Folder:         Play List File         Save File to Folder:         Play List File         Save File to Folder:         Browse         Play List Name:								Add (	CUE
Cear         Re-Order         Image: Constraint of the state of									
Re-Order         Image: Control in the state of the								Clea	
Itt 44 A Record 0 of 0 → >>>>14     Play List File     Save File to Folder:   Play List Name:     Save								Re-Or	rder
Interfere   Play     Play List File     Play List Name:     Save     Save     Save								岙	
I** ** ▲ Record 0 of 0 ▶ >> >> ▲         I** ** ▲ Record 0 of 0 ▶ >> >> ▲         Play         Play List File         Save File to Folder:         Browse         Play List Name:								ŵ	
Iff if it is file   Save File to Folder:   Browse   Play List Name:     Save								\$	
Play     Play List File     Save File to Folder:     Browse     Play List Name:     Save								香	
Intervention     Intervention     Play List File     Save File to Folder:     Browse     Play List Name:     Save									
International and the second 0 of 0 > >> >> >> >> >> >> >> >> >> >> >> >>									
Internet of Record 0 of 0 + +++++       ++++++         Play List File									
Play List File         Save File to Folder:         Browse         Play List Name:         Save		44 4 Record 0 of 0 + ++ ++1 -4							
Save File to Folder:           Browse         Browse	P	lay List File							
Play List Name:	Sa	ve File to Folder:							
Play List Name: Save					Browse				
	Pla	y List Name:							

#### **Toolbar menu options:**

- File: Allows you to create a new or open an existing M3U playlist file (add/edit/remove the contents)
- **Preferences:** Allows setting your Path preferences for the saved playlist files
- Print: Allows the current playlist to be printed or exported to PDF

#### **Command Buttons:**

Add Folder:	Adds all media files in the selected folder (to the end of current playlist)
Add Files:	Adds all selected files (to the end of the current playlist)
Add CUE:	Adds selected track(s) from a CUE file for a multitrack media file (e.g. file with chapters)
Remove:	Removes all selected files from the playlist
Clear:	Clears the playlist (Removes all)
Play:	Plays the selected file (the Selected grid row)

The Re-Order buttons moves the selected file:

- To the Top of the playlist
- Up (one position)
- Down (one position)
- To the Bottom of the playlist

HINT: You can also drag & drop a selected file in the playlist to re-order your playlist

Browse: Sets the 'current folder' and location of the saved playlist

Save: Saves the current playlist

**HINT**: You can also drag & drop selected files from Windows Explorer into your playlist. The selected files will be added at the position you drop onto your list (example: Dropping 4 files on top of the 3<sup>rd</sup> song in your list will add the 4 new songs at positions 3, 4, 5 & 6 – moving the original 3<sup>rd</sup> song to position 7)

**HINT**: You can also add files to your playlist from the MMH 'Media File Manager' grid by double-clicking on any track in the track list grid

Adding from a CUE file pops up a list tracks to choose from, after selecting a CUE file. *Double-click* on a CUE track to add to the playlist.

**NOTE**: You can copy all the files from any playlist to another folder by using the [File] menu's [Copy Playlist Files] command. This is equivalent to 'exporting' your playlist which can contain files from many folders into a single folder.

**NOTE**: If you open an existing playlist MMH checks each music file to see if it exists. If a file cannot be found it is highlighted. Since this is often due to changes in files names of album folder name, you can *double-click* on the missing file in the playlist and MMH will open a 'select file' dialog at album folder (if file does not exists but album folder does) or the parent folder (if the album folder no longer exists)

#### Example Music (Audio) playlist:

Play List Editor (Audio and Video)						
File Preferences Print						
	File Name	Туре	Folder	Artist		
	09. Heaven Beside You	.flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\Alice In Chains\Greatest_	Alice In Chains	Add Folder	
	01. Ventura Highway	.flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\America\Homecoming (DVDA)	America	Add Files	
	10. Free Bird	.flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\Lynyrd Skynyrd\Southern	Lynyrd Skynyrd		
	10. Man On The Moon	.flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\R.E.M\Automatic for the	R.E.M.	Add CUE	
	04. Wish You Were Here	.flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\Pink Floyd\Wish You Were_	Pink Floyd	Remove	
	01. Burning Down The House	.flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\Talking Heads\Speaking I_	Talking Heads	Clear	
44	44 ∢ Record 1 of 6 → → → → 4				Re-Order	
F	lay List File					
Sa	ve File to Folder:					
D	:\Backup\Audio Surround		Browse			
Pla	ay List Name: Demo Surround Tracks				Save	

Page 69 of 151

#### Example Music Video (Concert) playlist:

Play List Editor (Audio and Video)						
File Preferences Print						
	File Name	Туре	Folder	Artist		
	18. Let There Be Rock	.mkv	G:\Concerts\ACDC - Live At River Plate (2009)	ACDC	Add Folder	
	17. Coming Back To Life	.mkv	G:\Concerts\David Gilmour - Rememeber That	David Gilmour	Add Files	
	21. Lifes Been Good	.m2ts	G:\Concerts\Eagles - Farewell Melbourne	Eagles		
	21. Samba Pa Ti	.mkv	G:\Concerts\Santana - Greatest Hits Montreu	Santana	Add CUE	
	25. Don't Dream It's Over	.mkv	G:\Concerts\Crowded House - Farewell To The	Crowded House	Remove	
					Clear	
					Re-Order	
					ភ	
					ŵ	
					⊉	
					- -	
					2	
144	++ + Record 5 of 5 → ++ ++ +				Play	
Play List File						
Save Hie to Polder:						
PI	ay List Name: My Favourite Concert Videos				Save	

**HINT:** When Selecting files from the Open File Dialog you will need to change the default files type option in the dialog from Audio to Video

**NOTE**: The Artist name is found from the 'Artist' tag for audio files that are tagged. If the file is not tagged or it is a video file MMH attempts to get the Artist name from the folder structure. The expected folder structures are based on Kodi's recommended folder structures:

- Music (audio only): \ARTIST\ALBUM NAME\files
- For music videos (concerts): \ARTIST CONCERT NAME\files

MMH automatically checks for duplicate songs in the current playlist when saving and warns if any duplicate songs are included (you can still save the Playlist with duplicates if you wish)

#### **Copying Playlist Media Files:**

After you have opened and existing playlist or added files to a new playlist the 'Files' toolbar menu command 'Copy Playlist Media Files' is enabled. This command allows users to copy all the media files in the current playlist to a new folder. (Maybe you wish to copy the playlist to a USB stick to play in your car, for example).

By default, the media files are copied 'as is'. The Playlist Preferences dialog gives various options to:

- Retag the copied files.
- Rename the copied files (Include Artist name in file name etc.)
- Renumber the copied tracks (sequentially in the playlist order both file name and track tag)

NOTE: These options effect Copied files only – original playlist files remain unchanged

#### **Playlist Preferences:**

The 'Preferences' menu option in the Playlist Editor's menu enables setting of preferences:



#### **Music File Path Format:**

These options set the path information in the saved playlists which is useful if your playlists will be used on another device that does not use your PC's Windows paths.

**NOTE:** For Kodi files on a separate device (not your Windows PC, e.g. a CoreELEC or LibreELEC Media Player) NAS or Server you can use **advancedsettings.xml** to convert your Windows paths to ones used on your Kodi device.

Example: Here is my Kodi advancedsettings.xml nodes for my LibreElec NUC to convert my Windows PC paths created in the Playlist Editor to paths used by my LibreElec Kodi & NAS using Kodi's pathsubstitution:

```
<pathsubstitution>
    <substitute>
      <from>/Audio Surround/</from>
      <to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume1/Volume1/Audio Surround/</to>
    </substitute>
    <substitute>
      <from>/Music Video/</from>
      <to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume2/Volume2Music Video/</to>
    </substitute>
    <substitute>
      <from>/Audio Stereo/</from>
      <to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume1/Volume1/Audio Stereo/</to>
    </substitute>
    <substitute>
      <from>/Audio Classical/</from>
      <to>nfs://192.168.1.6/volume1/Volume1/Audio Classical/</to>
                                Page 71 of 151
```

# </substitute> </pathsubstitution>

#### **Copying Playlist Media Files – Copied File options:**

This preference section provides two option groups/types:

- Re-Tagging
- File Renaming

NOTE: These options effect Copied media files only – original playlist media files remain unchanged
# Media File Manager:

# **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Create a list (and PDF report) of all your media files including:
  - Audio Sample and Bit rates and file types
  - Video Resolution, Bit Rate and HDR type (including Dolby Vision EL type MEL or FEL)
  - $\circ$   $\;$  The list includes each media folder size and date created of media files
  - Users and sort and filter columns and data in the Grid
- Selectively Copy any media to another folder or disc (Destination)
- Selectively Delete any media already on a Destination disc

The feature supports any Source Type FROM: Audio only (Music), Music Videos, Movies and TV Series. It gives best results when a user has tagged music and video files as MKVs, MP4s etc but can attempt to provide a listing of movies and music stored as ISOs and disc folder structures based on the ISO/Disc Folder names.

I developed this for three reasons:

- 1. I wanted an automated/updatable list of all my media.
- 2. I have a 'master' disc on my PC for all my music which includes quite a few duplicate versions of the same album (e.g. remastered, CD, Vinyl, DVD-Audio etc.) but I only want to have one version on in my Kodi Library)
- 3. I often travel and have a small media player and a portable USB drive. I want to manage what music, movies and TV Series I copy to the USB drives for my various trips away.

This is all made easier by using File Manager Tool.

## Media File Manager dialog description:

Click: 'Media File Manager' from the Launcher dialog.

#### This displays the Media File Manager's dialog:

Dedia File List		– o x
Sources Select Preferences		
Source Type: Scan Source		
I≪ ≪ < Record 0 of 0 > ≫ ≫I		
Selected:		
Destination Folder:		Exit

Initially most the commands are disabled until define the folders that hold your media files by 'Adding Sources' and then running a 'Scan' on predefined Source folders for media content. Scanning recursively reads all folders and sub-folders under each 'Source' folder and reads media file metadata and codec data for each media file. Data is loaded Page **73** of **151** 

into the Media File List grid and saved into the MMH Media database for easy retrieval when you open the Media File Manager tool again.

'Source' folders in MMH can be any root folder containing following media categories (Source Types):

- Music (Audio Only)
- Music Videos
- Movies
- TV Series

You can add as many Source folders as you like as you may have multiple root folders or disc drives for Movies etc. This tool supports Kodi recommended folder structures. For example, you can have multiple NAS or hard drives with 'Movie' folders etc.

## To setup your Sources:

Click: 'Sources' on toolbar menu at the top of the Media File Manager's dialog (previous screen shot)

This pops up the 'Media Source Folders' dialog where you can view and add/remove source folders:

Media Source Folders		
File		
Source Folder	Source Type	Add Sources Music (Audio) Music Videos
		Movies TV Series
		Re-Order 孫 全 型
	Save	Cancel

The first 4 command buttons at top right add the 4 types of media source folders.

To add a 'Music (Audio)' Source folder to the File Manager Source Folders list:

Click: 'Music (Audio)' command button

This brings up a folder selection dialog where you can select the Root folder for your Audio Music sub-folders:

**HINT**: Users can use "Click + CTRL" to add multiple Sources folders when selecting from the right panel (while holding down the CTRL key and clicking on a folder in the folder browser)

Select Music root folder(s) - CTRL +Click selects multiple												×	
<b>←</b> ∋		1	📩 « This PC > Volu	me2 (\\192. 168. 1	. 123)	(L:) > I	Music >	~					Q
											8	8==	~
~	<b>.</b>	This P	°C			Name	÷	Date	modified	Туре	Size		
	>	1	Denon AVC-X4800H			Atmos		26/1	)/2024 3 <b>:4</b>	File folder			
	>	<b>"</b>	Local Disk (C:)			Audio Cla	assical	26/0	1/2023 11:	File folder			
	>	•	990Pro4 (D:)	1		Penteo U	м	4/03/	2024 10:4	File folder			
	>	- 1	Working2TBSSD (E:)			Quad		21/04	1/2024 2:0	File folder			
	>	- (	Crucial (F:)			Surround	ł	13/09	9/2024 2:1	File folder			
	>	<b>-</b> I	New 980SSD (G:)	l		Test		11/04	<del>1</del> /2024 2:5	File folder			
	>	<b>.</b>	BD-RE Drive (H:)			Upmixes		1/04	2023 8:45	File folder			
	>	•	Seagate Expansion Drive 2 (I:)			xAtmos (	(Christmas)	24/1	2/2023 6:1	File folder			
	>	<u>a</u> \	Volume1 (\\192.168.1.123) (K:)	)									
	$\sim$	<u>a</u> \	Volume2 (\\192.168.1.123) (L:)										
		>	🧧 #recyde										
		>	Artist Information										
		>	📩 Music										
		>	New folder										
Folder:	Mus	sic								Select	) (	ancel	

Click on the folder name ("Atmos" is highlighted on the right panel above) then

Click: 'Select to save the new Source as a 'Music (Audio)' source

The Sources dialog will then show the new Source Folder(s) selected:

Media	a Source Folders		
File			
	Source Folder	Source Type	Add Sources
	L:\Music\Atmos	Music	Music (Audio)
	L:\Music\Audio Classical	Music	
	L:\Music\Penteo UM	Music	Music Videos
	L:\Music\Quad	Music	Movies
	L:\Music\Surround	Music	TV Series
			Remove
			Re-Order
			窃
			â
			-0- -1-
			<b>v</b>
			公
		Save	Cancel

The previous screen capture shows 5 Source folders selected from the MMH Folder browser

You can add as many Sources as you like, but you cannot load any media information into the Media File Manager without adding its Root folder to the Sources dialog as a Source Type. Once you have added your sources:

Click: 'Save' to save the sources

**NOTE**: The Source List is saved and will automatically reload the next time you open Media File Manager. Once your Source folders are defined there is no need to do this again unless you add, rename or remove your folder Source folders.

NOTE: This tool does not allow duplicate Source folders (i.e. A Source folder can only be defined used once)

**HINT:** Users can reorder the Source list by either drag and dropping a row in the list or using the 4 Re-Order buttons to move the current selected row up, down to top or bottom.

# Saving and Importing Sources from a text file:

The Media File Manager feature also enables users to save their Sources to a text file and Import Sources from a text file. It must include the first line header: Folder Name | Media Type). Each source is written on one line in the format: SourePath | SourceType (separated by a bar character '|').

An example of the supported text format is shown below (first line is a 'header' showing data format).

Folder Name|Media Type X:\Audio Surround|Music P:\Music Video|Music Videos M:\Movies|Movies N:\Movies|Movies O:\War Movies|Movies T:\TV Series|TV Series

**NOTE:** The 'SourceType' (Media Type) must be one of the following (which groups the data into same reports):

- Music
- Music Videos
- Movies
- TV Series

The 'File' menu of the Source dialog (above) has two menu options to Save your current Source List to a file or to Import a Source List from a file. To import a Source List file (formatted above) it must have a file extension of '.csv'.

#### **Scanning Your Sources for Media:**

Any time after you have defined your Sources you can select a 'Source Type' from the Source Type dropdown list which is only enabled once you have added Sources (you have at least one Source):

Select a Source Type from that combo (above) and now many of the controls are enabled:

🌛 Media File List													
Sources Select Preferences													
Source Type: Music	✓ Scan Source	Get	: <b>Video 8</b> Only for I	er)	Hide Columns Show Grid Search								
Artist	Album		Year	Comment	Codec								

To load the grid with all the media for the selected 'Source Type' in previous screenshot:

Click: 'Scan Source' (button)

MMH goes ahead and scans all the Source Folders that are 'Music' sources and loads them into the grid.

MMH attempts to speed the process by reading data from multiple folders concurrently, this speeds the process if Source folders are shared across multiple hard drives or NAS volumes. MMH loads the grid with data and when completed (or the Scan process is stopped) MMH saves the data to its Media database (MMHMedia.db located in the users folder: C:\Users\*[username]*\AppData\Roaming\Music Media Helper).

Each folder has a special hash code that is used to track any changes in the data, used by the 'Refresh' option to check for changes much faster than the initial scan which needs to read data for every file. The hash allows MMH to skip unchanged folders.

The next screen shot shows Music data after a typical scan, note a new 'Refresh' button appears. This button checks the current database information shown in the grid with the media files in the Source folders. If there are anyany differences (new folders added, deleted or renamed; or any media files that have changed since the last Scan or Refresh, MMH will update the database with new media data.

<mark>.</mark> ≱ So	Med urce	ia File List s Select Preferer	ices														—		×
Sour	rce Ty	pe: Music		Scan Source	<b>C</b>	Get Vie Only	deo & y for I	Audio Codece First File in Fol	: (Slower) der	Hide Columns	s arch	Add	l Tracklist	to Grid	Export/Print	Export	to Excel	Export to	o CSV
	Arti	st <u>–</u>	Album	n		≞ Ye	ear	Comment	Codec		Tracks	DR	Media	Folder			Source		Date
		10,000 Maniacs	Our T	Time in Eden		19	92	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	13	DR14	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10,	000 M.	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		10cc	Blood	dy Tourists		19	978	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	12	DR14	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10c	с - В.,	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		10cc	Decep	ptive Bends		19	77	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	9	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10c	c - D	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		10cc	Great	test Hits 197	2-1978	19	979	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	12	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10c	c - 1	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		10cc	How D	Dare You!		19	976	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	10	DR12	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10c	с - н	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		10cc	Sheet	t Music		19	974	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	10	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10c	c - s	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		10cc	The C	Driginal Soun	dtrack	19	975	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/88.2kHz	8	DR12	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\10c	с - Т	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		a-ha	Hunti	ing High and	Low	19	85	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	10	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM∖a-h	a - H	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		ABC	The L	Lexicon of Lo	ve	19	82	From 202	Dolby Atr	ios (TrueHD) 8	10	DR14	m4a	L:\Music	\Atmos\ABC - T	he Le	L:\Mus	ic\Atmos	202
		AC/DC	Back	in Black		19	80	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	10	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\ACD	С - В	L:\Mus	ic\Pente	202
		AC/DC	Dirty	y Deeds Done	Dirt Cheap	19	76	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	9	DR12	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\ACD	C - D	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		AC/DC	For T	Those About t	o Rock (We Sa	alute 19	81	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	10	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\ACD	C - F	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		AC/DC	High	Voltage		19	976	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	9	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\ACD	с - н	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		AC/DC	Highw	way to Hell		19	979	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	12	DR11	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\ACD	С - Н	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
		AC/DC	Let T	There Be Rock		19	77	Quad + L	FLAC 6ch	24/96kHz	8	DR13	flac	L:\Music	\Penteo UM\ACD	C - L	L:\Mus	ic\Pente…	202
	< «	< Record 9 of 5	6 >	» »ı															
																		Exit	

In the screenshot above the checkbox option 'Get Video & Audio Codecs (Slower)' has been enabled so with this option the grid shows the 'Codec' data (Audio Channels and sample rates).

For Music (Audio), Music Videos and TV Series the grid also shows the number of media files in each folder ('Tracks' column above for Audio folders).

For video sources an additional column named 'Resolution' is added showing the video resolution of the files (e.g. 1920x1080 etc.)

Example for Movies showing detailed video stream data:

Media File List						—	o x	
Sources Select Preferences								
Source Type: Movies V Scan Source	¢}	Get Video & Audio Codecs (Slower) 🧹 📄 Only for First File in Folder	Hide Columns Show Grid Search		Export/Print Exp	port to Excel	Export to CSV	
Movie =	. Year	Video	Audio	Media	Source	Date	Size (GB)	
'71 (2014)	2014	1920x1080 AVC (36.1Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2015-03-13	27.575	
3 Idiots (2009)	2009	1920x1080 AVC (30.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2015-05-21	33.258	Ľ
3-10 to Yuma (2007) (UHD)	2007	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P8 HDR10+ (79.7Mb/s)	DTS:X 8ch 24/48kHz	mkv	V:\Movies (Wes…	2024-03-16	73.564	
12 Angry Men (1957)	1957	1920x1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 1ch 24/48kHz	m2ts	S:\Movies	2015-03-16	21.788	
12 Monkeys (1995)	1995	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 MEL HDR10 (84.8Mb	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD)	2022-04-29	80.248	
127 Hours (2010)	2010	1920x1080 AVC (23.9Mb/s)	1.DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz 2.DTS 6	mkv	V:\Movies	2020-08-18	19.026	
300 (2006) (UHD)	2006	3840x2160 HEVC HDR10 (59.8Mb/s)	1.Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/4_	mkv	V:\War Movies	2020-10-09	51.940	
2001 - A Space Odyssey (1968)	1968	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 MEL HDR10 (64.3Mb.	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD)	2018-11-23	69.127	
A Beautiful Mind (2001)	2001	1920x1080 AVC (36.5Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	m2ts	S:\Movies	2015-03-11	38.338	
A Bronx Tale (1993) (UHD)	1993	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 FEL HDR10 (85.0Mb	1.DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz 2.DTS 6	mkv	S:\Movies	2023-10-13	76.839	
A Clockwork Orange (1971) (UHD)	1971	3840x2160 HEVC HDR10 (49.8Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2024-10-09	51.053	
A Fish Called Wanda (1988)	1988	1920x1080 AVC (35.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2023-10-14	29.077	
A Fistful of Dollars (1964) (UHD)	1964	3840x2160 HEVC (80.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	V:\Movies (Wes	2022-06-05	56.948	
A Hidden Life (2019) (UHD)	2019	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P8 HDR10 (23.4Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 8ch 24/48kHz	mkv	N:\War Movies	2024-10-28	34.461	
A Passage to India (1984) (UHD)	1984	3840x2144 HEVC (29.1Mb/s)	TrueHD 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2024-03-05	34.935	
A Quiet Place (2018)	2018	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 FEL HDR10 (73.9Mb	Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/48k	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD)	2023-06-13	49.061	
I≪ ≪ < Record 39 of 529 > ≫ ≫I								
Destination Folder:		Province					Fvit	

Page **78** of **151** 

For Audio files the grid shows the Tagged Artist and Album Names, Year and Comment tags.

The 'Hide Columns' checkbox hides predefined columns more suitable for Export/Print of your media lists.

'Add Tracklist to Grid' checkbox adds each album's track tags to the grid. This slows the scanning process and is not required to get an album report, but may be useful to some users.

These grids also show whether an album cover image (folder.jpg or cover.jpg) exists or Movie and TV Show posters and fanart exist. If it does its dimensions are shown in the appropriate column (e.g. 800x800 or 1500x1000 etc)

HINT: Double-Clicking on a 'Source' or 'Folder' column starts Windows File Explorer in that selected folder,

# Filtering & Sorting rows and Hiding Columns:

**IMPORTANT:** All the Export/Print reporting in the Media File Manager exports or reports ONLY data rows that have not been filtered out with any filter options above. Only Columns that are not Hidden are exported/printed. This gives you some control of what is printed/exported to PDF, Excel etc

**Sorting:** Clicking on a column header toggles the sorting (up/down) for the column clicked. Hold the CTRL key and clicking adds the column sort to the previous column sort (e.g. Sort on Artist + Album). You can easily find recent additions to your media with a 'Date' column sort. Additional Sorting option are available by *right-clicking* on a column header (see the right click menu section below)

**Filtering:** When you hover your mouse over a column header a filter image in the header on right is displayed. Click on the filter image and the Grid Column Filter box dropdown (see next figure). There are two main types of column filters in the dropdown column filter box:

The 'Values' filter (Default) shows a list of all the unique values in the selected column with checkboxes (Checked means 'show', unchecked means 'hide'):



In this dropdown, clicking on the 'Text Filters' tab at the top displays the 'Text' filter. Initially it is empty, but in the figure below the filter type 'Contains' was selected from the dropdown box and the text 'Quad' has been entered:



#### Column Right-Click menu:

A *right-click* on any column header pops up the Column menu allowing various functionality including Hiding the current column. The Column Chooser command allows you complete control over which columns are displayed in the grid:



Most of the above commands are obvious. Try them and see what it does to the grid.

The Column Chooser pops up a small dialog where users can drag invisible column )not in view to any specific Column position.

Command Buttons:	
Export/Print:	Pops up the grid Print Preview dialog with options to print/export to PDF, Word or Excel etc
Export to Excel:	Exports all the Grid contents to an Excel (.xlsx) file
Export to CSV:	Exports all the Grid contents to a CSV file (for import into Excel to make a pretty report etc)
Сору:	Copies the 'Selected' folders ('Copy' checkbox in the grid) to set 'Destination Folder'
Browse:	Sets the 'Destination Folder' (where selected folder/files will be copied.

The option 'Show Albums in Destination Folders' shows the grid's contents that are matched in the Destination Folder (so you know it's already copied; it also compares file dates to see if anything is different). The info appears in the 'Copied' column – 'Yes' is match, 'Part' if some files missing or dates are different).

#### **Example PDF Report from the Export/Print command:**

i Open	Print Quick Print Quick Print Header/Footer	Scale	Margins ∨     Gorientation ∨	narks Editing Fields Navination	ous Page Page Page	Many Pages	ଷ୍ ସୁ ପ୍ ଅ ଜ୍ଞ୍	C ~ P ~	Close	
		- <u>-</u>					3			1
	Movie	Year	Video	Audio	Media	Source	Date	Size (GB)		
	'71 (2014)	2014	1920x1080 AVC (36.1Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2015-03-13	27.575		
	3 Idiots (2009)	2009	1920x1080 AVC (30.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2015-05-21	33.258		
	3-10 to Yuma (2007) (UHD)	2007	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P8 HDR10+ (79.7Mb/s)	DTS:X 8ch 24/48kHz	mkv	V:\Movies (Wes	2024-03-16	73.564		
	12 Angry Men (1957)	1957	1920×1080 AVC	DTS-HDMA 1ch 24/48kHz	m2ts	S:\Movies	2015-03-16	21.788		
	12 Monkeys (1995)	1995	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 MEL HDR10 (84.8Mb	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD	2022-04-29	80.248		
	127 Hours (2010)	2010	1920x1080 AVC (23.9Mb/s)	1.DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz 2.DTS 6	mkv	V:\Movies	2020-08-18	19.026		
	300 (2006) (UHD)	2006	3840x2160 HEVC HDR10 (59.8Mb/s)	1.Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/4	mkv	V:\War Movies	2020-10-09	51.940		
	2001 - A Space Odyssey (1968)	1968	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 MEL HDR10 (64.3Mb	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD	2018-11-23	69.127		
	A Beautiful Mind (2001)	2001	1920x1080 AVC (36.5Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	m2ts	S:\Movies	2015-03-11	38.338		
	A Bronx Tale (1993) (UHD)	1993	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 FEL HDR10 (85.0Mb	1.DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz 2.DTS 6	mkv	S:\Movies	2023-10-13	76.839		
	A Clockwork Orange (1971) (UHD)	1971	3840x2160 HEVC HDR10 (49.8Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2024-10-09	51.053		
	A Fish Called Wanda (1988)	1988	1920x1080 AVC (35.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2023-10-14	29.077		
	A Fistful of Dollars (1964) (UHD)	1964	3840x2160 HEVC (80.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	V:\Movies (Wes	2022-06-05	56.948		
	A Hidden Life (2019) (UHD)	2019	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P8 HDR10 (23.4Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 8ch 24/48kHz	mkv	N:\War Movies	2024-10-28	34.461		
	A Passage to India (1984) (UHD)	1984	3840x2144 HEVC (29.1Mb/s)	TrueHD 6ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2024-03-05	34.935		
	A Quiet Place (2018)	2018	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 FEL HDR10 (73.9Mb	Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/48k	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD	2023-06-13	49.061		
	A River Runs Through It (1992) (UHD)	1992	3840x2160 HEVC DoVi P7 MEL HDR10+ (84.9M	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	mkv	V:\Movies	2024-10-19	74.703		
	A Royal Night Out (2015)	2015	1920x1080 AVC (35.0Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 6ch 16/48kHz	m2ts	S:\Movies	2015-11-05	18.374		
	A Separation (2011)	2011	1920x1080 AVC (29.4Mb/s)	DTS-HDMA 3ch 24/48kHz	mkv	S:\Movies	2015-06-30	26.310		
	Across The Universe (2007)	2007	3840x2160 HEVC HDR10 (49.4Mb/s)	Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/48k	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD	2018-03-27	50.588		
	Air (2023)	2023	1920x1080 AVC (36.7Mb/s)	1.Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/4	mkv	S:\Movies	2023-09-10	30.909		
	Alexander Revisited (2004)	2004	1920x1080 VC-1 (16.9Mb/s)	Dolby Digital 6ch 48kHz	mkv	V:\War Movies	2014-10-27	26.171		
	Alien Covenant (2017)	2017	3840x2160 HEVC HDR10 (35.0Mb/s)	Dolby Atmos (TrueHD) 8ch 24/48k	mkv	N:\Movies (UHD	2023-05-13	34.771		
Page 1 of 1	9						100%		- +	

#### Setting up your final output:

Initially the Export/Print command shows a Preview of your data (above). The menu at top enables you to customise the presentation of your report:

Page Setup section: Page Orientation, Margins & Size are often important as reports attempt a 'best fit' for column widths.

Watermark: Enables you can set up a watermark for your report (QQ members will see these on a few QQ Poll and Engineers reports)

Export: Enable you to create files from your reports. Most common formats are PDF, Excel, Word and CSV.

**HINT:** Filtering rows in the grid controls the rows Exported and Hiding Columns controls the columns exported. Adjusting column widths in the grid also affects the column width in Reports.

# **Copying Files to Another Folder or Disc:**

Select the 'Copy' column checkbox to select folders (with all their files) to the 'Destination Folder' (as set in the bottom of this dialog.

**NOTE:** When a Media Folder is copied it also copies all media files and sub-folders. For Music it also copies the parent (Artist) folder's metadata & image files including 'extrafanart' folder, so this ensures the Kodi metadata files are all copied for both the Album and its Artist.

If the 'Destination Folder' is set and the 'Show Albums in Destination Folders' checkbox is checked as you select each Folder to Copy MMH will enter add 'Copied' or 'Part' to the 'Copied' column ('Copied' if all files exist and are same date in both your Source and Destination folders for that Album. 'Part' if one or more files is missing in the Destination or is of a different date)

MMH also shows the total amount of disc space that is required on the Destination Drive and will warn you if the available free space is less than the than the total of the selected and not existing on destination.

To Copy the Selected Files:

Click: 'Copy' command button

Sit back and relax. Copying large files and collections will take some time.

**NOTE:** The 'Select' toolbar menu contains an option to Delete selected media folders on the Destination Folder. This may be useful if you want to remove something from a USB drive to make room for new media.

There is also an option checkbox to create a CSV Tracklist file containing a list of every media file (song, video etc) found during 'Scanning'. This file may be imported into Excel to view, sort and filter etc.

## Viewing Track details from the Media Manager grid:

You may view album and concert songs/tracks by simply clicking on the small '+' (plus) icon on the left of the album or concert record in the grid, this open up the album's/concert's track Details sub-grid as shown, click the '-' (minus) icon to close the Track sub-grid:

Ð		10cc De	eceptive Bends (CD) (UM)	19_	FLAC	6Ch	13	flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\10c	c\Deceptive Bends	. D:\Ba
Þ 🗉		10cc Th	ne Original Soundtrack (DVDA UM)	19	FLAC	6Ch	8	flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\10c	c∖The Original So_	. D:\Bā
	A	Albums Tracks									
	٩	File Name	Title	Albun	ı				Artist	Codec	
	•	01. Une Nuit A Paris.flac	Une Nuit A Paris	The O	rigina	1 Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96k	łz.
		02. I'm Not In Love.flac	I'm Not In Love	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96kH	ΗZ
		03. Blackmail.flac	Blackmail	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96kH	Ηz
		04. The Second Sitting For T	The Second Sitting For The L	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96kH	Ηz
		05. Brand New Day.flac	Brand New Day	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96kH	Ηz
		06. Flying Junk.flac	Flying Junk	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96kH	Ηz
		07. Life Is A Minestrone.fla	c Life Is A Minestrone	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96kH	Ηz
		08. The Film Of My Love.flac	The Film Of My Love	The O	rigina	l Sound	track (	DVD	10cc	FLAC 6Ch 24/96k	łz
Ð		16 Horsepower Se	cret South (DVDA)	20	FLAC	6Ch	12	flac	D:\Backup\Audio Surround\16	Horsepower\Secret	D:\Ba

# Adding a Track from the Media Manager grid to a Playlist:

If you have a Playlist open in MMH you can *double-click* on any Album or Concert track and the track will be added to the currently opened Playlist:

#### Example: *Double-Click* on the track highlighted below:

ð	Med	ia Fi	le List	t											
5	Sourc	es	S	elect	Preferences										
		-		Aurola			a 1100 Albuma	🗸 Ge	t Video & Audio Codecs (	Slower)	✓ Hide Columns				
50	urce	Гуре	2: []*	lusic		Scan Sourc	ie 1186 Albums	Sho	ow Albums In Destination	Folders	Show Grid Sea	arch Cre		eate Tracklist C	
	Art	ist					Album					Year	Code	c	
	± :	l0cc					Bloody Tourists (CD)	Bloody Tourists (CD) (UM)							
	10cc						Deceptive Bends (CD)	) (UM)				1977	6Ch 3	24/88.2kHz	
	<b>⊞</b> 10cc						The Original Soundt	rack (D	DVDA UM)			1975	6Ch 3	24/96kHz	
	± :	16 H	lorse	power			Secret South (DVDA)					2000	6Ch 3	24/48kHz	
۲	▶ 🖃 3 Doors Down						Away From the Sun (	Away From the Sun (SACD)						24/88.2kHz	
		A	bums	Tracks											
	۹ File Name Tit						itle		Album		Artist			Codec	
			01.	When I	'm Gone.flad	: W	hen I'm Gone		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			02.	Away Fr	rom The Sun.	flac A	way From The Sun		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			03.	The Roa	ad I'm On.fl	lac T	he Road I'm On		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			04.	Ticket	To Heaven.	flac T	icket To Heaven		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			05.	Running	g Out Of Day	/s.flac R	unning Out Of Days		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
		۲	06.	Here Wi	ithout You.	flac H	ere Without You		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			07.	I Feel	You.flac	I	Feel You		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			08.	Dangero	ous Game.fla	ac D	angerous Game		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			09.	Changes	s.flac	c	hanges		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			10.	Going (	Down In Flam	nes.flac G	oing Down In Flames		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
			11.	Sarah	Yellin'.flad	: S	arah Yellin'		Away From the Sun	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	
		11. Sarah Yellin'.flac     Si       12. This Time.flac     This Time.flac					his Time		Away From the Sun (	(SACD)	3 Doors Down			6Ch 24/88	

#### The track is now added to your open Playlist as shown below:

Play List Editor (Audio and Video)										
File	Preferences									
			Drag and Drop to Re-order							
Media	File Name	Туре	Folder	Artist 🔨	Add Folder					
Media 02. 08. 01. 15. 10. 03. 02. 01. 11. 11. 05. 08. 01. 11. 1.1 03. 22. 11. 18. 02. 05. 05. 05. 05. 05. 05. 05. 05	File Name Long Train Runnin' Any Colour You Like Ventura Highway Jamming Burning Down The House (alternat Midnight Rider Slave To Love To the Bone Canned Heat - On The Road Again For the Love of Money La Grange That Lady (Part 1 _2) Here Without You Everlong 4. Yes - Owner Of A Lonely Heart Another Park Another Sunday While My Guitar Gently Weeps Bohemian Rhapsody Here Comes The Sun - The Inner Li Black Magic Woman - Gypsy Queen Smoke On The Water	Type .flac	Folder P:\Audio Surround\The Doobie Brothers\The Captain and Me P:\Audio Surround\Pink Floyd\Dark Side Of The Moon (5.1) P:\Audio Surround\America\Homecoming (SACD) P:\Audio Surround\Brob Marley & The Wailers\Legend (BDA) P:\Audio Surround\Talking Heads\Speaking In Tongues (DVDA) P:\Audio Surround\Talking Heads\Speaking In Tongues (DVDA) P:\Audio Surround\Bryan Ferry\Boys and Girls (SACD) P:\Audio Surround\Bryan Ferry\Boys and Girls (SACD) P:\Audio Surround\Steven Wilson\To The Bone (BDA) P:\Audio Surround\Steven Wilson\To The Bone (BDA) P:\Audio Surround\Various Artists\Inside the Music - Classic P:\Audio Surround\The O'Jays\Ship Ahoy (Quad SACD fixed) P:\Audio Surround\The O'Jays\Ship Ahoy (Quad SACD fixed) P:\Audio Surround\The Isley Brothers\3 + 3 (SACD) D:\Backup\Audio Surround\The Isley Brothers\3 + 3 (SACD) D:\Backup\Audio Surround\The Doobie Brothers\The Best of Quad P:\Audio Surround\The Doobie Brothers\The Best of Quad P:\Audio Surround\The Beatles\Love (DVDA) P:\Audio Surround\The Beatles\Love (DVDA)	Artist A The Doobie Brothers Pink Floyd America Bob Marley & The Taiking Heads Allman Brothers Band Bryan Ferry Steven Wilson Canned Heat The O'Jays ZZ Top The Isley Brothers 3 Doors Down Foo Fighters Yes The Doobie Brothers The Beatles Queen The Beatles Santana Deep Purple	Add Folder Add Files Remove Clear Re-Order Clear					
Play	List File									
Save F	ile to Folder:									
P:\Au	dio Surround		Browse							
Play Lis	st Name: 4. Audio Only - Demo Surround.m3u				Save					

# Merge Video and FLAC files:

# **Functionality**:

This tool enables you to batch merge video files (MKV, MP4, AVI, M2TS, VOB & TS) with FLAC audio files that are in the same source folder. The original sources files remain unaltered. The new FLAC audio track becomes to new default track for playback. FLACs can be stereo or multichannel (up to 8 channels).

Output can be either MKV or MP4 (user selectable). For MP4 the output MP4 will contain just the original video stream and the new FLAC stream. For MKV all sources video vile streams are retained.

Many media players can playback HD and 4K Video and lossless multichannel audio from and MKV and MP4 files containing FLAC.

I often find music concerts that need audio adjustments: Examples:

- LFE (subwoofer) volume is too low
- A Music Video is stereo only and I have a multichannel audio release I want to hear in the video
- The concert has a stereo only audio track and I want to upmix to 5.1 surround
- The concerts 5.1 track is just stereo in fronts and crowd noise in rears. Another Penteo upmix candidate.

In many of the above examples I use MMH to extract FLAC from the original MKVs, then do my audio manipulations, get the FLACs how I want, then use this Merge Video and FLAC file tool to get my new audio back into the original MKV.

#### **File Naming Requirements:**

This tool does not need any specific file naming to merge multiple video files with multiple FLACs. It merges based on the file name sort order only. That is, the first video file is merged with the first FLAC, 2<sup>nd</sup> with 2<sup>nd</sup> etc. So, the only 'rule' is to name the files in the correct sequence. MMH's existing tools Split and Rename MKVs and Extract FLAC from MKVs both create files with the same file name sequence, so this is not a difficult requirement to meet. NOTE: You cannot use filenames the begin with the letter '-'.

#### **Output (New Merged) Files:**

This tool never overwrites the existing source files. New merged output MKV or MP4 files are created under the source folder in a folder named REMIXED. All source video and FLACs are unchanged.

## Merge Video and FLAC Walk-Through:

In this scenario we will assume you already have a music MKV files with an entire concert in multiple MKV files (one song per file) and you already have FLAC files for each song.

Click: 'Merge Video and FLAC files' from the Launcher dialog. The following dialog appears:

Merge MKV or MP4 Video files and FLAC Files					-		×
Output: MKV -							
Video File	Video Info	FLAC File		FLA	C Audio	Add Fo	lder
						Clear I	
144 44 4 Record 0 of 0 ► +> +>1 ⊲							
Status: Ready			Remove Existing FLAC S	Stream		Merge F	

The tool assumes all you MKVs and FLACs are in the same folder.

Select the folder containing your Video and FLAC files to merge:

Click: Add Folder

This will pop up a Folder Selection browser:



Once selected, MMH scans the files in the folder and finds all the video files (in file name order) and matches each to a FLAC file in the same file (in FLAC file name order).

**NOTE:** There must be an equal number of video files and FLAC files in the selected folder. If not MMH will show an error dialog and you must add or remove video or FLAC files to correct the issue

tр	ut: MKV 🔻					
	MKV File Name	MKV Video	FLAC File Name	FLAC Audio	Add Folder	
	01. Intro.mkv	1920x1080	01. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Intro.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	02. Workin' For MCA.mkv	1920x1080	02. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Workin' For MCA.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	03. Skynyrd Nation.mkv	1920x1080	03. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Skynyrd Nation.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz	Remove	
	04. What's Your Name.mkv	1920x1080	04. Lynyrd Skynyrd - What's Your Name.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz	Clear List	
	05. That Smell.mkv	1920x1080	05. Lynyrd Skynyrd - That Smell.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	06. Travelin' Man.mkv	1920x1080	06. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Travelin' Man.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	07. I Know A Little.mkv	1920x1080	07. Lynyrd Skynyrd - I Know A Little.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	08. Needle And The Spoon.mkv	1920x1080	08. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Needle And The Spoon.f.	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	09. Saturday Night Special.mkv	1920x1080	09. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Saturday Night Special	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	10. Red White & Blue.mkv	1920x1080	10. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Red White & Blue.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	11. The Ballad Of Curtis Loew.mkv	1920x1080	11. Lynyrd Skynyrd - The Ballad Of Curtis L	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	12. Tuesday's Gone.mkv	1920x1080	12. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Tuesday's Gone.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	13. Don't Ask Me No Questions.mkv	1920x1080	13. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Don't Ask Me No Questi	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	14. Simple Man.mkv	1920x1080	14. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Simple Man.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	15. Gimme Three Steps.mkv	1920x1080	15. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Gimme Three Steps.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	16. Call Me The Breeze.mkv	1920x1080	16. Lynyrd Skynyrd - Call Me The Breeze.flac	6Ch 24/48kHz		
	✓ Record 1 of 19					

The dialog then displays the matching file names and shows the MKVs video resolution and the FLAC files audio information as shown above.

## To merge the file pairs:

First select the 'Output' file type option at top left (either MKV or MP4) then:

Click: Merge Files

**NOTE:** Converting to MP4 is slower than converting to MKV.

MMH now merges each pair and makes the new FLAC audio stream the MKVs default audio stream (i.e. This is the audio stream that will be played back by default).

The original source MKV video and audio tracks remain unaltered. This tool just adds the FLAC stream and makes it the default stream. You can always playback the original audio stream(s) by selecting other streams during playback.

# Extract Audio from MKV, MKA & M4A files:

# **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Split an MKV or MKA file containing High Resolution Audio into lossless FLAC, M4A, WAV, MKV, MKA or MP4 files (multichannel and lossless DTS-HDMA, TrueHD and Atmos supported and any sample rate including 24/192kHz from BD ripped to MKV/MKA and DTS 96/24 from DVDV ripped to MKV/MKA)
- Automatically Rename and Tag the FLAC, M4A, WAV, MKV, MKA and MP4 output files based on Artist and Album lookup to MusicBrainz online database or manual tag editing.
- For JRiver users, optionally create JRiver XML sidecar files to add tags for MKV files (if output is set to MKV)
- Convert multiple M4A files to MKA or FLAC files (drag and drop multiple M4A files onto the grid)
- Extract to Native audio files from Dolby TrueHD, Dolby Digital Plus etc and DTS-HDMA and DTS streams

**NOTE:** Users should always select their desired Output audio file format from the Output dropdown PRIOR to adding any files as this tool immediately converts on file loading.

**NOTE:** If you select multiple MKV, MKA or M4A files in the Open MKV/MKA File browser MMH will extract the audio for all files selected in batch mode, however, in this 'multiple input file mode' MMH will not split the input files into chapters. With Multiples selected each file is converted to the selected output format.

This tool also supports dragging multiple MKV, MKA and M4A files onto the grid from the Windows File Explorer. If you drag and drop M4A files with tags the tags auto-loaded into the grid to save into the output files (e.g converting M4A to FLAC).

**NOTE:** M4A is a MPEG container that can hold lossless audio and special codecs such as Atmos and can be tagged and used in Kodi's Music Library and some other media players.

NOTE: Dragging multiple files onto the grid will also perform other conversions like convert wav to FLAC

If selecting a single MKV/MKA file it should contain chapters and at least one Audio stream. This tool automatically uses the only audio stream to extract to FLAC if the MKV contains just a single audio stream, otherwise the user is asked to select which audio stream to use to create the output files.

If you select MKV or MP4 as the output MMH copies both the video and the selected Audio stream to the output MKV or MP4 files.

**NOTE:** MPA and M4A files do not support PCM streams. PCM streams are converted to FLAC if output is MPEG format.

Extract Audio from MKV/MKA dialog description:

Click 'Extract Audio from MKV' from the Launcher dialog.

This displays the Extract Audio from MKV Tool dialog:

Split MKV/MKA into chapte Preferences Get Tags from	ers and Create Aud Musicbrainz Edit	io files. Convert M t Selected Tags	1 <b>4A files.</b> Remove T	rack   Clear Li	st					-	οx
Open MKV/MKA/M4A File	Output: M4A	<ul> <li>Audio Stream</li> </ul>				Status:					
I Current Filename	Proposed New	Title	Artist	Album	AlbumArtist  Y.	Gen Com  D	T Track		Disc		
							Ð				

**BEFORE** opening your input MKV or MKA file, first select the Audio Output format (FLAC, M4A, WAV, MKV, MKA or MP4) from the Output dropdown list at top left, the default is FLAC.

You can then go ahead and select your MKV or MKA file using the tool menu (highlighted above at top left):

Click: 'Open MKV/MKA File' (NOTE: You can also drag MKV & MKA input file(s) from Windows File Explorer into this tool's grid)

The next screen shot shows a File Selection dialogue used to select the MKV file:

Please select your MKV/MKA file to split into Audio files or Multiple MKV/M	KA/N	M4A files to convert to au	dio files			×
← → → ↑ 📘 → This PC → Local Disk (C:) → Working →	IN	IXS - Kick 30		Enter text to search		م
🦰 New Folder						∎≡≡ ◄
V 💻 This PC		Name	<ul> <li>Date modified</li> </ul>	Туре	Size	
> 📑 3D Objects		🛓 INXS - Kick_t00.mkv	5/07/2022 3:19 PM	MKV Video File (VLC)		4,888,310 KB
> Part						
> Contraction Cont						
> Uownloads						
> J Music						
> Pictures						
> 🚦 Videos						
Local Disk (C:)						
Endew volume (D:)     Endew volume (D:)						
Crucial (F:)						
> 👝 Working 980 Pro (G:)						
> _ Google Drive (H:)						
File Name: INXS - Kick_t00.mkv	-	Matroska & .m4a Files(*.N	1KV;*.MKA;*.M	Oper	1	Cancel

**NOTE:** If the MKV file is named in the format: **Artist - Album** then MMH will automatically place the Album Artist and Album in the Album Tags text boxes on the right of this dialog.

MMH will pop up the 'Select Audio Stream' dialog, allow you to choose which audio stream to convert to your already selected Output format (FLAC or WAV) or stream to copy to M4A, MKV, MKA or MP4 output files:

1	Sele	ct Audio Stream	
		Double-Click to	) Select
		Audio Stream	Channels
	•	Atmos (16Ch)/TrueHD (8Ch) 24/48kHz (Lossless)	Front: L C R, Side: L R, Back: L R, LFE
		Dolby Digital (6Ch) 16/48kHz (Lossy)	Front: L C R, Side: L R, LFE
		PCM (Stereo) 16/48kHz	Front: L R
			Select

Go ahead and *double-click* on the Audio Stream.

**NOTE:** If you select an Atmos stream its TrueHD 7.1 core lossless stream will be used. If you select a DTS:X stream its core lossless DTS-HDMA stream will be used. Atmos and DTS:X are object based audio streams, FLAC is limited to 8 channels and furthermore, there is no direct relationship between 'objects' and 'channels'. You can playback Atmos or DTS:X in MKV, MP4 and M4A file as well as Matroska audio (MKA) files. You may wish to convert Atmos/DTS:X audio using MMH's 'Convert MKV to MKA' tool.

After selecting an MKV file, MMH processes the MKV, splitting into chapters and converting the selected audio track to FLAC. The output audio files a saved to the same folder as your source MKV or MKA file(s) selected.

When completed the dialogue will contain all the chapters (output files) as seen in the next figure:

Pre	Split MKV/MKA into ( ferences Get Tags	chapt from	ers and Cr Musicbra	reate Aud ainz Edit	io files. Coi t Selected	nvert M Tags	14A file Remo	s. ve Trac	k Clear L	ist										- [	
	Open MKV/MKA/M4A I	File	Output:	M4A	- Using: /	Atmos	(16Ch)	/TrueHD	(8Ch) 24/4	8kHz (L	ossless	) (Default)									
	I Current Filename	Pro	posed New	v Name	Title		Artist	Album	AlbumArt	Year	Genre	Comment	Duration	Track	Track	- of		Disc	- o	f -	
Þ	Output-01.m4a	01.	Chapter	01.m4a	Chapter	r 01							02:20.941		Titla						
	Output-02.m4a	02.	Chapter	02.m4a	Chapter	r 02							03:39.320		IIUE						
	Output-03.m4a	03.	Chapter	03.m4a	Chapter	r 03							05:14.549		Artist						
	Output-04.m4a	64.	Chapter	04.m4a	Chapter	r 04							03:02.015	4	∆lbum						
	Output-05.m4a	05.	Chapter	05.m4a	Chapter	r 05							02:35.557		Cibain						
	Output-06.m4a	06.	Chapter	06.m4a	Chapter	r 06							03:36.150		Album Artist						
	Output-07.m4a	07.	Chapter	07.m4a	Chapter	r 07							03:10.491		Year	-	Genre				
	Output-08.m4a	08.	Chapter	08.m4a	Chapter	r 08							03:04.919		1 201						
	Output-09.m4a	<b>0</b> 9.	Chapter	09.m4a	Chapter	r 09							03:17.799		Comments						
	Output-10.m4a	10.	Chapter	10.m4a	Chapter	r 10							03:12.359	10	Disc Title						
	Output-11.m4a	11.	Chapter	<b>11.m4</b> a	Chapter	r 11							03:03.517	11							
	Output-12.m4a	12.	Chapter	12.m4a	Chapter	r 12							03:32.647	12	Remixed						
															Album Art						
															Ð						
																		No Cove	r		
		<i>c</i>																			
	Paste Track Titles list	from	clipboard	Pla	ау				Stop Pr			save Cue	Tag & Re	name							

Page 89 of 151

HINT: You can select any file (row) in the grid and click: Play to listen/view the file. This is sometimes useful when auto renaming files in the next section as often a video release has additional chapters such as Intro and credits. Playing the first and last chapter files is always useful.

**NOTE:** MMH now supports converting MKV and M4A files to FLAC without splitting the MKV selected by chapters. So now this tool allows you to select multiple MKV (or M4A) files (concerts or albums already split into chapter files). If you select multiple MKVs, MMH now pops up a dialog:



If you answer 'Yes', MMH creates an audio file for each MKV (or M4A) file from the selected MKV audio stream (or if the input files are M4A or the MKV has only one audio stream it automatically selects it).

## **Extract Audio Preferences:**

There are four preference settings that the Extract Audio from MKV tool uses. These Preferences are accessed via the Preferences tool bar button, which pops up the Preferences dialog:



**FLAC Compression Level:** This sets the FLAC Compression Level. Only takes effect if a FLAC output is selected in the Extract Audio from MKV tool dialog.

**Use 16 bit for Dolby Digital Plus to FLAC/WAV:** With this checked conversions from DD+ to FLAC or WAV will be 16 bit. If not checked 24 bit FLAC and WAV files are created. (DD+ appears to be bit depthless)

**Create/Update JRiver XML tagging files for MKVs:** Only takes effect if a MKV or MKA output is selected in the Extract Audio from MKV tool dialog. This should only be enabled if you are using JRiver as your MKV/MKA playback device. With this enabled, MMH creates a JRiver sidecar xml file for each MKV/MKA file created containing the tags in the Extract Audio from MKV tool's grid view (either manually entered or from the Musicbrainz online music database lookup). The JRiver sidecar xml files are imported into the JRiver music view when your new MKV/MKA files are imported by JRiver, affectively auto tagging the new MKV/MKA files.

Tag MKV files: MKV/MKA files are tagged during conversion. Most playback devices do not read Matroska tags.

**Use Musicbrainz first Release Year:** The 3<sup>rd</sup> setting controls the MusicBrainz release Year used. Enabled it uses the first release date of the album, disabled it's the date of the release you select. An example is Abbey Road: Its first

release was 1969 but the blu-ray audio was released in 2019. Some users prefer the original release date for the album, others prefer the actual disc release date.

**Show First Musicbrainz Genre Only:** Enables users to only set the Genre to the first genre listed for the current album when doing a Musicbrainz lookup. If this preference is not enabled and there are multiple genres found the genre is filled with a semi-colon delimited list (example: Classic Rock; Jazz Rock; etc). Of course, this text can also be edited manually in the dialog's genre textbox.

# **Tagging Files - Overview**:

All existing tags for each loaded file are displayed in the file's grid row. These can be freely edited on a cell-by-cell basis (which saves the changes directly to each media file), or users can edit tags in the MMH 'Tag Editor' control on the right side of this dialog. Tags can also be edited in batch using MMH's Musicbrainz online database lookup or by copying a list of track names from a text file or from a web page.

Tags from the grid cells are saved to each file by:

- Editing in a grid cell immediately the cell is exited (e.g. Tab key or mouse click on another cell)
- Clicking either the 'Tag & Rename' command button

When the 'Tag & Rename' command button is used, MMH saves all grid tags for all files in the grid if there is only one album (folder) in the grid. If there are multiple folders (albums) in the grid MMH saves all tags for all files BUT only for the selected rows (files).

**HINT**: Use the normal Windows selection methods to select rows (CTRL+A for all, CTRL+Click, SHIFT+Click for multiples). Each folder name row has a 'Select Files' button on its right which selects all rows for that folder.

The dialog's 'Tag & Rename' command button saves the grid tags to each media file:

- If only one folder (album) is loaded in the grid, saves tags to all files for the folder
- If multiple folders (albums are loaded in the grid saves tags to all files by folder (album) if the row (file) is selected

# The Tag Editor control:

The Tag Editor always displays the tags from the current grid row (figure on left) or tags for all the selected rows (figure on right):

	Tag Editor:		Tag Editor:
Track	1 of 10 Disc 1 of 2	Track	[mv] - of 10 Disc 1 of 2
Title	Speak to Me	Title	[multiple values] -
Artist	Pink Floyd	Artist	Pink Floyd
Album	The Dark Side of the Moon (5.1)	Album	The Dark Side of the Moon (5.1)
Album Artist	Pink Floyd	Album Artist	Pink Floyd
Year	1972 Genre Progressive Rock	Year	1972 Genre Progressive Rock
Comments	From Immersion Bluray 5.1 track	Comments	From Immersion Bluray 5.1 track
Disc Title		Disc Title	
Remixed		Remixed	
Album Art		Album Art	
	543 x 543 20.7KB		543 x 543 20.7KB

When displaying tags for multiple rows (files) if all the tag values for each file's tag are identical the tag textbox shows that value (see Artist tag in right figure). If the all the values are not identical the tag shows '[multiple values' (or '[mv] if the text box is small – see Track tag) and the textbox becomes a dropdown list which list all the unique values for that tag.

Users can edit any tag in the Tag Editor. Any changes are saved to the selected grid rows when a user clicks the 'Tag & Rename' dialog button:

- If only one row is selected, just that row's tags are updated in the grid.
- With multiple rows selected, the 'Tag' buttons saves all tags (except those with values '[multiple values' or '[mv]') to all selected rows in the grid.

**IMPORTANT:** The Tag Editor does not save tags to media file(s). To save to tags to media files use the 'Tag & Rename' or 'Tag Only' button at bottom of the main dialog.

#### Album Cover Art:

The Tag Editor control displays existing embedded cover art (if any). The 'Plus' button allows are user to select a cover art file via a file browser ('folder.jpg' or cover.jpg' only). The 'cross' button removes cover art.

# Tagging Tracks from Musicbrainz (online music database):

Once the MKV conversion to FLAC files is completed, you can now search for the album details by manually entering the Album Artist and Album text boxes (if they have not already been added) and click: 'Find' to get do a search for the album on the MusicBrainz online music database server.

**NOTE:** Please ensure you have the EXACT artist and album names. In MMH 4.0.11 the album name search was changed to a 'fuzzy search' so album names don't have to be an exact match, example: Division Bell vs. The Division Bell.

**NOTE:** If there is more than one matching 'Album Artist' name found in the Musicbrainz database, MMH will ask you to select the correct artist from the Album Artist pop-up list. Once selected MMH will then search for your selected Album Name by the Album Artist chosen.

If you enter valid names the 'Releases' list will be populated with all known releases. Click on any release to see its track names.

If the selected release (from the Releases list) contains multiple discs, MMH displays a Disc list on the left. Selecting a Disc updates the Track List to the selected disc. If a single disc release the Disc list is not displayed.

You can also manually edit the track list by clicking 'Copy Track Titles to Edit'. This opens a new dialog with free form editing of all the text. You can also copy txt into that dialog.

Artist, Album, Year, Genre and Comment values from the text boxes are used for tagging the audio files.

The next screenshot shows the Extract Audio from MKV dialogue after a MusicBrainz search has located the album. The selected Release is populated into the grid views tag fields after the 4<sup>th</sup> disc in the release is selected from the Discs list (The selected release was a 4 disc set):

🧾 MusicBrainz Tag	ging					×
Album Artist:	INXS				Find	
Album Name:	Kick 30					
Releases:	Kick Kick Kick Kick 30 Kick 30		2017 LP   2018 2xViny]   N/A CD   1987 3xDigit   2017 3xCD B]	: al Medi Lu-ray	a	
	Kick 30		2017 CD			
Album Informa	tion					
Year:	1987					
Genre:	Alternative Rock				Genre	
Track List:	Guns in the Sky					
Discs 1 CD 2 CD 3 CD 4 Blu-ray	New Sensation Devil Inside Need You Tonight Mediate The Loved One Wild Life Never Tear Us Apart Mystify	t				
No. of Tracks:	Calling All Nation					
32	Tiny Daggers Copy Track Titles to E	dit				
🗸 Use MusicBrai	nz First Release Year	Close	Copy Tags	Show #	Artwork>>	

**NOTE**: When tagging from MusicBrainz MMH will tag MusicBrainz IDs for: AlbumArtist, Album and ReleaseGroup used by Kodi's music library. You can view these tag values by adding these columns to the tagging grid *(right-click* on a column header and click: 'Column Chooser'. There are also columns for DiscNo and DiscTitle used by Kodi to group multi disc releases in the Kodi UI.

To copy the selected release's data (including disc and track names) simply click: 'Copy Tags'. The Musicbrainz dialog will close, and all the data will be copied to the grid's tag columns.

**NOTE:** The 'Copy Track Titles to Edit' button will copy all the tracks titles in the Track List to the MMH Track Editor dialog. This dialog allows to add/remove tracks and edit the titles and is described in the <u>next section</u>.

## **Copying all the Track Titles from the clipboard for editing:**

Sometimes the Musicbrainz lookup will not find the release (maybe it doesn't yet exist in the database, or you search names entered aren't a close enough match to find the entry). In this case you can copy a list of track name from a text list.

If you do not already have a list of all the titles that you can copy, use your favourite web browser, search for your Concert or Album in Google, find a web page that lists the songs, select all the list text and 'copy' (CTRL-C) to your clipboard.

The next figure shows a webpage from Discogs where a mouse was dragged over the track list (ready to copy):

💋 The Beatles - Abbey Road | Relea 🗙 🕂

← → C 🔒 discogs.com/The-Beatles-Abbey-Road/master/24047

March 1	The Beatl	es – Abbey Road
	Genre:	Rock
	Style:	Pop Rock
SA INA	Year:	1969
XXXX	Notes:	Released originally in 1969, the 2019 50 years anniversary editions have the same basic artwork but contain a remix/remaster of the album and the arrangements do differ from the original album.

More Images

#### Tracklist

Come Together	4:21
Something	3:03
Maxwell's Silver Hammer	3:27
Oh! Darling	3:27
Octopus's Garden	2:51
I Want You (She's So Heavy)	7:47
Here Comes The Sun	3:05
Because	2:46
You Never Give Me Your Money	4:02
Sun King	2:27
Mean Mr. Mustard	1:06
Polythene Pam	1:13
She Came In Through The Bathroom Window	1:57
Golden Slumbers	1:32
Carry That Weight	1:37
The End	2:20
Her Majesty	0:23

After highlighting (selecting) the track list press CTRL-C to copy the selected text to your clipboard

If you do have the titles already in a file then open the file, select all the track list text and 'copy' (CTRL-C) to your clipboard.

**HINT:** Sometimes the published concert Track List does not include the introduction chapter or the credits chapter, so sometimes the number of chapters (hence the number of chapter files) is not the same as the number of track list songs. In this case you may wish to first copy your clipboard selection to a temporary text file and manually add an intro at the beginning and/or credit at the end. You can remove the first and/or last chapters from the Rename dialog's list by selecting the file and clicking 'Remove'. Once you have your updated Track List copy that to your clipboard and you are ready to continue.

Now click: 'Paste from clipboard' command in the main Rename dialog:

This will pop up the **MMH Track Editor**:

**NOTE**: If you use the Musicbrainz Tagging dialog its 'Copy Track Titles to Edit' button copies the Track List tags to this Track Editor.

Click: 'Paste Track Titles from Clipboard' from the Tracks Editors toolbar and the text is copied from Discogs is pasted, but in this example, it also includes the track length:

Track Text Editor	
Remove Paste Track Titles from Clipboard	
Remove Leading Numbers	
Remove Trailing Numbers 7	
Remove Text (below)	
User Text: 7:47	
Because 2:46 You Never Give Me Your Money 4:02 Sun King 2:27 Mean Mr. Mustard 1:06 Polythene Pam 1:13 She Came In Through The Bathroom Window 1:57 Golden Slumbers 1:32 Carry That Weight 1:37 The End 2:20 Her Majesty 0:23	
Copy Tracks Cancel	

To remove the track lengths, use the Track Text Editor's Remove menu option 'Remove Trailing Numbers' as shown above. This removes the unwanted trailing numbers:

Track Text	Editor		
Remove	Paste Track Titles from	Clipboard	
Come To Somethi Maxwell Oh! Dar Octopus I Want Here Col Because You Nev Sun Kin Mean Mr Polythe She Cam Golden Carry T The End Her Maj	gether ng 's Silver Hammer ling 's Garden You (She's So Heav mes The Sun er Give Me Your Mo g . Mustard ne Pam e In Through The B Slumbers hat Weight esty	y) oney Wathroom Window	▲ ▼
		Copy Tracks	Cancel

Click: 'Copy Tracks' to update the titles and proposed new file names.

# **Renaming Files**:

You can rename all the files in the grid at any time using the 'Tag & Rename' button at the bottom right of the dialog.

MMH always uses the value of the 'Proposed New Name' cell for each file name. This value is automatically updated by MMH using the row's Disc, Track and Title tag cells using the format:

Disc.Track. Title - example: 1.01. Speak to Me

If the Disc tag is empty or 0 the Disc number is ignored, and the format used for the filename is: **Track. Title** - example: 01. Speak to Me

**NOTE**: There is an Application Global Preference to append the track's Artist name. Example: 01. Pink Floyd – Speak to Me

**NOTE:** For Music Concert videos in MKV files in Kodi only the File Name (based on the song title) is required to generate NFO files for the Kodi Music Video library. All other tags are ignored by Kodi in the Kodi Video library. However, you can add MP4 music video files to the Kodi Music library by tagging the MP4 files and including the files in a Kodi Music source (just like for Kodi music (audio-only) files.

**NOTE:** MMH will automatically check for illegal characters in the proposed new file names (characters that are not allowed in Windows file names). If any exist, you will be warned and shown which new file names need to be edited.

# **Renumbering Tracks and Files**:

Sometimes you may wish to auto-renumber the album/concert tracks or add a Disc Number prefix to all the files in a folder to help breakdown a large compilation or music concert or create your own compilation of music files and you want to renumber tracks.

The toolbar command: **Renumber Files** will automatically update the Track number for all selected rows in the grid using the current grid sort order (default sort is the Original File Name). The first row (file) will be 1 and all other selected files will be incremented. Renumbering files will auto update the proposed new file name.

MMH's normal file naming is in the form shown below with a two-digit track prefix added: Track. Title - example: 01. My Track's Title.flac (for Track 1)

**NOTE**: There is an Application Global Preference to append the track's Artist name to the file name. Example: 01. Pink Floyd – Speak to Me

**NOTE:** MMH uses a two-digit track prefix if the number of files in the grid < 100. If the number of tracks in the grid >99, MMH uses a 3-digit track prefix (example for > 100 files: 001. My Track's Title.flac)

## **Disc Numbering:**

Setting the 'Disc No' in the toolbar (to the right of the Renumber Files command) adds a disc prefix to the file name: Disc.Track. Title - example: 1.01. My Track's Title.flac (for disc 1, Track 1)

# **Resample Audio Files:**

# **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Resample Audio (e.g. Resample 96kHz to 48kHz, Resample 48kHz to 96kHz etc)
- Resample Audio (e.g. 16 bit to 24bit) (or a combination or sample rate and bit depth)
- Supports FLAC and WAV files (mono, stereo and multichannel)
- Supports batch and recursive resampling of multiple files/folders

Resampling using this dialog uses the 'Output (Resampled) Option' you set at bottom. You can set the pulldown list to either:

- **Overwrite** This option overwrites your selected source files with updated files
- **Remix Folder (Under Source)** This option auto creates a folder under the selected input files named 'Remixed', the resampled files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the source files.
- User Defined Folder This option requires a user to set selected an existing folder with the 'Output Folder' browse button. MMH will auto create a subfolder under the Output Folder with the same name as the source file's folder name, the resampled files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the source files. (Typically, file folders are named as the album name).

if you do not want the selected source files to be overwritten you must choose any Output option but 'Overwrite'.

#### **Resample Files dialog description:**

Click 'Resample' from the Launcher dialog.

This displays the Resample Files dialog:

🔊 ReSample (Stereo or MCH files)					—	
Resample any Stereo or Multichannel file	e (flac or wav)					
Media File Name	Type Folder	Artist	Album	Title	Rate	Add Sub Folders
						Add Folder
						Add Files
						Clear List
						Parallel Processing:
						Processes: 4 🗘
Status: Ready			Resampl	e to: 📃 👻 kHz	✓ bit	
Output Folder (optional):		Brow	se Output (Resampled) Op	tion:		

#### Adding Files to resample:

You can use the command buttons on the right:

Add Sub Folders	Recursively adds all supported audio files in all folders under the selected folder
Add Folder	Adds all supported audio files in the selected folder
Add Files	Adds selected file(s)

**To Resample audio** simply select the 'Resample to' rate from the dropdown list (at bottom) and bit depth if you want it changed. If bit depth is not set, then bit depth is not changed during resampling.

If down-sampling to 16-bit MMH uses dither (Triangular probability density function). This tool uses Sox.

# **Concurrent File Processing:**

MMH can process multiple files concurrently to enable faster batch processing. Users can set the Parallel Processing option to set the maximum number of concurrent files to process using the 'Processes' numeric input box.

Initially MMH looks at the number of processors on your PC and enters a recommended value. However, this is not the only system function in the decision. The other is the type and speed of your Output drive. Fast drives (SSDs) can easily handle 8 concurrent files but for slow USB hard drives (particularly USB 2.0) probably only support 2 concurrent files is recommended. Testing has shown USB 3.0 hard drives can do 4 ok. NVME SSD drives 16.

After setting 'Processes'

# To process and resample all files in the grid:

Click: 'Convert'

MMH will process all selected files in the grid based on the option chosen.

# **Channel Volume:**

This tool is typically used to change the channel balance in multichannel files to permanently change the perceived surround effect. For example, many surround releases have reduced volume in rears or LFE channel is low/high etc. Balancing channel gain (volume) can drastically improve the perceived surround effect on many releases.

Channel Volume shows each channel's Peak and RMS levels and can display a media file's waveform in the MMH Waveform dialog. All files can be played in both the Channel Volume dialog and the Waveform dialog, either all channels or selected channels: single channels (mono) or groups of front or rear channels for multichannel files.

## **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- View channel audio statistics related to volume (Peak and RMS levels) for most media files
- Change Channel Gain (Volume) for channels (in a FLAC or WAV files only)
- Supports mono, stereo & multichannel files (with up to 8 channels for FLAC & 12 channels for WAV)
- Playing all channels or selected channels only
- View Dynamic Range (DR) metered data (calculates DR from various audio and video files)
- Saves a DR file with optional Channel Audio Stats if an Album folder is loaded (use 'Add Folder')
- Update individual files or all files loaded in a batch for channel Gain values entered
- Auto calculate gain required to set C, LFE and surround channels relative to Fronts
- Apply Peak Limiting (implemented as a 'Soft Limiter' with compression of loudest peaks)
- Apply Normalisation
- Load and update single or multiple files, or all files in a selected folder (e.g. an album's music files)
- View multichannel wave forms, including playback of all or selected channels
- Supports DR and waveform viewing for: FLAC, WAV, M4A, DSF, MKA, MP4 and MKV files (only Default Audio stream from MKV files if more than 1 audio stream)

# **Channel Volume dialog description:**

The Channel Volumes tool can be opened from the MMH Launcher dialog or from the Penteo Update tool dialog.

When the Channel Volumes tool is started from the Launcher this dialog pops up:

🔰 Ed	it Channel	Volume	e (Gain	)																				—		$\times$
Prefer	ences																									
	1		2		3	4	5	6		7		8		9		10		11	12	2	13	14-	+	DR Scal	5	
Targ																								Add f	Folder	
let G																								Add	Files	
ain:																								Cle		
																								Parallel Pr	ocessi	ng
																								Processes	s: 4	¢
	Output	Folder						Bro	wse	Out	put (R	lemixe	ed) Op	tion:	Overw	rite So	ource F	Files		Co	py First f			Apply Gai	n (All)	

**NOTE:** When the Channel Volumes tool is used for the first time the 'Output File Location' will be empty. You should set the pulldown list to 'Remix Folder (Under Source)' if you do not want the selected source files to be overwritten. This option auto creates a folder under the selected input files named 'Remixed', the updated files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging as the input files.

To select your working files: Either:

Click: [Add Folder] button to select all the supported media files in the selected folder (multiple folder selection is supported)

Or

Click: [Add Files] button to select individual files (HINT: you can use the CTRL key and SHIFT keys to select multiple)

A dialog will pop-up allowing selection of a folder(s) or file(s).

Once selected, all files in a folder or each file selected is loaded into the Channel Volumes dialog after audio data is read from each file (Peak, RMS and Dynamic Range – The DR is colour coded based on the loudness war databases recommended range: https://dr.loudness-war.info/). If all the files loaded are from the same Source album folder, MMH also displays the album folder's files average overall DR (shown at bottom right) – double click on this to view the DR report file created.

**NOTE:** MMH calculates the track DR by averaging the DR for each channel but ignoring channels with near silent Peaks. This eliminates incorrect DR calculations where channels are abnormally quiet (do not impact listening) or 'silent' channels with low level hum or 'silent' channels with 'spikes' (e.g. SACD/DSF converted to PCM)

📑 🔰 Edit (	Channel Volume (G	Gain)									– 🗆 X
Preferen	ces										
	1 2	3	4	5	6	7 8	9	10 11	12	13 14+	DR Scale
Tar	File: K:\Music\	Surround\B	eck - Sea Cl	hange (BDA)	\01. The Go	lden Age.flac					Add Folder
get (	192kHz/24 bit	FL	FR	C	LFE	SL	SR	▶ 🖽 🔳 �			Add Files
Gain	Peak (db)	-1.74	-1.71	-7.19	-16.19	-4.18	-5.21	DR13			Clear
	RMS (db)	-20.02	-20.25	-25.81	-36.36	-23.22	-22.79				
	Gain (db)	0.0 🗘	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	Apply Gain			
	File: K:\Music\	Surround\B	eck - Sea Cl	hange (BDA)	\02. Paper 1	īger.flac					
	192kHz/24 bit	FL	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	▶ 🖽 🔳 �			
	Peak (db)	-0.22	-0.35	-6.21	-16.01	-4.68	-4.71				
	RMS (db)	-16.31	-16.39	-28.27	-33.56	-22.49	-21.75	DR11			
	Gain (db)	0.0 🗘	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 📜	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	Apply Gain			
	File: K:\Music\	Surround\B	eck - Sea Cl	hange (BDA)	\03. Guess I	l'm Doing Fin	e.flac				
	192kHz/24 bit	FL	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	🕨 🖽 🔳 🍫			DR12
	Peak (db)	-1.62	-1.73	-7.57	-16.95	-3.94	-3.89				
	RMS (db)	-19.49	-20.27	-26.09	-34.20	-24.95	-24.38	DR13			Parallel Processing
	Gain (db)	0.0 🗘	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 🗘	0.0 🗘	Apply Gain			Processes: 4 ‡
	Output Folder (op	otional):			Browse	Output (Rem	nixed) Option:	Overwrite Source Files	~ Co	py First File Gain	Apply Gain (All)

Each file's channel volume statistics are displayed (grouped by file). The file name is shown in the file control header.

**NOTE:** If you load many files this dialog allows you to scroll up/down to view all the file's volume statistics by using the scroll on right of the statistics data). When loading multiple files, a progress bar will appear during processing.

To change a channel's volume, either enter a new value in the channel Gain text box or click the up/down button in the text box to increase/decrease the Gain value in 0.5db increments.

**NOTE:** Increasing volume is a positive Gain value, decreasing volume is a negative Gain value. All values are relative to a Peak value of 0db. (zero is the maximum level of for channels)

You can change the Gain for any number of channels. Files with all channels Gain set to 0db are ignored when changes are Applied (no changes made to the file).

**Copying Gain settings:** Users copy the Gain values from the first file in the list to all other files be clicking: [Copy First File Gain] button. This feature makes it easier to apply the same Gain adjustments to all the files in an album (files in same folder), example increase the two surround channel volumes by 3.0db and/or increase LFE by 3.0db etc.

# Applying Gain (Saving volume changes to file):

Set the 'Output (Remixed) Option' at bottom of the dialog prior to Saving edited gain (volume to output files. You can set the pulldown list to either:

- **Overwrite** This option overwrites your selected source files with updated files
- **Remix Folder (Under Source)** This option auto creates a folder under the selected input files folder named 'Remixed', the resampled files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the source files.
- User Defined Folder This option requires a user to set selected an existing folder with the 'Output Folder' browse button. MMH will auto create a subfolder under the Output Folder with the same name as the source file's folder name, the resampled files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the source files. (Typically, file folders are named as the album name).

if you do not want the selected source files to be overwritten you must choose anything but 'Overwrite'.

To Save the files with updated volumes (gain) either:

For an individual file: Click [Apply Gain] on the right of the file's statistics data.

For All the files in the list: Click [Apply Gain (All Files)] at the bottom of the dialog.

**NOTE:** If the 'Overwrite' output option is used, MMH will update the file's volume statistics after the new Gain has been applied. The stats are updated just after the file is saved.

**NOTE:** A *double-click* action on a file Channel Volume control's 'Gain (db)' label will reset all channel gains in that file control to zero. (Just the gain value in the control, not in the file).

## **Concurrent File Processing:**

MMH can process multiple files concurrently to enable faster batch processing. Users can set the Parallel Processing option to set the maximum number of concurrent files to process using the 'Processes' numeric input box.

Initially MMH looks at the number of processors on your PC and enters a recommended value. However, this is not the only system function in the decision. The other is the type and speed of your Output drive. Fast drives (SSDs) can easily handle 8 concurrent files but for slow USB hard drives (particularly USB 2.0) probably only support 2 concurrent files is recommended. Testing has shown USB 3.0 hard drives can do 4 ok. NVME SSD drives 16.

# **The Channel Player:**

At the right of each file control there is a Channel Player control. This allows playback and viewing waveforms:



The four buttons, from left to right:

- Play Plays all channels
- Play by Group This is a dropdown list of channel groups: All, Front (stereo), Fronts (all), Rears only
- Stop Stops playback
- Waveforms Opens the MMH Waveforms viewer dialog

Any time after a file is added to this dialog users can play a file by clicking the 'Play' button. This plays from the start of the file.

Users can play a 'channel group' (e.g. Fronts only or Rears only) by selecting an option from the 'Play by Group' button.

NOTE: Users can play a single (isolated) channel by *double-clicking* on a channel name (e.g. FR)

If the player is not playing, any single channel or channel group play action will play from the current play time. If the player is stopped, single and group playback is from the start of the file.

If a user has not yet created a new mix file, any 'Play' will playback the source file. If a user has created a new mixed file (not Overwriting the source), MMH will pop up a dialog asking if it should play the new mixed file or the original source file. This gives users the option to easily play and compare the original vs the new mix with volumes gains applied.

A *double-click* on the DR value will display the file's DR details.

The channel volume control playing will highlight the channels currently playing back. The next figure shows a file after playing the 'Rears only' group:

The Kalmusic	Surround\B	eck - Sea Cl	hange (BDA)	\01. The Go	lden Age.fla	c	
192 kHz/24 bit	FL	FR	C	LFE	SL	SR	▶ 🗄 🔳 �∿
Peak (db) RMS (db)	-1.74 -20.02	-1.71 -20.25	-7.19 -25.81	-16.19 -36.36	-4.18 -23.22	-5.21 -22.79	DR13
Gain (db)	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	0.0 ‡	Apply Gain
File: K:\Music\	Surround\B	eck - Sea Cl	hange (BDA)	\02. Paper 1	Figer.flac		1:32
File: K:\Music\ 192 kHz/24 bit	Surround\B FL	eck - Sea Cl FR	hange (BDA) C	\02. Paper 1 LFE	Figer.flac	SR	1:32
File: K:\Music\ 192 kHz/24 bit Peak (db)	Surround\B FL -0.22	eck - Sea Ch FR -0.35	nange (BDA) C -6.21	\ <b>02. Paper 1</b> LFE -16.01	Figer.flac SL -4.68	<b>SR</b> -4.71	1:32
File: K:\Music\ 192 kHz/24 bit Peak (db) RMS (db)	Surround\B FL -0.22 -16.31	eck - Sea Cl FR -0.35 -16.39	nange (BDA) C -6.21 -28.27	\ <b>02. Paper 1</b> LFE -16.01 -33.56	Figer.flac SL -4.68 -22.49	<b>SR</b> -4.71 -21.75	1:32       DR11

# Automatic Target Gain Calculation:

Users may wish to set a Target Gain for Front, Centre, LFE and/or Rear channels. To do this, after input files are loaded, select the Target Gain menu at top left (3 horizontal lines icon) and simply enter target Gain values in the Target Gain numeric boxes in the Target Gain side panel, then click: 'Calculate Target Gain'.

**NOTE:** MMH calculates the gain required to change RMS volumes of each channel *relative to the front channel volumes*.

In the example below LFE is set to -10db so MMH calculates the gain required to change LFE to -10db below the current Front channel volume. For Rears MMH calculates the gain required to make the surrounds -3db below Front channels.

The next screen shot shows Target Gain entered for LFE and Rears after 'Calculate Target Gain' showing MMH has entered Gain values for each Target channel to achieve the Target Gain settings:

🤰 Edit Channe											- 🗆 X
1	2	3	4	5	6	7 8	9	10 11	12	13 14+	DR Scale
		ound\B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	01. The Go	den Age.flac					Add Folder
Target Gain:	:	L	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR				
Front:	-1.0 📜	74	-1 71	-7 19	-16 19	_4 18	-5 21				Add Files
C to Front:	0.0 Ĵ	0.02	-20.25	-25.81	-36.36	-23.22	-22.79	DR13			Clear
LFE to Front:	-10.0 📜	3.7	0.9 *	0.0 <sup>+</sup>	7.1 *	1.9 *	1.5 *				
Surround to From	-2 A *	···· •			···· +			Apply Gain			
	-2.0 -		- c c -	(80.4)	02 D7	<b>0</b>					
Target Individ	dual	ouna (B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (bDA)	vz. Paper i	iger.nac					
		L	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	ا 🕨 🔣 🕨			
Calculate	e Target Gain	.22	-0.35	-6.21	-16.01	-4.68	-4.71				
Disparity Ch	nec <mark>k:</mark>	5.31	-16.39	-28.27	-33.56	-22.49	-21.75	DR11			
F/R:	0.0 🗘	9.8 Ç	-0.7 🗘	0.0 🗘	6.5 🗘	3.4 🗘	2.7 🗘	Apply Gain			
	Check										
		ound\B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	03. Guess I	'm Doing Fin	e.flac				
Peak Limiter	r:	ŧ.	FR	с	LFE	SL	SR				
Apply Limiter		62	1 73	7 67	10.05	2.04	2.80				
Target Minim	num Peak	.02	-1./3	-7.57	-16.95	-3.94	-24 38	DR13			
Target Avera	age Peak	A -	1.2 *	-20.05	5 1 4	3.0 *	3 3 4				
Target User	Defined	2.44 <sub>-</sub>	1.2 -	-0.2 -	5.1 -	3.0 <del>.</del>	3.3 <del>.</del>	Apply Gain			DR12
		sund\P	ack for Ch		04   02050	mo Tonus An					
		pang/B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	(04. Loneso	me rears.na	c				Parallel Processing
Normalisatio	on:	L	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	ۍ 🖿 🖽 🕨			Processes: 4 🗘
Target: -	-1.5 💭	16	_1 29	-8 83	-19 13	-5 28	-4 87				
Calculat	te Norm Gain	I):			Browse	Output (Rem	ixed) Option:	Overwrite Source Files	-	Copy First File Gain	Apply Gain (All)

If the Target Front gain is set to 0db front gain is not changed (except MMH balances to L & R to be same RMS volume). If Target Front gain is set to any value other than 0db MMH first calculates Front gain required to set Front L & R to that absolute Peak value, then calculates the other channels relative to the new Front volumes using the RMS values. MMH attempts to match RMS values in these calculations but always ensures Peak values are not clipped (i.e. Peaks are < 0db).

For channel groups Front (FR and FL) and Rears (Sr, SR; and BL, BR if 7.1) MMH uses the RMS in the calculation and applies balance gain to all channels in the channel group. Users can increase/decrease gain manually on a channelby-channel basis at any time.

## **Option: 'Target Individual Front Channels'**

The checkbox 'Target Individual Front Channels' lets users choose to have Target volumes for Front channels to be same (volume is Left and Right matched) the default with option unchecked. With this option rear channels will be

the same (volume matched). With this option checked, the original L & R front volume difference is maintained, and rears are targeted: SL to FL and SR to Front Right, so volumes more closely match the original source volumes. If the fronts are not same, then rears are not same.

When checked (on) MMH leaves the original Front channel volume difference (if any) and then uses the front left RMS volume as the Target RMS for all rear left channels (1 for 5.1, 2 for 7.1) and front right RMS volume as the Target RMS for all rear right channels. It uses the average front RMS volume as RMS Target for C and LFE channels.

**NOTE:** To maintain volume difference between album tracks it is recommended that user do not set a Front Target Gain (leave at 0db) as setting a Front Target would change all track Fronts to same RMS value which is probably not what the original artist/mixing engineer intended.

**NOTE:** Target Gain Calculation does not change any gain in a file, it only sets the Gain value in the dialog. 'Apply' must be used to update/save volume in each file.

# **Channel Volume Disparity Checking:**

Many surround music enthusiasts like to set rear channels at -3db compared to fronts across many albums to ensure the surround balance between albums is consistent. MMH has a Front/Rear Disparity Check where users can set value (db) and MMH will compare FR with SR and FL with SL RMS values and highlight any surround channels that are greater than the entered value.

To run the Front/Rear Volume Disparity Checker:

First select the Target Gain menu (3 horizontal lines icon) at top left and enter a value in the Disparity Check F/R numeric box on side panel of this dialog.

## Click: 'Check'

If the RMS Volume difference between Front and Rear channels is greater than the value entered MMH highlights the rear channel as shown in next screen shot:

🔰 Edit Channel Vo	olume (Gain)	)									– 🗆 🗙
1	2	3	4	5	6	7 8	9	10 11	12 13 1	4+	DR Scale
		ound\B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	\01. The Gol	den Age.flac					Add Folder
Target Gain:		٦L.	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR				
Front:	-1.0 📜	74	-1 71	-7 19	-16 19	-4 18	-5 21				Add Files
C to Front:	0.0 🗘	3.02	-20.25	-25.81	-36.36	-23.22	-22.79	DR13			Clear
LFE to Front:	-10.0 🗘	).7 📜	0.9 🗘	0.0 🗘	7.1 🗘	1.9 🗘	1.5 ‡	Apply Gain			
Surround to Front:	-2.0 🗘										
Target Individua	d	ound\B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	\02. Paper T	īger.flac					
Front Channels		٦L	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	D 🖽 🔳 🎨			
Calculate Ta	arget Gain	.22	-0.35	-6.21	-16.01	-4.68	-4.71				
Disparity Chec	:k:	5.31	-16.39	-28.27	-33.56			DR11			
F/R: -3.0	9 ‡	9.8 <u>-</u>	-0.7 🗘	0.0 ‡	6.5 🗘	3.4 🗘	2.7 📜	Apply Gain			
c	Check										
Doold Limitory		ound\B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	\03. Guess I	'm Doing Fin	e.flac				
		٦L	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	D 🖽 🔳 🎨			
Apply Limiter		.62	-1.73	-7.57	-16.95	-3.94	-3.89				
Target Minimum	Peak	9.49	-20.27	-26.09	-34.20			DR13			
Target Average	Peak	<b>).4</b> 🗘	1.2 🗘	-0.2 🗘	5.1 🗘	3.8 🗘	3.3 🗘	Apply Gain			
Target User Der	a él										DR12
0.0		ound\B	eck - Sea Ch	ange (BDA)	\04. Loneso	me Tears.fla	с				Parallel Processing
Normalisation:		٦L	FR	С	LFE	SL	SR	▶ □ • •.			Processes: 4 _
Target: -1.	5 ‡	16	-1 29	-8 83	-19 13	-5 28	-4 82				
Calculate N	lorm Gain	I):			Browse	Output (Rem	ixed) Option:	Overwrite Source Files	<ul> <li>Copy First File Ga</li> </ul>	in /	Apply Gain (All)

Page **105** of **151** 

Users can then enter and Apply gain to correct this volume if desired.

#### **Peak Limiter:**

The Channel Volume tool also has a Peak Limiter implemented with a soft peak compressor. In all processing the LFE channel is ignored.

The default Peak Limiter uses the minimum channel peak value as its target loudness, so all channels (except LFE) will have their peaks soft compressed to match the minimum channel's peak value

The optional Average target uses the average peak values for all channels (except LFE) and reduces channels with peaks above the average to the average prior to the limiter being applied.

The third option is for the limiter to use a User Defined peak value as its target peak.

To use the Peak Limiter simply select the 'Peak Limiter' option and one of its 3 sub-options.

#### **Normalisation:**

MMH 6.1.2 added a new Normalisation option. Set a Target first and MMH will for each file find the loudest channel (Peak) and calculate the maximum gain it can apply for the loudest channel to hit the Normalisation Target, then it updates all channel gains with that gain value. This effectively would increase the volume of all channels in the file leaving the channel volume balance identical to the source file.

#### Viewing Multichannel Wave forms:

At any time after a file has been loaded into the MMH Channel Volume tool users can view the file's wave forms my simply clicking on 'View Waveform' for a file. This processes the detailed audio sample data and then displays in a new dialog:



To zoom:

Click on a channel and use your mouse wheel

Or Hold 'CTRL' key and then press either '+' or '-' key

#### The Waveform Channel Player:

At the right of each file control there is a Channel Player control. This allows playback and viewing waveforms:



The three buttons, from left to right:

- Play Plays all channels
- Play by Group This is a dropdown list of channel groups: All, Front (stereo), Fronts (all), Rears only
- Stop Stops playback

Any time after a file is added to this dialog users can play a file by clicking the 'Play' button. This plays from the start of the file.

Users can play a 'channel group' (e.g. Fronts only or Rears only) by selecting an option from the 'Play by Group' button.

**NOTE**: Users can play a single (isolated) channel by *double-clicking* on a channel waveform (e.g. FR)

If the player is not playing, any single channel or channel group play action will play from the current play time. If the player is stopped, single and group playback is from the start of the file.

Users can *double click* during playback to move the play position to the selected time.

## **Channel Volume tool Preferences:**

The Channel Volume dialog's toolbar menu 'Preferences' pops up the Preferences dialog:

Channel Volume Preferences
Auto Save DR file when loading files in Channel Volume tool
Temporary Working Folder (only used if Source file in not WAV or FLAC) - Use fastest drive
Use Windows Default Temp folder (Currently on C: drive)
Folder: Browse
Waveform Processing
Read FLAC samples directly from file
Convert FLAC to temporary WAV file & read WAV (uses Temp Working Folder above)
Display Processing Time (find best setting for above)
Save Cancel

The preference options are:

#### Auto Save DR file when loading files in Channel Volume tool:

If enabled the Volume Channel tool will save a DR file for the file's folder containing DR data.

#### **Temporary Working Folder:**

Enables users to set the MMH temp folder (defaults to the Windows Default temp folder. Some users can improve performance by setting this to their fastest drives (e.g. SATA SSD drive, NVME SSD drive or even a USB 3.1+ SSD drive). If 'Use Windows Default' is disabled, MMH allows users to select any folder on their PC to use as the MMH temp folder.

#### Waveform Processing:

These options have been added for users to set based on their specific PC hardware configuration (96/24 FLAC files are best to test these options):

#### Read FLAC samples directly from file:

For most users this option gives best performance (fastest).

#### **Convert FLAC to temporary WAV file & read WAV** (uses MMH Temp Working Folder above):

For some users with fast SSD drives set as the MMH Temp folder, this may provide better performance.

#### Display Processing Time (find best setting for above):

With this option enabled, MMH will time each waveform creation and report the time elapsed. This allows users to easily test the Waveform Processing options with MMH Temp folder options combinations for same source FLAC file, to find best settings. In normal operation this option should be disabled.
# **Remix Channel Layout:**

## **Functionality:**

•

This tool enables you to do the following remixing of channels within a multichannel interleaved FLAC or WAV file:

- Add new 'silent' channels to Quad (4 channel) files Some AVRs & players do not play pure Quad files)
- Remix 7.1 to 5.1 (some releases are 7.1 only and users have only a 5.1 system)
- Remove a silent centre channel from 5 channel files (make a true quad 4.0 file)
- Remove channels 3 & 4 from a 6-channel file (Remove silent centre and LFE channels from 5.1 files)
- Invert Channel Phase for any channel(s) in a 6 channel (5.1 layout)
  - Define your own Remix channel mapping (User Defined Mapping) and remix selected files:
    - $\circ \quad \text{Remap channel order} \quad$
    - Downmix/remap between files with different number of channels or channel layouts (examples: map 7.1.4 to 5.1.4, 5.1 to stereo etc)

The Remix Channel Layout tool supports > 8 channels for WAV and W64 files only, with most standard layouts supported from stereo to a maximum 24 channels (spatial mixes).

Remixing using this dialog uses the 'Output (Remixed) Option' you set at bottom of the dialog. You can set the pulldown list to either:

- **Overwrite** This option overwrites your selected source files with updated files
- **Remix Folder (Under Source)** This option auto creates a folder under the selected input files named 'Remixed', the remixed files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the source files.
- User Defined Folder This option requires a user to set selected an existing folder with the 'Output Folder' browse button. MMH will auto create a subfolder under the Output Folder with the same name as the source file's folder name, the remixed files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the source files. (Typically, file folders are named with the album name).

**IMPORTANT:** If you do not want your selected source files to be overwritten you must choose anything but 'Overwrite'.

The **standard channel ordering** in a multichannel FLAC or WAV is always:

 Quad:
 LF, RF, SL, SR

 5.0:
 LF, RF, C, SL, SR

 5.1:
 LF, RF, C, LFE, SL, SR

 7.1:
 LF, RF, C, LFE, BL, BR, SL, SR

If you are working with wav files intended for **Dolby Atmos channel based encoding** the Dolby Atmos Encoder uses these channel orders:

16 channel (9.1.6): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lrs, Rrs, Lw, Rw, Lfh, Rfh, Ltm, Rtm, Lrh, Rrh 12 channel (7.1.4): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lrs, Rrs, Lfh, Rfh, Lrh, Rrh 10 channel (5.1.4): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lfh, Rfh, Lrh, Rrh) 8 channel (5.1.2): ): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lrh, Rrh)

**NOTE**: The Dolby Atmos bed 7.1 channel order swaps sides and rears compared to the 'standard' channel order above.

## **Remix Channel Layout dialog description:**

#### Click 'Remix Channel Layout' from the Launcher dialog.

🔊 Remix Audio Channels										×
Remix Multichannel files (flac or wav)										
Add Silent Channel (to Quad files only)	Remove Channel 3 (Silent Centre) (	from 5 Ch files only)	Remix (User Defined) (	(Not set)	Remix 7.1 to 5.1	(from 8 C	h files)	Correct Penter	0 4.1 Channel	Layout
Add Silent C & LFE (to Quad files only)	Remove Channels 3 & 4 (Centre & L	.FE) (from 6 Ch files only)	Invert Phase (6 Ch file	only)	Remix to 6Ch, Re	sample 8	Reencode	Convert DTS F	LAC to PCM F	LAC
Add Silent C (to 5 Ch files files only)	Refresh Silent Channels (Remove&	Recreate) (5 & 6 Ch files)			Resample to:					
Add Silent LFE (to 5 Ch files files only)	Move Ouad Sides to Back (Remix Ou	uad to a 7.1 format file)			FLAC compression:			Expert Mode		
Media File Name Type	e Folder	Artist (tag) A	lbum (tag)	Title (tag)		Rate	Channels	Layout	Add Sub Fo	olders
									Add Fold	der
									Add File	25
									Darallel Dress	
									Processo	a *
									Processes:	4 -
Status: Ready O	Dutput Folder (optional):			Browse	Output (Remixed) (	Option: 0	Overwrite Sour	ce Files 🛛 🛨		

**NOTE:** You must select <u>one</u> of the predefined remix option checkboxes at top before selecting the source files. MMH will only load files that match the channels selected (e.g. 'Add Silent Channel to Quad' will only load the grid with 4 channel files, remix 7.1 to 5.1 will only load 8 channel files, etc). This is to stop a user from attempting to remix files of incorrect channels for the selected remix option.

**To remix channels** simply select one of the predefined remix options from the top checkboxes, then use one of the 'Add' buttons on right.

#### Adding Files to remix:

You can now either:

- 'Add Sub Folders' This recursively adds all audio files in all sub-folders under selected folder
- 'Add Folder' Adds all audio files in selected folder
- 'Add Files' Adds selected file(s) as selected in the file dialog that pops up

MMH will add only files with the appropriate channel count as described earlier.

#### **Concurrent File Processing:**

MMH can process multiple files concurrently to enable faster batch processing. Users can set the Parallel Processing option to set the maximum number of concurrent files to process using the 'Processes' numeric input box.

Initially MMH looks at the number of processors on your PC and enters a recommended value. However, this is not the only system function in the decision. The other is the type and speed of your Output drive. Fast drives (SSDs) can easily handle 8 concurrent files but for slow USB hard drives (particularly USB 2.0) probably only support 2 concurrent files is recommended. Testing has shown USB 3.0 hard drives can do 4 ok. NVME SSD drives 16.

After setting 'Processes'

Select your predefined remix option:

'Remix, Resample and Reencode' (top right of main Remix dialog): You'll need to select the output sample rate and FLAC encoding compression level. If the source files are 4 channel or 5 channel this option automatically remixes to make a 5.1 compatible playback file with silent C and LFE (or Silent LFE) it was a 5.0 source file).

This tool was added for some QQ members who have car surround systems that can only play 5.1 formatted FLAC files at 48kHz and a FLAC Zero compression level.

'Correct Penteo 4.1 Layout': This option is used to fix Penteo upmixes that output a 5.1 file where the C channel contains the LFE and all subsequent channels are 'moved' to wrong channel order. This option inserts a silent C channel and moves all following channels to correct positions.

'Concert DTS FLAC to PCM FLAC': This option decodes DTS encoded streams embedded in a FLAC file to a true PCM/WAV FLAC file.

'Refresh Silent Channels': This option allows easy replacement to existing silent channels. Useful to correctly measure Dynamic Range (DR) for DSF and FLAC files originating from SACD sources where the 'silent channel(s)' have extremely low level noise that the Foobar2000 DR meter sees as a non-silent channel, causing DR calculation error.

'Move Quad Rears to Back': Added for a user that wanted to hear the Quad rear channels in his rear speakers in his 7.1 system (by default Quad rears are played in the side channels).

To process and remix the channels for all files in the grid:

Click: 'Convert'

## To define your own Remix Channel Mapping:

A **User Defined Channel Mapping** allows users to define their own channel remix definition, for example swap front and rears in a quad file. This has been significantly updated in version 6.1 to support wavs > 8 channels then in 8.0.9 when User Defined Channel Mappings could be saved and reused.

Click on the checkbox [Remix (User Defined)]:

This immediately pops up the User Defined Remix channel mapping dialog:

Source Channel Layout:	User Defined Remix Channel Mapping					×
Mouse Down on an Input Channel & drag mapping line to Output Channel       Cide on an elgect and hit the -GEL> key to remove a mapping line	Source Channel Layout: Output Layout:	~ Re	estore Saved Channel Mapping		Pan & Zoom	×
Frinçe Fiter: Refech Oname Magang Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel	Mouse Down on an Input Channel & drag mapping line to Output Channel Click on	an object and hit the <del< td=""><td>&gt; key to remove a mapping line</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></del<>	> key to remove a mapping line			
Freeps Fiter: Refeat: Owannel Mapping Name (if you want to Redora): Sive Cannel						
Fringe Fiter: Refresh Oname (Magong Name (fryou want to Besture); Save Cancel						
FFringog Filter: Referin Channel Magorny Name (if you want to Kesture): Save Cancel						
Fringer Filter: Referi Charnel Magoring Name (if you want to Restore): Sive Cancel						
Fringeg Filter: Refresh Charmel Magorg Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
Frinzeg Filter: Refred: Charmel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore); Save Cancel						
Frinceg Filter: Refresh Charnel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
Fringe Filter: Refresh Charnel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (fl you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (f you want to Restore): Save Cancel						Ť
FFmpeg Filter: Refiesh Channel Mapping Name (f you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore):						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel _						
FFmpeg Filter: Refresh Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore): Save Cancel						
Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore):	FFmpeg Filter:			Ref	esh	
	Channel Mapping Name (if you want to Restore):			Save Cance		

To define a new mapping:

- 1. Select your Source Channel Layout from the first dropdown (the channels will be shown after selection)
- 2. Select your Output Layout from the Output Layout dropdown (the output channels will now be shown



Page **112** of **151** 

3. Add your new channel mappings by clicking an input channel and dragging the mouse to top the Output desired channel, release the mouse button.

Here is an example of Quad channels being remapped by swapping front and rears and adding 2 new silent channels for C and LFE to convert to 5.1 formatted files:



**NOTE**: MMH uses ffmpeg to remix the channels. As you build your mapping MMH displays the ffmpeg 'pan' audio filter command-line and shows it in a text box at bottom of the dialog. You can manually edit this text. The text definition always overides to diagram. So effectively the diagram is just a visual aid to create the pan filter commandline. MMH passes this audio pan filter to Ffmpeg to make batch remixes for selected files in the main MMH Channel Remix tool dialog. Ffmeg channel IDs are zero based (i.e. The first channel ID is c0)

Ffmpeg audio pan filter info here: https://ffmpeg.org/ffmpeg-filters.html#pan-1

If an output channel is not mapped to an input channel it will created as a silent channel in the output file.

Users can delete a mapping line by clicking on the line and hitting the DEL key.

To save your definition click the [Save] button. This returns you to the original Remix dialog and now you can go ahead and select the Quad files or folders containing Quad files to remix (in this example).

NOTE: Prior to clicking 'Save' in the above example, if users enter a 'Channel Mapping Name' in the text box at bottom the 'Save' command will save Mapping to a xml file that can be reused (restored) in the future.

The main Channel Remix dialog only accepts input files that match the Source Channel count as defined in the User Defined mix definition (example: Source above is Quad, MMH only allows input files with 4 channels).

## To reuse (Restore) a previously saved Remix Channel Mapping:

A User Defined Channel Mapping can be restored by clicking the command button: 'Restore Saved Channel Mapping' near the top of the User Defined mapping dialog.

NOTE: The 'Restore Saved Channel Mapping' button is disabled until a user saves at least one Channel mapping.

Clicking the Restore button pops up a dialog displaying the names of all saved mappings. Simply select the one you want to restore.

## **Advanced Channel Mixing Definitions:**

MMH (and ffmpeg) also support advanced channel mixing options:

## Mixing multiple Source Channels into a single Output Channel:



The above example mixes the side and rear left surround channels of a 7.1 file to LFE of a 5.1 file (the figure only shows the last few channels in the diagram). The ffmpeg pan filter will show the channel mix as: c3=0.707\*c4+0.707\*c5

## Applying Channel Gain to any channel map:

When multiple source channels are mapped to a single Output channel, a channel gain factor is auto applied and shown as a numeric value in the mapping line (0.707 in above = 1/ root 2) this ensures the output channel in the 5.1 mix has same volume as the two input channels played together in the 7.1 file.

Users can edit the gain of any channel map my clicking the gain text and entering a gain value, if there is already a gain value, or simply clicking on the centre of any mapping line and entering a value. Values > 1 increase gain, < 1 reduce gain.

If 3 source channels are mapped to a single channel the default gain is 0.577 (= 1 / root 3)

# **Channel Delay:**

## **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Align/Delay channels within existing FLAC, WAV or DSF multichannel files (with 6 channels only)
- Work with single files or with multiples in batch mode

## **Channel Delay dialogue description:**

Click 'Channel Delay' from the *Launcher* dialog.

This displays the Channel Delay dialog:

Die Edit Channel Delay			-		×
Output (Remixed) File Location: Remix Folder (under Source) 🚽					
				Add Fo	lder
				Add Fi	les
	Copy First File Delay	Apply Delay (All	Files)		

**NOTE:** When the Channel Delay tool is used for the first time the 'Output File Location' will be empty. You should set the pulldown list to 'Remix Folder (Under Source)' if you do not want the selected source files to be overwritten. This option auto created a folder under the selected input files named 'Remixed', the updated files will be created in that folder with same file names and tagging and the input files.

## Adding Files to Apply Channel Delay/Alignment:

You can now either:

- 'Add Folder' Adds all audio files in selected folder (FLAC, WAV and DSF)
- 'Add Files' Adds selected file(s) as selected in the file dialog that pops up

Example when selecting 'Add Files' a file dialog opens as shown below:

Simply navigate to the folder(s) containing the files you wish to edit, then select

NOTE: You can select multiple files with Windows standard CTRL-A (All files), CTRL-Click (multiple) and SHIFT-Click (a range). Click 'Open' to complete.

🔰 Open					×
$igstarrow$ $\to$ $igstarrow$ $igstarrow$ $igstarrow$ This PC $igstarrow$ W	/orking (G	:) → test → Sea Change (BDA)			م
늘 New Folder					8== -
🗸 💻 This PC		Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
> 🧊 3D Objects	0	01 The Golden Age.flac	1/03/2021 1:46 PM	FLAC File	142 MB
> Penon AVR-X3400H	0	02 Paper Tiger.flac	1/03/2021 1:46 PM	FLAC File	139 MB
🕻 🤜 Desktop	0	03 Guess I'm Doin' Fine.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	462 MB
> 🛗 Documents	0	04 Lonesome Tears.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	539 MB
🔪 🦊 Downloads	0	05 Lost Cause.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	344 MB
🗲 🎝 Music	0	06 End Of The Day.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	472 MB
🕻 🖂 Pictures	0	07 It's All In Your Mind.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	274 MB
> 📑 Videos	0	08 Round The Bend.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	488 MB
🔪 📥 Local Disk (C:)	ø	09 Already Dead.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	277 MB
🔪 👝 Local Disk (D:)	ø	10 Sunday Sun.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	450 MB
> 👝 Working2TBSSD (E:)	ø	11 Little One.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	424 MB
🔪 👝 Crucial (F:)	ø	12 Side Of The Road.flac	11/01/2018 6:39 PM	FLAC File	302 MB
🔪 👝 Working (G:)					
File Name: 01 The Golden Age.flac" 02 Pap	- Mus	ic Files (*.flac;*.wav;*.dsf)	•	Open	Cancel

MMH loads each file into its Channel Delay view:

Edit Channel Delay	-		×
Output (Remixed) File Location: Remix Folder (under Source) 🔹			
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\01 The Golden Age.flac		Add Fol	der
FL         FR         C         LFE         SL         SR           Delay (ms)         8 ‡         8 ‡         0 ‡         8 ‡         8 ‡         Apply Delay		Add Fil	ES
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\02 Paper Tiger.flac			
FL         FR         C         LFE         SL         SR           Delay (ms)         0 ‡			
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\03 Guess I'm Doin' Fine.flac			
FL     FR     C     LFE     SL     SR       Delay (ms)     0 ‡     0 ‡     0 ‡     0 ‡     0 ‡     0 ‡			
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\04 Lonesome Tears.flac			
Copy First File Delay Apply Delay (Al	Files)		

NOTE: This dialog expects all values to be milliseconds (ms)

**IMPORTANT CONCEPT**: Since this code cannot predict the future when reading an audio file you can ONLY define a channel DELAY. Therefore, if you want to fix a channel that is already delayed you must delay all other channels to match the said channel. Example: The Beck Sea Change BDA has the LFE channel delayed by 8ms, so to fix we entered 8ms as the delay for all other channels to fix the first FLAC file (above)

Each file is shown within its own Channel Group. You can edit the Delay by just entering a number or my using the value increment button (on right of each Delay numeric entry)

You can change the Delay for any number of channels. Files with all channels set to 0 are ignored (no changes are made).

**Copying Delay settings:** You can copy the Delay values from each channel in the first file in the list to all other files be clicking: [Copy First File Delay] button. This feature makes it easier to apply the same Delay adjustments to all the files in an album (files in same folder).

Example after copying the previous figures Delay shown here:

Edit Channel Delay	_		×
Output (Remixed) File Location: Remix Folder (under Source) 👻			
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\01 The Golden Age.flac		Add Fold	ler
FL     FR     C     LFE     SL     SR       Delay (ms)     8 1     8 1     0 1     8 1     8 1     Apply Delay		Add File	es
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\02 Paper Tiger.flac			
FL         FR         C         LFE         SL         SR           Delay (ms)         8 1         8 1         0 1         8 1         8 1         Apply Delay			
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\03 Guess I'm Doin' Fine.flac			
FL         FR         C         LFE         SL         SR           Delay (ms)         8 1         8 1         0 1         8 1         8 1         Apply Delay			
File: G:\test\Sea Change (BDA)\04 Lonesome Tears.flac			
Copy First File Delay Apply Delay (A	ll Files)		

## **Applying Delay:**

To Save the files with updated Channel Delay either:

For an individual file: Click [Apply Delay] on the right of the file's channel grid

For All the files in the list: Click [Apply Delay (All Files)] at the very bottom of this dialog

**NOTE:** Depending on your Output File Location input files are either overwritten (updated) or written to new files in a new folder created below the Source files named 'Remixed'.

# **Channel Split & Merge:**

## **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Split existing FLAC or WAV files into mono channel wav files (batch process)
- Merge existing mono WAV files and create a new multichannel FLAC file

This tool has two tabs in its tool dialog. One for Split and one for Merge

Split defaults to exporting all the source file channels. You can select just a subset of channels

#### **Split Files tab description:**

Click 'Channel Split & Merge' from the Launcher dialog.

#### This displays the default view with the Split tab showing:

Audio Channel Exraction and Mergi	ng	-		×
Preferences				
Split into Mono files	Merge Mono file to MCH file		SPLIT	
Filename	Folder	Audio Info	Add Folde	r
			Add Files	
			Clear List	
			🗸 All Chann	
Output Folder: 🗹 Source Folder Status			Split to Mor	

To help users to recognise the current mode, MMH shows the active tool name in Bold and the mode is shown above the Add Folder button (see above).

To load you source files into the Split tool:

Click: Add folder or Add Files.

NOTE: Add Folder loads all FLAC or WAVs in the Folder browser dialog. Add Files loads the selected files chosen from the Files browser dialog (you can select multiple files with Windows standard CTRL-A, CTRL-Click and SHIFT-Click)

In this example Add Folder has been selected:

<b>)</b> A	Audio Channel Exraction and Merging			—		×	
Prefe	erences						
	Split into Mono files						
	Filename	Folder	Audio Info		Add Folde	er	
►	01. Intro.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz		Add Files		
	02. Workin' For MCA.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	03. Skynyrd Nation.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz		Remove		
	04. What's Your Name.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz		Clear Lief		
	05. That Smell.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz		Clear List		
	06. Travelin' Man.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	07. I Know A Little.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	08. Needle And The Spoon.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	09. Saturday Night Special.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	10. Red White & Blue.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz		All Chann	iels	
	11. The Ballad Of Curtis Loew.fl	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	12. Tuesday's Gone.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	13. Don't Ask Me No Questions.fl	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	14. Simple Man.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz				
	15. Gimme Three Steps.flac	D:\Audio (Penteo UM)\Lynyrd Skynyrd\FLAC (orig 5.1)	6Ch 24/48kHz	•			
o s	Dutput Folder: 🔽 Source Folder				Split to Mo	no	

The file info is displayed.

**Output Folder:** By default, the Output folder is the same as the input folder. You can output the mono wavs to any folder by deselecting the 'Source Folder' checkbox at bottom, then clicking the Browse button to select an existing folder as the output folder.

**Output Channels:** By default, the Output Channels is 'All Channels'. If you want to restrict the output mono files to specific channels only, disable the 'All Channels' checkbox and then select the desired channel output channels:

h 24/48kHz	All Channels
h 24/48kHz	
h 24/48kHz	R Rss
h 24/48kHz	
h 24/48kHz	
h 24/48kHz	
Browse	Split to Mono

## To export the mono files:

#### Click: Split to Mono

MMH processes each source file creating multiple mono wav files based on your Output Folder and Output Channels selections. Each mono file is created with the same name as each source file with a suffix added based on the channel name. Example: Source File name: XXXX.flac Center mono file: XXXX.C.wav

## Merge Files tab description:

Click 'Channel Split & Merge' from the Launcher dialog.

This displays the default view with the Split tab showing, to view the Merge tab, click 'Merge Mono files to MCH file', the view changes to the Merge tab:

Audio Channel Exraction and I	Merging			-		×
Preferences						
Split into Mono files	ארץ על ארק ארק ארק ארק ארק ארק ארק ארק ארק ארק				MERCE	
					Add Folde	r
					Add Eilen	
					Add Files	
		Channel Lavout			Merae to M	СН
		Granner Layout.				

To load your source mono files into the Merge tool:

Click: Add folder or Add Files.

**NOTE:** Add Folder loads all FLAC or WAVs in the Folder browser dialog. Add Files loads the selected files chosen from the Files browser dialog (you can select multiple files with Windows standard CTRL-A, CTRL-Click and SHIFT-Click)

In this example Add Folder has been selected:

**NOTE:** MMH automatically works out which mono files should be grouped based on the file name prefix (without the channel name suffix) and works out the channel mapping based on the file name channel suffix

Audio Channel Exraction and Merging	—		×
Preferences			
Split into Mono files		MERGE	
Output File Name: 01. Intro.flac		Add Folder	r
Mono Files to Merge		Add Files	
1       L       01. Intro.L.wav         2       R       01. Intro.R.wav         3       C       01. Intro.C.wav         4       LFE       01. Intro.LFE.wav         5       Ls       01. Intro.Ls.wav         6       Rs       01. Intro.Rs.wav         Output File Name:       02. Workin' For MCA.flac			
Mono Files to Merge			
1       L       02. Workin' For MCA.L.wav         2       R       02. Workin' For MCA.R.wav         3       C       02. Workin' For MCA.C.wav         4       LFE       02. Workin' For MCA.LFE.wav         5       Ls       02. Workin' For MCA.Ls.wav         6       Rs       02. Workin' For MCA.Rs.wav         Output File Name:       03. Skynyrd Nation.flac			
1 L 03. Skvnvrd Nation.L.wav Channel Layout: 5.1   L R C LFE Lb Rb		Merge to MC	СН

MMH will work out the channel layout based on the number of mono channel files. There are slightly different Quad and 5.1 channel layouts (the surround channels can be mapped to sides or rears). You can choose between these two options in the Channel Layout selection dropdown list at the bottom.

My testing, using Kodi and a Denon AVR shows there's no difference in how these two options affect playback, but it may be worthwhile seeing if your system plays these the same (only if you have a 7.1 setup I think).

To merge the mono files into new multichannel FLACs:

Click: Merge to MCH

The FLAC files are created in the same folder as the source mono wav files.

# Join or Split Audio:

## **Functionality**:

This tool enables users to do the following:

- Merge separate FLAC, WAV, W64 and MK4 files into a single file of same file type
- Create a CUE file from the original individual files (storing tags and durations)
- Create a CUE file from a single large multi tracks file and detect track start times by Silence between tracks.
- Edit the original track durations.
- Split a multo track FLAC, WAV or W64 file from a CUE file into track files (one file per track)
- Or just Use the large new FLAC with all tracks and the new CUE to enjoy playback from the CUE

This tool can be used to change the original track start times and is useful to correct some discs that have been converted to FLAC with incorrect track start times (e.g. from a BDA or DVD with incorrect chapters times)

#### Merge or Split Audio dialog description:

Click 'Merge or Split Audio' from the Launcher dialog.

#### This displays the Merge or Split Audio dialog:

🤰 Merge and	Split Audio File	s						×
Preferences	Get Track Tag	gs from MusicBrainz	Paste Track Title	s from Clipboard				
Add Audio F	iles Add C	CUE						
Filename		Folder		Title (Tag)	Artist (Tag)	Start (r	nm:ss:ms)	
	Output File							
	Input File	:			Browse	Cue	Exit	

## Adding Files to Merge (join) into a single new file:

Click: Add Files

A file open dialog opens, navigate, and select FLAC, WAV, W64 or M\$A files to merge. You can use the standard windows multiselect options such as hold the 'CTRL' key while selecting to add each selected file or hold 'SHIFT' to select a range of files. (NOTE: All files must be the same file type. You cannot mix file types)

MMH will add the selected files as shown next:

<b></b> N	Merge and Split Audio Files $\leftrightarrow$ — $\Box$ X											
	Add FLAC Files											
	Filename	Folder	Title (Tag)	Artist (Tag)	Start (mm:ss:							
•	01. Guns In The Sky.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Guns In The Sky	INXS	00:00.000							
	02. New Sensation.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	New Sensation	INXS	02:23.270							
	03. Devil Inside.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Devil Inside	INXS	06:02.800							
	04. Need You Tonight.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Need You Tonight	INXS	11:14.530							
	05. Mediate.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Mediate	INXS	14:18.070							
	06. The Loved One.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	The Loved One	INXS	16:53.000							
	07. Wild Life.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Wild Life	INXS	20:26.600							
	08. Never Tear Us Apart.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Never Tear Us Apart	INXS	23:39.530							
	09. Mystify.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Mystify	INXS	26:43.530							
	10. Kick.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Kick	INXS	30:02.330							
	11. Calling All Nations.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Calling All Nations	INXS	33:15.530							
	12. Tiny Daggers.flac	G:\Audio Surround\INXS\Kic	Tiny Daggers	INXS	36:15.000							
	Merge Output File: INXS - Kick (Bl	DA 7.1)		Save Cue	Exit							
Split Input File: Browse												

You may edit the Start time values to adjust the start of any of the tracks in the CUE file.

**HINT:** When entering Start times in the grid cell you can use the space bar to move to next time field (e.g. When entering minutes hit space to move to seconds etc)

**NOTE:** Most of existing file tags are stored during the addition of files to this dialog and will be reused when the a CUE file is created or the merged file is later Split back into individual track files.

#### To Merge all the files in the list:

Firstly, ensure the Output File name has a valid value. MMH will attempt automatically add a name based on the tags it finds in the files added.

#### Click: Merge

MMH will process all files into a single large Joined/Merged file and auto saves a new CUE file with same name as the merged file with tracks (and Start times) in the grid at time of the merge.

**NOTE:** You can, of course, open the new CUE, once Saved (and the merged FLAC) in audio programs such as Foobar2000 and test the tracks. You can also manually edit the CUE MMH created to adjust start times or basic tag info. (Foobar2000 can also split back to individual FLAC files from the CUE and you can also edit a CUE with a text editor such as NotePad)

#### To Split a Merged FLAC file:

Once the merge is completed the Split command button is enabled and once clicked will go ahead and cut the FLAC into tracks based on the values in the grid a 'Split'. The new FLAC files are re-tagged with their original tags including adding album art (if either a 'folder.jpg' or 'cover.jpg' file exists in the working folder).

## To Split a large FLAC file from a CUE:

Load the CUE file using the Add CUE command button at top of the dialog. MMH will load the CUE tracks into the grid enabling users to modify the CUE track start times. Use the Split button at bottom to split the CUE into individual files at the Start times listed in the grid.

#### **Create a CUE from an existing large FLAC or WAV file:**

MMH can attempt to create a CUE file from a large single FLAC or WAV file, typically from an LP conversion where all the tracks are in a single file. NOTE: MMH always creates a CUE after a Merge is completed automatically.

MMH uses ffmpeg's Silence Detection filter which is reasonably accurate but can (of course) detect a quiet or short silent piece within a song as a start/end silence. So, users should check these Silence results with a listening test at the start times returned.

There are two user preferences to help the silence detection filter for various input files. In the toolbar Preferences menu, there is:

- Silence Duration (s): This is a minimum time in seconds Silence is considered a track break time (default is 1.2 seconds)
- Silence Noise Level (- db): This is the maximum noise level considered to be silence (default is -42db).
- Silence Interval (s): This is the time between possible track silence segments (default is 6 seconds).

For the default settings MMH will create a Track Start time for every 1.2 second duration of less than -42db sound level, but not within 6 seconds of the previous Silence found (of 1.2 seconds at less than -42db)

To load a single file into the dialog and get MMH to find the track start times with Silence, use the 'Browse' button at bottom foe the Input File. After selecting the file, MMH immediately scans the entire file for Silence and loads the Start times into the grid:

	Me	erge and Split	Audio Files	5			-	
P	refer	ences Get	Track Tag	gs from MusicBrainz	Paste Track Titles from Clipboard Disc Nu	mber Prefix 🔶		
	Ado	d Audio Files	Add C	UE Start Track No	p. 1		Clear List	Remove Selected
		Filename		Folder	Title (Tag)	Artist (Tag)		Start (mm:ss:ms)
	•	Sittin' In	ı - Sid…	C:\Working	Nobody but You	Loggins & Mess	ina	00:00:00.55
		Sittin' In	ı - Sid…	C:\Working	Danny's Song	Loggins & Mess	ina	00:03:00.89
		Sittin' In	1 - Sid	C:\Working	Vahevala	Loggins & Mess	ina	00:07:18.72
		Sittin' In	1 - Sid	C:\Working	Trilogy: Lovin' Me - To Make a Woman	Feel Loggins & Mess	ina	00:12:08.12
	Ν	1erge (	Output File					
		Split	Input File	C:\Working\Sittin' In - S	ide 1 - ALL WAV.wav	Browse	Save Cue	e Exit

MMH always discards the last silence that may occur after the last track.

A recommended workflow would be to use 'Save CUE' to create a CUE file from the silence, then play the CUE in an application like Foobar2000to test the start times. In this example there are two that are incorrect (the album has 12 tracks). Click on an incorrect row and click; 'Remove Selected' button at top to remove the current row.

MMH creates a Start Time at the time midway between the Silence found start and end times.

You can edit the Start Times in the grid at any time and then 'Save CUE' to test an updated CUE.

Ideally you want your CUE to have correct track names. Use the 'Get Track Tags from Musicbrainz' to find the release and track names online. Or use the 'Paste Track Titles from Clipboard' to copy all the tracks from a Discogs release page into the grid. See other sections in this documentation that provides examples of copy and pasting Discogs track lists into MMH and using MMH's Track List editor.

MMH uses the grid contents to name the CUE entries.

Here is the Preference dialog with Silence settings:

Preferences	
Track Start Silence Detection:	
Silence Duration (Minimum):	1.0 🗘 sec
Noise Level (Maximum):	-42 🗘 dB
Silence Interval (Maximum):	6.0 🗘 sec
<b>2</b>	
Save	Cancel

MMH provides two text boxes to help users rename and tag tracks of a single album ripped to two long FLAC or WAV files:

#### Disc Number in Toolbar on top right:

If Disc Number is not empty, then MMH will prefix Split file names with the disc number: (example: 1.01. First File name.wav)

#### Start Track No. above grid near centre top:

Split File names and Track No. tags will start generation at this number. Default is 1. For Side two you would use the appropriate number based on LP layout (if side 1 has 4 tracks, for side 2 users should set the Start Track No. to 5)

# **Batch Audio Tools:**

## **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following (**for FLAC, WAV and DSF files only**) by scanning all FLAC files from a selected Source (parent) folder recursively all sub-folder:

- Analyze ReplayGain:
  - Report current ReplayGain tags embedded in flac files.
  - Process each folder as an 'Album' and calculate Track Gain and Album Gain (BS 1770)
  - $\circ$  Save Track Gain and Album Gain tags (from previous step) to selected files.
- Analyze Album Cover Art:
  - Report whether files contain embedded cover art and/or if cover art image files exist.
  - Save cover art to selected flac files (add new or updates existing embedded art)
- Check Disc Art and Dynamic Range:
  - Report whether folders contain discart.png image files
  - Display DR values if a DR files has been saved by Foobar2000 in album folders
- Check Files for MusicBrainz tags:
  - Displays Musicbrainz tags for: AlbumArtistID, AlbumID and ReleaseGRoupID
- Check for Silent Channels:
  - Displays the Number of Channels and any Silent Channels found in multichannel files (this is quite a slow process as MMH must read all files audio data.

The Analyze ReplayGain is useful if you use Replay Gain as it can very easily find any files where Replay Gain has not been applied.

The Analyze Album Cover Art is useful if to easily find files without embedded art and can automate the re-tagging (embedding) of covers for all files in an album folder if it finds an image file named: folder.jpg or cover.jpg.

## Batch Audio Tools Audio dialog description:

Click 'Batch Audio Tools (flac)' from the Launcher dialog.

This displays the Batch Audio Tools dialog:

Audio File Batc	h Tools						- เ	⊐ ×
Source Directory:	D:\Audio Surround							
	Analyze Replay Gain for all							
	Get Existing ReplayGain	(if any) 📃 Dur					les Select	
	🗌 Analyze ReplayGain (sl	ow)						
	Analyze Cover Art for all fi	es in sub-folders (under So	urce Directo	iry)				
	Check Disc Art and Dynami	c Range for all album sub-f	olders (unde	er Source I	Directory)			
	Create new DR file if D	R file already exists						
	Check Musicbrainz AlbumA	rtistID, AlbumID and Releas	eGroupID					
	Check for Silent Channels Cancel Processing						Start Analyzing Repl	
	Folder	Media File Name	An	Analy	Existing	Existing	Existing	Analyzed
itt til t Record i								
necord .								
info						Update Rep	llayGain F	or Selected

**HINT**: On first run all option and commands are disabled until a user selects a 'Source Directory' from the 'Browse' command button. Once this tool has been used it 'remembers' the last state including Source Directory.

Once a Source Directory is selected you need to choose one of the Analyze option. By default, MMH selects the first, 'Analyze ReplayGain for all sub-folders':

## **ReplayGain:**

#### To View existing ReplayGain tags:

Ensure you select the Source Directory Select: 'Analyze ReplayGain for all sub-folders' option Select: 'Get Existing ReplayGain'

Click: [Start Analyzing ReplayGain]

🌛 Audio File Batch	Tools						—		×
Source Directory:	G:\Audio Surround Analyze Replay Gain for all sub-folders (und Get Existing ReplayGain (if any) Analyze ReplayGain (slow)	ler Source Directory)	Brows	<b>e</b> All Files Selecte					
	Analyze Cover Art for all sub-folders (unde	r Source Directory)				Processing	Start Analyz	ing ReplayG	ain
Fold	er	Media File Name	Analyzed Track Gain	Analyzed Album Gain	Existing Algorithm	Existing Album Gain	Existing Track Gain	Analyzed Algorithn	n .
141 44 4 Record (	0of0 ► ₩ ₩ <								
info									

## MMH processes each folder recursively and loads the flac file replaygain data:

ource Di	rectory:	G: \Audio Surround	Brow	se							
		Analyze Replay Gain for all sub-folders (under Source Dire	ctory)								
		Get Existing ReplayGain (if any) During Analyze ReplayGain (slow)	Update: Remove Replay Gain from	All Files Selecte	:d						
		Analyze Cover Art for all sub-folders (under Source Direct	ory)					sing	Start Analyzin	ıg Replay(	ain
	Fold	er	Media File Name	Analyzed Track Gain	Analyzed Album Gain	Analyzed Algorithm	Existing Track Gain	Existing Album	<ul> <li>Existin</li> <li>Algori</li> </ul>	ng thm	
•	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	01. Blackest Eyes.flac				-11.05 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	02. Trains-temp.flac				-8.91 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	02. Trains.flac				-8.91 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	03. Lips of Ashes.flac				-7.96 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	04. The Sound of Muzak				-10.51 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	05. Gravity Eyelids.fl				-10.58 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	06. Wedding Nails.flac				-10.48 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	07. Prodigal.flac				-10.39 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	083.flac				-9.05 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	09. The Creator has a				-10.90 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	10. Heartattack in a L.				-9.09 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	11. Strip the Soul.flac				-11.35 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	12. Collapse the Light				-8.68 dB	-9.98 de	3		
	G:\A	udio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)	13. Drown with Me (Bon				-10.29 dB	-9.98 da	3		

To Analyze ReplayGain:

Select: 'Analyze ReplayGain (slow)' Click: [Start Analyzing ReplayGain]

A	udio File	Batch Tools							- 0	×
Sou	rce Dire	ctory: G:\Audio Surround	Brow	se						
		Analyze Replay Gain for all sub-folders (under Sourc	e Directory) During Update: Remove Replay Gain from	n All Files Selecte	ed					
		ssing Start Analyzing ReplayGain								
		Folder	Media File Name	Analyzed Track Gain	Analyzed Album Gain	Analyzed Algorithm	Existing Track Gain	Existing Album Gain	Existing Algorithm	
►		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D	01. Blackest Eyes.flac	-10.18 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-11.05 dB	-9.98 dB		<b>^</b>
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	02. Trains-temp.flac	-7.74 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-8.91 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	02. Trains.flac	-7.74 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-8.91 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	03. Lips of Ashes.flac	-7.09 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-7.96 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	04. The Sound of Muzak.flac	-9.45 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-10.51 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	05. Gravity Eyelids.flac	-9.40 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-10.58 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	06. Wedding Nails.flac	-9.55 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-10.48 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	07. Prodigal.flac	-9.73 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-10.39 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	083.flac	-7.94 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-9.05 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	09. The Creator has a Mastert	-10.16 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-10.90 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	10. Heartattack in a Layby.flac	-7.66 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-9.09 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	11. Strip the Soul.flac	-10.52 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-11.35 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	12. Collapse the Light Into E	-7.60 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-8.68 dB	-9.98 dB		
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (D_	13. Drown with Me (Bonus Trac	-9.43 db	-9.07 db	ITU-R B5.1770	-10.29 dB	-9.98 dB		
144		tecord 1 of 47 → ₩ ₩ 4								
			100%					Update Re	eplay Gain for Sel	lected
Pro	cessing	folder: G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DVDA)\	Remixed (16 files)							

MMH processes each folder as an Album and loads the calculated Track and Album replaygain using the ITU-R BS1770 algorithm. This is quite a slow process as each file is processed with a two phase gated measurement of the mean loudness as described by ITU-R BS.1770

Once the Analyzed Track and Album Gains are loaded into the grid you can use the [Update Replay for Selected] command (bottom right) to save the Analyzed replaygain tags to each selected file. You must select the files first.

## To Update ReplayGain tags:

After you have completed 'Analyzed Replay Gain'

Select the files to update using the checkbox column on left

Click: [Update ReplayGain for Selected]

MMH goes ahead and saves the Analyzed replaygain tags to each selected file

**HINT**: You can use the column filters (in each columns header when you hover your mouse over the column header) to display only certain files. For example: Only specific folders (Albums) or files without existing replaygain data)

HINT: You can select every file in the grid by checking the checkbox in the select column's header

**NOTE**: MMH does not alter any audio stream content. The only change to any file is to add replaygain tags with gain data. These replaygain tags can be read by many playback software and devices.

**HINT:** You can remove replaygain tags from any selected files by checking the 'During Update: Remove Replay Gain' option prior to running 'Update Replay Gain'.

## To View existing Cover Art tags:

## Ensure you select the Source Directory Select: 'Analyze Cover for all sub-folders' option

道 Audio File Batch	Tools			—		×
Source Directory:	G:\Audio Surround	Browse				
	Analyze kepiay Gain for all sub-roiders (under Get Existing ReplayGain (if any) Analyze ReplayGain (slow)	Source Urectory) During Update: Remove Replay Gain from All Files Selected				
	Analyze Cover Art for all sub-folders (under S	ource Directory)	Cancel Processing	art Analyzing	Cover Art	
Fold	er	Media File Name	Cover Embedded	Cover Fil	e	
info	of 0 > > > + ++ =		Updat	e Cover Art fo	or Selected	

#### Click: [Start Analyzing Cover Art]

MMH processes each folder recursively and loads the flac file cover art data: Whether the file contains embedded cover art and whether the file's folder contains a cover art image file (either folder.jpg or cover.jpg):

🄊 A	Audio File Batch Tools											
Sou	ırce Dir	ectory: G:\Audio Surround		Browse								
Analyze Replay Gain for all sub-folders (under Source Directory)												
		Get Existing ReplayGain (if any)	During Update: I	Remove Replay Gain from All Files Selected								
		Analyze Cover Art for all sub-folders (under Source)	ce Directory)		Cancel Processing	Start Analyzing Co	ver Art					
				L			•					
		Folder	M	ledia File Name	Cover Embedded	Cover File	•					
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA) 11	1. Strip the Soul.flac	No	File Exists	-					
	✓	G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA) 12	2. Collapse the Light Into Earth.flac	No	File Exists						
	$\checkmark$	G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA) 1:	3. Drown with Me (Bonus Track).flac	No	File Exists						
	✓	G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA) 14	4. Chloroform (Bonus Track).flac	No	File Exists						
	$\checkmark$	G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA) 19	5. Futile (Bonus Track).flac	No	File Exists						
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA)\fixed\ 01	1. Blackest Eyes.flac	Embedded	File Exists						
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA)\fixed\ 0	2. Trains.flac	Embedded	File Exists						
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA)\fixed\ 0	3. Lips of Ashes.flac	Embedded	File Exists						
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA)\fixed\ 04	4. The Sound of Muzak.flac	Embedded	File Exists						
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA)\fixed\ 09	5. Gravity Eyelids.flac	Embedded	File Exists						
		G:\Audio Surround\Porcupine Tree\In Absentia (DV	/DA)\fixed\ 00	6. Wedding Nails.flac	Embedded	File Exists						
H		Record 390 of 1531										
			100%		Ur	odate Cover Art for	Selected					

#### To Update Embedded Cover Art:

NOTE: To update embedded art a Cover File must exist in the file's album folder

After you have loaded files using the previous command:

Select the files to update using the checkbox column on left.

Click: [Update Cover Art for Selected]

MMH goes ahead and saves the cover art image to each selected file

*HINT*: You can use the column filters (in each columns header when you hover your mouse over the column header) to display only certain files. For example: Only specific folders (Albums) or files without embedded cover art)

HINT: You can select every file in the grid by checking the checkbox in the select column's header

#### Here's the Audo Batch Tool after running the MusicBrainz ID tool:

Audio File Batd	h Tools					- 0	×				
Source Directory:	D:\TEST AUDIO		Browse	2							
	Analyze Replay Ga	Analyze Replay Gain for all sub-folders (under Source Directory)									
	Get Existing Re										
	Analyze Cover Art for all sub-folders (under Source Directory)										
	Check Disc Art and Dynamic Range for all album sub-folders (under Source Directory)										
	Check Musicbrainz	AlbumArtistID, AlbumID and Release	eGroupID			Start Checking Music	orainz IDs				
	Folder	Media File Name	MusicBrainz AlbumArtistID	MusicBrainz AlbumID	MusicBrainz Release	GroupID					
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	01. Introduction.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	- 8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	02. Does Anybody Really Kn_	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	-8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	03. Beginnings.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	-8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	04. Questions 67 and 68.fl.	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	05. Listen.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	06. Poem 58.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	07. Free Form Guitar.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\_	08. South California Purpl	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	-8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	09. I'm a Man.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	10. Prologue August 29, 19.	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	11. Someday August 29, 196	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	12. Liberation.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	d9ac4d75-0d7e-4fe7-9cb1-8283bc975bd3	1eeb1e2c-ae11-3b	2e-80fc-22233f0ca64	8				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	01. Movin' In.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	00f7d75f-a012-361d-9745-e5a547b0c4e7	8d81d044-ab8e-31	30-862d-e10ec4e5af	9				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	02. The Road.flac	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	00f7d75f-a012-361d-9745-e5a547b0c4e7	8d81d044-ab8e-31	30-862d-e10ec4e5af	9				
	D:\TEST AUDIO\	03. Poem For The People.fl	3f5be744-e867-42fb-8913-5fd69e4099b5	00f7d75f-a012-361d-9745-e5a547b0c4e7	8d81d044-ab8e-31	30-862d-e10ec4e5af	9 🔻				
Record	d 1 of 784 🗼 🙌 🙌	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									
Processing folder		olice\Peoptta de Blanc (Ouad + Donte	99%								
Processing router:	D. (IEST ADDIO (INE PO	blice (Quality relited									

#### To View or Calculate DR for Album folder:

Select the option and MMH will recursively find each album sub-folder and calculate DR and display in the grid and/or creating a DR file for each folder with DR data for each track (and channel if the MMH preference is set)

# **Update Penteo (& SpecWeb) files:**

## **Functionality:**

This tool enables you to do the following:

- Automatically copy tags from stereo input files to MCH upmixed files that are located in same folder
- Download and Tag Album cover artwork from fanart.tv website
- Automatically locates Album Cover Art and Discart already on your PC or Server (NAS) and reuse
- Automatically Remix Quad FLAC files to 5.0 or 5.1 compatible formatted files (AVR compatible)
- Automatically Delete stereo files in source folders (at completion of above)

#### Why is this Tool in MMH?:

I created this tool for use with my Penteo Upmixes (but it can be used for SpecWeb and other upmixers).

With Penteo, a user is recommended to use WAV files as the input. It creates multichannel FLAC output.

All my stereo files are stored tagged FLAC files, Penteo output files are untagged FLAC files. Wouldn't it be nice to copy the tags from the input files to the output files instead of manually tagging the new output files?

So now, we have this tool that not only copies the tags but can also locate artwork from folders containing the same album anywhere on your PC or network (folders must contain Artist and Album Name), and/or it can locate art on fanart.tv, remix and delete the input waves, leaving the working folders with completed Penteo Upmixed, tagged files.

**HINT:** I use Foobar2000 to convert my existing stereo FLACs into stereo WAVs. The WAV files retain the original tags from the FLACs. I can also set Foobar to create the WAVs in a folder structure of: ARTIST\ALBUM. So I cam easily select a dozen or more stereo albums in Foobar and batch convert ALL to new folders as wavs ibn literally a few seconds. Selecting Folders in Foobar allows me to select MULTIPLE albums in a few clicks.

**NOTE:** As of MMH version 4.0.13 this tool works with any tagged stereo input files (no longer restricted to WAV) and can work with any taggable MCH file created by Penteo (wav, FLAC etc)

## Rules/Requirements for the tool to work as designed:

For the tool to work as designed:

- 1. All input files must be stereo wav format is recommended by Penteo but FLAC is also supported)
- 2. All input files must be tagged
- 3. The Penteo output files must MCH (> stereo) and in a taggable format (wav, FLAC, etc)
- 4. The input (wavs) and output (FLACs) must be in the same (album) folder

NOTE: Reaper has a Batch Mode that can be setup to do 3 and 4 above.

5. The tool can recursively load all the music folders that conform to the above rules into the tool's grid (showing basic info)

7. After loading your upmix folder(s) (The tool checks for valid files and shows any issues stopping the process on that album folder)

ð	Update Penteo Upmixed files								- 🗆 X
Pr	eferences ,	Folders with Errors will	not be processed						
	Folder Name	Artist	Album (editable)	Year	Comment (editable)	Tracks	Cover	Discart	
	Houses Of The Holy	Led Zeppelin	Houses Of The Holy	1973		8			Add Sub Folders
	Led Zeppelin	Led Zeppelin	I	1969		9	800x800	1000x1000	Add Eolder
	Led Zeppelin II	Led Zeppelin	II	1969		9	800x800	1000x1000	Add Folder
	Led Zeppelin III	Led Zeppelin	III	1970		10	800x800	1000x1000	
	Led Zeppelin IV	Led Zeppelin	IV	1971		8	800x800	1000x1000	Remove
•	🚯 Physical Graffiti	Led Zeppelin	Physical Graffiti	1971		15	800x800		Clear List
H	44 4 Record 6 of 6 ▶ ₩ ₩	1							
6 f	6 folder to process (You can add another folder)  Delete all Way files  Stop  Process Fi								Process Files

8. User can edit two tags for each album: Comments and Album name. These update FLAC (output) tags.

Clicking 'Process Files' does the following

- For each input wav file in each album folder:

- --- Copies the tags from stereo file to corresponding MCH file (by file order, name your files so the sort by filename)
- --- Tags album cover art (if a file 'folder.jpg' or 'cover.jpg' exists in the album folder) into the MCH file
- --- Renames the MCH file based on user preferences ('Title' or 'Artist Title' both with track prefix)
- --- Checks if MCH is 4 channel (quad) file and if so, remixes added silent channel(s) based on a user preferences

Each Penteo upmixed file is Tagged, renamed etc and ready for use.

The tool also has a recursive 'Delete Stereo files' command to clean up all the input files, leaving the album folders with just the MCH files and album art.

This Penteo Tagging Tool also allows:

- *Double-Click* on 'Cover Art' or 'Disc Art' cell in the grid opens the tool's Find Album Art dialog and displays any artwork already in the album folder (see later in the section)
- Double-Click on any other cell in the grid open the album folder in Windows Explorer (easy access)

#### Examples:

# Here's one of the album folders after a Penteo UM: (upmixed FLAC files are untagged - wavs are the input files). This is before the MMH Penteo tagging tool has been used:

Name	#	Title	Contributing artists	Album
💿 - 01. Led Zeppelin - Black Dog.flac				
💿 - 02. Led Zeppelin - Rock And Roll.flac				
I - 03. Led Zeppelin - The Battle Of Evermore.flac				
🞯 - 04. Led Zeppelin - Stairway To Heaven.flac				
🞯 - 05. Led Zeppelin - Misty Mountain Hop.flac				
🞯 - 06. Led Zeppelin - Four Sticks.flac				
🞯 - 07. Led Zeppelin - Going To California.flac				
🞯 - 08. Led Zeppelin - When The Levee Breaks.flac				
🞯 01. Led Zeppelin - Black Dog.wav	1	Black Dog	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
🞯 02. Led Zeppelin - Rock And Roll.wav	2	Rock And Roll	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
🮯 03. Led Zeppelin - The Battle Of Evermore.wav	3	The Battle Of Evermore	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
🞯 04. Led Zeppelin - Stairway To Heaven.wav	4	Stairway To Heaven	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
🞯 05. Led Zeppelin - Misty Mountain Hop.wav	5	Misty Mountain Hop	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
I 06. Led Zeppelin - Four Sticks.wav	6	Four Sticks	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o7. Led Zeppelin - Going To California.wav	7	Going To California	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
Ø 08. Led Zeppelin - When The Levee Breaks.wav	8	When The Levee Breaks	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
🖬 discart.png				
🖬 folder.jpg				

#### Here's the same folder after running the new Penteo Tool: (FLACS are tagged and renamed)

Name	#	Title	Contributing artists	Album
🖬 discart.png				
🖬 folder.jpg				
o1. Black Dog.flac	1	Black Dog	Led Zeppelin	IV
o2. Rock And Roll.flac	2	Rock And Roll	Led Zeppelin	IV
03. The Battle Of Evermore.flac	3	The Battle Of Evermore	Led Zeppelin	IV
ol4. Stairway To Heaven.flac	4	Stairway To Heaven	Led Zeppelin	IV
o5. Misty Mountain Hop.flac	5	Misty Mountain Hop	Led Zeppelin	IV
🞯 06. Four Sticks.flac	6	Four Sticks	Led Zeppelin	IV
o7. Going To California.flac	7	Going To California	Led Zeppelin	IV
08. When The Levee Breaks.flac	8	When The Levee Breaks	Led Zeppelin	IV
o1. Led Zeppelin - Black Dog.wav	1	Black Dog	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o2. Led Zeppelin - Rock And Roll.wav	2	Rock And Roll	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o3. Led Zeppelin - The Battle Of Evermore.wav	3	The Battle Of Evermore	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o4. Led Zeppelin - Stairway To Heaven.wav	4	Stairway To Heaven	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o5. Led Zeppelin - Misty Mountain Hop.wav	5	Misty Mountain Hop	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o6. Led Zeppelin - Four Sticks.wav	6	Four Sticks	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
🮯 07. Led Zeppelin - Going To California.wav	7	Going To California	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)
o8. Led Zeppelin - When The Levee Breaks.wav	8	When The Levee Breaks	Led Zeppelin	IV (RI)

In this example all the files from the 5 'good' album folders were processed in only a few seconds (on an SSD drive with a fast modern 8 core PC)

Here's another view of the folder showing cover art has been tagged in the FLACs:



Here's information on an error found during selection of folders to process. Hover mouse over error icon and you see the problem:

	Folder Name	Artist	Album (editable)	
	Houses Of The Holy	Led Zeppelin	Houses Of The Holy	
	Led Zeppelin	Led Zeppelin	I	
	Led Zeppelin II	Led Zeppelin	II	
	Led Zeppelin III	Led Zeppelin	III	
	Led Zeppelin IV	Led Zeppelin	IV	
×	🚱 Physical Graffiti	Led Zeppelin	IV	
	😣 No output Penteo FLACs exist (There are 15 wavs)			

#### **Penteo Tagging Tool Preferences:**

Here's the user preferences dialog:



#### The Re-Tagging:

These options affect what tagging will be done

#### File Renaming:

There are two options for how files will be renamed

#### **Quad Channel Remixing:**

These options deal with how quad mixes need to be remixed for compatibility with some AVRs

The first two options only are used on 4 channel files. Option 1 is adding a silent centre channel while the 2<sup>nd</sup> option adds both a silent C and LFE channels.

The 3<sup>rd</sup> option only works with a 6 channel file. This resolves remixing Penteo 4.1 upmixes when they are created with Reaper as a 6 channel file. Since channels are in the incorrect order you need to remix to the correct 5.1 channel order, moving the channel to the Centre position and moving others that follow.

**WARNING:** Selecting this option will destroy 'normal' 6 channel files created with Penteo's 5.1 upmix option. DO NOT use this option unless you are sure the folders you select are in fact Penteo 4.1 files in a 6 Channel file.

## Finding Album Cover Art and Disc Art:

MMH supports searching the Fanart.tv website image database for users to find and download album art images for both album cover and disc artwork. MMH can also be used to do Smart/Fuzzy Search for album art on your PC or network (including NAS and external drives) to locate art you may already have.

To do an artwork search:

In the Penteo Tagging Tool main grid (after loading album folders): Double-click the Cover Art or Disc Art cell

This will pop out the MMH Album artwork finder dialog.

When the dialog first opens it immediately displays any artwork in the current album's folder (the album you doubleclicked on)

#### To Search for artwork on the Fanart.tv website:

Enter the correct Artist and Album Names in the text boxes at top right (these are prefilled in some circumstances)

Click: 'Scrape Fanart.tv website'

MMH will search the website and return all cover and disc art found for the release selected:



## To search your local drives (PC connected drives, Server/NAS, External drives etc):

(You must first use the Preferences Dialog – top left menu) to set up the Root folders. MMH will recursively search through every sub-folder under each Root to locate artwork, after that:

Enter the correct Artist and Album Names in the text boxes at top left (these are prefilled in some circumstances)

Click: 'Find from Local Folders'

Smart/Fuzzy Search for album art on your PC or network (including NAS and external drives):



To save any of the album art images to the album folder, simply double-click on the image. If its cover art, it will be tagged to the FLAC when the files are processed.

## **Album Artwork Search Preferences:**

To setup the Smart Search go into the Artwork Search Preferences dialog and add all the root music folders that may contain album art for other versions of the same album on your PC, in the Local Folders to Search list.

You can also enter the names of the Cover Art and Disc Art files you have used previously in the File Names section:

Album Art Search Preferences		
File Names		
Cover Art File Names: [ folder.jpg	Disc Art File Names: discart.png	
cover.jpg	coart.png	
Local Folders to Search (root for rec	ursive search):	
E:\Stereo O:\Audio (Penteo UM) O:\Audio (Penteo UM New)		
Browse		
	Save	Cancel

In the screenshot above there are 3 possible folders that could have album art for new Penteo upmixes:

1. The original Stereo root folder with all my original stereo FLAC albums (all tagged and with album art)

2. The Penteo UM folder where I keep all my completed upmixes for playback (I often redo some again, so the artwork will be there already)

3. My new Penteo UM testing folder. This is where I put all my UMs to listen to, sometimes maybe two or three of same album from different sources or different upmix settings.

For this to work. MMH looks recursively searches through every sub-folder in every user set Root folder for a Full Folder Path that contains both the ARTIST and ALBUM names (as entered in the Find Artwork dialog).

Examples that will be found for the ARTIST: **Midnight Oil** ALBUM: **Diesel And Dust** (The search is not case sensitive) E:\stereo\**Midnight Oil\Diesel and Dust**\folder.jpg

E:\stereo\**Midnight Oil\Diesel and Dust** (1990)\folder.jpg

O:\Audio (Penteo UM)\old mixes\Midnight Oil - Diesel and Dust (From CD)\folder.jpg

# **MMH Atmos Helper:**

## **Functionality:**

The MMH Atmos Helper tool has two functions:

- 1. Tools to help prepare and/or encode multichannel interleaved wavs to Dolby Atmos.
- 2. A tool to decode existing Atmos streams to multichannel WAV (interleaved or mono files)

#### Atmos Encoding tools:

This tool enables users to create Dolby Atmos Master File Sets from multichannel (mch) interleaved WAV files to create channel based Atmos mixes encoded with the Dolby Media Encoder or Dolby Encoder Engine.

**NOTE**: A user must have a Dolby Encoder software license to encode files to Dolby Atmos. However, this Helper tool can create Dolby Atmos Master File Sets without any Dolby software, Atmos Renderer or DAW (Digital Audio Workstation) software for encoding by a 3<sup>rd</sup> party or on a PC with an Dolby encoder license.

Input mch files can contain any number of supported channels:

- 8 (5.1.2)
- 10 (5.1.4)
- 12 (7.1.4)
- 16 (9.1.6)

For correct channel mapping by Dolby Atmos Encoders, the interleaved WAV file channel order must be in this corresponding order:

16 channel (9.1.6): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lrs, Rrs, Lw, Rw, Lfh, Rfh, Ltm, Rtm, Lrh, Rrh 12 channel (7.1.4): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lrs, Rrs, Lfh, Rfh, Lrh, Rrh 10 channel (5.1.4): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Lfh, Rfh, Lrh, Rrh) 8 channel (5.1.2): L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs, Ltm, Rtm)

**NOTE**: The Dolby Atmos bed 7.1 channel order used in 9.1.6 and 7.1.4 swaps sides and rears compared to the 'standard' channel order used by other common multichannel interleaved files. Users can remix channel order using the MMH Channel Remix tool.

Dolby Atmos Master File Sets created by this MMH Atmos Helper tool can be encoded in lossless TrueHD or lossy Dolby Digital Plus format (typically used for streaming Atmos). Currently without Master File Sets the Dolby Media Encoder (DME) cannot encode interleaved WAV files to TrueHD, only to Dolby Digital Plus at 768kbps. With Master File Sets a user can encode to TrueHD (lossless) and/or Dolby Digital Plus at up to 1664kbps.

If a user has a Dolby Encoder license and the encoder is installed on the same PC as MMH, the MMH Atmos Helper can also batch encode multiple files to create MLP/ MP4 files (and optionally: MKV, M4A and/or MP4 files).

#### **Atmos Decoding tools:**

This tool enables users to decode existing Atmos streams to multichannel WAV (interleaved or mono files).

NOTE: A user must have the Dolby Reference Player software installed to decode Dolby Atmos files to wav.

The MMH Atmos Decoder tool supports decoding from Atmos streams (TrueHD or Dolby Digital Plus JOC) contained in the following file containers:

MLP, EAC3, MKV, MKA, MP4 and M4A

## MMH Atmos Helper dialog description:

When the Atmos Helper is opened this is the initial dialog:

MMH Atmos Helper		- 🗆 X
Source Channel Layout:	✓ Encode FrameRate:: 24 ✓	Decode Atmos
Dolby Encoder Engine Settings		
Use Dolby Encoder Engine (Only if Installed)	Output Type(s):	
Format: Dolby TrueHD -	Bitrate: 768 - Ouput Atmos in MKV	
Output Folder: Under Source in Sub-Folder	Output Atmos in M4A	
DRC: Music Light -	Dialnorm: -31 - Output Atmos in MP4	
Media File Name  Folder	Channels SampleRate BitDepth Duration	Add Folder
		Add Files
		Remove
		Clear List
Version: 1.3.0	Convert MLP Files Create Atmos F	iles Close

**NOTE**: The 'Decode Atmos' button at top right is disabled if the users PC does not have the Dolby Reference Player software installed.

To create Atmos master File Sets, first select the Source Channel Layout from the first dropdown.

Once the layout is selected add a folder containing your source wavs or add multiple files using either of the two buttons: Add Folder or Add Files.

NOTE: MMH checks the channel count is each file and ensure that matches to channel count implied by the Source Channel Layout selected. All files in a single batch must containing same number of channels matching the Source Layout (e.g. 7.1.4 = 12 channels).

Once files are loaded into the grid, click: 'Create Atmos Files' button to create the Atmos Master File Set.

**NOTE**: 'Channel based' Dolby Atmos uses fixed channel positions. To create 'Objects' (that can be positioned anywhere in 3D space, including movement) users will need to author using DAW (Digital Audio Workstation) software. But channel based Atmos is still very effective and easy to create for non-pro (enthusiast) for use at home. This is equivalent to traditional multichannel quad, 5.1 and 7.1 mixers produced prior to recent spatial music formats.

## **Encoding to Atmos with MMH Atmos Helper:**

If a user has a Dolby Encoder license and either Dolby Media Encoder (DMC) or Dolby Encoder Engine (DEE) installed, selecting the 'Use Dolby Encoder Engine (Only if installed)' checkbox to set up an encode and create both Master File Sets and Atmos Encode jobs in batch mode using parallel threads to do concurrent encodes (faster). MMH will use up to 4 processors on your CPU (but never more than half the available number of processors).

The first time a user selects the 'Use Dolby Encoder' checkbox MMH will pop up a dialog box to select the Dolby Encoder Engine executable (dee.exe). The DEE executable is installed with DEE and with DME. The default program folder if DME is installed is:

## C:\Program Files\Dolby Media Encoder\resources\dee

Once selected, MMH stores that folder and will not ask again (unless the folder is renamed, deleted uninstalled etc). On selection MMH also checks if the dee license file (.lic file) is in the same folder, if not then you will be reminded to copy your license file to that folder. Without the license file in the dee folder MMH cannot use dee to encode.

Once the initial setup of DEE program location is completed:

#### **Encoder Settings:**

Dolby Encoder Engine Settings			
Use Dolby Encoder Engine (Only if I	Installed)		
Format: Dolby TrueHD	- − Bitr	rate: 768 -	
			<ul> <li>Ouput Atmos in MKV</li> </ul>
Output Folder: Under Source in Sub-F	Folder –		Output Atmos in M4A
	 D:-l-		
DRC: Music Light -	Dialn	orm: -31 -	Output Atmos in MP4

With the Settings enabled, a user can change the default settings above:

Format: Dolby TrueHD, Dolby Digital Plus (Blu-ray) or Dolby Digital Plus (Online)

Lossless, higher bitrate DDP or Streaming bitrate DDP

**Bitrate**: This dropdown is only available for DDP encodes (You must select a bitrate for DDP)

Dolby Digital Plus (Blu-ray) can encode up to 1664 kbps. Dolby Digital Plus (online) can encode up to 768 kbps

Output Folder: Output is always related to the files input folder (choose one option)

**DRC**: Dynamic Range Compression: These are the standard Dolby presets (use Music Light for music)

**Dialnorm**: (Custom dialnorm) - '-31` is recommended for music, but users can choose from -31 to -1db (off = 0 No Dialnorm is applied, this leads to quieter encodes)

**Output Type(s):** Select any (or all) of the outputs required. After DEE has encoded each input file, MMH will convert the encoded output to the selected file formats (always an Atmos stream within the selected container).

#### To Run the Encode Process:

Click: Create Atmos Files

MMH will initially create Atmos Master File Sets for each input file, then it opens the MMH Encoder Job Queue dialog to process all the files and encode using DEE. The Job Queue will start automatically:

Dolby Encoder Queue	- o ×
Job Progress:	20%
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\01. To Cut A Long Story	/ Short.wav
55%	
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\02. Chant No. 1 (I Don'	t Need This Pressure On) (12 Version).wav
47%	
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\03. Communication.wav	
53%	
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\04. Gold.wav	
50%	
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\05. Lifeline.wav	
0%	
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\06. True.wav	
0%	
File: D:\TEST\TEST MMH Atmos Helper\07. Only When You Lea	ve.wav
0%	<b>•</b>
Processing Queue	Stop Processing Start Queue Close

The files are encoded using parallel processing (above shows 4 concurrent encodes). On completion the output files are created in the user's Output sub-folder.

**IMPORTANT:** Some additional code may run for each Atmos encode. Please wait until each progress bar reached 100% before closing the queue dialog.

## Decoding Atmos to multichannel wavs with MMH Atmos Helper:

If a user has the Dolby Reference Player software installed on same PC as MMH, clicking the 'Decode Atmos' command button at top right of the MMH Atmos Helper main dialog pops up the MMH Atmos Decoder dialog:

🔰 Decode Dolby Atmos t	to Multichannel WAV					×
Add File(s) Add	Supports decoding At Folders(s)	tmos TrueHD or EAC3 in	following files: .m	ıkv .mka .mp4 .m4a .	mlp, .thd & .eac3	3
Atmos Decoder Sett	ings					
Output Channel Layout	: 7.1.4 - True	HD Channel Presentation:	16 • NOT less the	an Channel Layout chani	nel count	
Output File Options:	Multichannel Interleaved WAV	Output Gain Options:	Auto Calculate Gai	n To Apply		
	Mono WAVs (1 per channel)		Target Peak:	-2.0 🗘 dB		
	Rear Channels before Sides		Apply Channel Gain:	0.0 🗘 dB		
	Split MKV into Chapter files					
Input File Name	Folder	Audio S	tream Peak \	/ol (db) Output File		
				Clear List De	code Close	

To decode an Atmos stream to way, first select the files(s) to decode using the button:

Use either of the two Add buttons at top left:

Add Folder(s):Adds all supported media files in the selected folder(s) (supports multiple folder selection)Add File(s):Adds the selected media files supported from files selected in the File browser

Use the file selection dialog that is displayed to navigate to the folder containing the files(s) to decode. The selection dialogs support standard Windows multiple selections: CTRL+A (selected all files), Click then CTRL+Click to add additional file or folders and Click then CTRL+SHIFT to select the range of files or folders.

NOTE: Users can also drag & drop files from the Windows File Explorer onto the grid

All files are pre-processed. Only those files containing an Atmos stream (TrueHD or Dolby Digital Plus eac3) will be loaded into the decoder file list. If a file contains 1 Atmos stream it is auto selected by MMH, otherwise a dialog will allow a user to select one of multipole Atmos streams.

**HINT**: The Atmos decoder often fails to recognise an Atmos stream if a user attempts to decode Atmos from a split MKV or MKA file. It is recommended users decode the entire MKV or MKA file prior to splitting into individual (split) mkvs/mkas.
A user can add multiple Atmos files and folders containing Atmos files to d batch decoding. Due to the high processing load required files are always decoded one at a time (not in parallel).

Final Output wavs are created in the same folder as each source file processed.

To start the decode process, simply set the Decoder Settings (described below) as click: 'Decode'

## **Decoder Settings:**

Output Channel Layout:	The Dolby Atmos Decoder will remix the Atmos stream to the Channel Layout selected.	
TrueHD Channel Presentation:	Sets they way the DRP decoder sees the TrueHD. It must be set to 16 to decode channel layouts with > 8 channels. It cannot be set to less than the number of channels required in the Output Channel Layout above (e.g 5.1.4 requires 10 channels, therefore TrueHD Channel Presentation must be set to 16).	
Output File Option:	Select one of the output file options: Multichannel Interleaved WAV or Mono WAVS (1 per channel). If Interleaved Wav is selected the channel order is same as shown Functionality section for the MMH Atmos Helper tool above.	
Rear Channels before Sides:	Without this set MMH will decode in the Dolby channel order (sides then rears). Dolby ordering should be used if you intend on re-encoding back to Atmos. Rear Channels Before Sides should be used if you intend playing back the decoded wavs in a player that uses the channel order to play.	
Split MKVs in Chapter files:	If a source MKV file has > 2 chapters, checking this option will split the decoded multichannel interleaved wav file at the chapter times in the source mkv.	
Output Gain Option:		
Auto Calculate Gain to Apply:	Use this option along with a 'Target Peak' dB setting to get MMH to read the maximum Peak Volume of all decoded files from each folder, then auto calculate th gain required so that the Maximum Peak will be the Target Peak dB. MMH will then increase all channels in all files by that same gain. All files will remain at same relative volume. This is desired when decoding multiple tracks if an album.	
	The Peak measurement looks at all channels in the decoded wavs.	
Apply Channel Gain:	If 'Auto Calculate Gain' is NOT set, this value (if Gain setting <> 0), after the Atmos stream is decoded MMH will apply this value to increase/decrease the volume of all channels in the output WAV file. This can be helpful as some Atmos encodes are quiet. The gain value is dB. Entering 3 increases the volume by +3dB.	

Only one of the Output Gain Options above is ever applied and is controlled by the 'Auto Calculate Gain to Apply'.

If the input file is an Atmos MKV or MKA with chapters, MMH will decode the entire MKV file to a single wav, then will split the wav into individual Chapter files using the chapter times in the input MKV file.

The Atmos Decoding process takes quite a while, large MKV files (e.g a 2 hr concert) can take many minutes. Be patient. Small Dolby Digital Plus files can be decoded very quickly.

The actual Atmos decode pops up a window with progress.

Using the option 'Auto Calculate Gain to Apply' adds an extra step to the process, measuring the output wav channel peak volume. This gives the best decoded gain results.

## **MPEG-H Decoder:**

## **Functionality:**

The MMH MPEG-H Audio Decoder tool is a user interface to the Fraunhofer open-source command-line *mpeghdec*\* decoder and allows batch decoding of MPEG-H 3D Audio in MP4 or M4A files to WAV (or to FLAC if 8 or less channels). Output files are always multichannel interleaved. (\* see License at end of this section)

Users can decode to the following channel layouts:

- Quad
- Quad (in a 5.1 formatted file with silent channels)
- 5.1
- 7.1
- 5.1.4
- 7.1.4
- 22.2

The input files are decoded using parallel processing (up to 4 concurrent files) using a similar queue in the MMH Atmos Helper Encoding tool.

## **MPEG-H Decoder tool description:**

When the MPEG-H Decoder tool is opened this is the initial dialog:

Decode MPEG-H 3D Audio to Multichannel WAV				×	
Add File(s) Add Folders(s) Supports decoding MPEG-H 3D Audio in M4A and MP4 files to WAV (or FLAC if 8 channels or less).					
MPEG-H Decoder Settings					
Output Channel Layout: 7.1.4 🗸					
Output Folder: Same as Source	~				
Target Loudness: -31 v					
Input File Name	Folder	Audio Stream	Channels	Objects	
		Clear List Decc		Close	
Status:				:	

To decode an MP4 or M4A file containing an MPEG-H Audio stream to wav, first select the files(s) to decode using e either of the two Add buttons at top left:

Add Folder(s):Adds all supported media files in the selected folder(s) (supports multiple folder selection)Add File(s):Adds the selected media files supported from files selected in the File browser

Use the file selection dialog that is displayed to navigate to the folder containing the files(s) to decode. The selection dialogs support standard Windows multiple selections: CTRL+A (selected all files), Click then CTRL+Click to add additional file or folders and Click then CTRL+SHIFT to select the range of files or folders.

NOTE: Users can also drag & drop files from the Windows File Explorer onto the grid

All files are pre-processed. Only those files containing an MPEG-H Audio stream will be loaded into the decoder file list. The Number of Channels and Number of Objects is displayed for each file. 'Objects' is the important information (see later).

A user can add multiple files and folders containing MPEG-H Audio files for batch decoding. Files are always decoded concurrently/in parallel based on the number of logical processors in your PC's CPU, but limited to 4 max).

Before proceeding with decoding a user must select:

## **Output Channel Layout:**

If the MPEG-H's Object Count is < 9 users should decode to appropriate Channel Layout. For example, 4 objects is a Quad mix, 6 is a 5.1 mix etc. If a user selects a Channel Layout with 8 or less channels an optional 'Convert to FLAC' checkbox is enabled. Selecting this checkbox ensures that each file in converted to FLAC after decoding.

## **Output Folder Location:**

Final Output files are created in the same folder as each source file processed or in a sub-folder under the Source files named after the Channel Layout selected in the decode (e.g. a folder named '7.1.4' if 7.1.4 is selected).

### **Target Loudness:**

This sets the Loudness (audio) compression to be used in the decode:

-31 is equivalent to applying no compression and recommended for listening with AVR based system

-24 is equivalent to a target of -24 LUFS (moderate loudness compression)

-16 (the loudest) for listening on mobile devices where the dynamic range of audio playback is restricted.

All the files loaded in the same decode session will use the settings chosen for that session. If you want to decode to 5.1 and 5.1.4 you must run two decodes with those files/settings.

**NOTE:** MMH always uses the mpeghdec DRC (Dynamic Range Control) default setting of 'None'. This disables DRC for the decode, except for the case that DRC processing is necessary to prevent signal clipping.

To Decode simple set the settings and click:

[Decode]

MMH will load the files into its Decoder Queue dialog and auto-start the batch process.

#### Software License for The Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software (mpeghdec)

Copyright (c) 2021 - 2023 Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der angewandten Forschung e.V. and Contributors. All rights reserved.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The "Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software" is software that implements the ISO/MPEG MPEG-H 3D Audio standard for digital audio or related system features. Patent licenses for necessary patent claims for the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software (including those of Fraunhofer), for the use in commercial products and services, may be obtained from the respective patent owners individually and/or from Via LA (www.via-la.com).

Fraunhofer supports the development of MPEG-H products and services by offering additional software, documentation, and technical advice. In addition, it operates the MPEG-H Trademark Program to ease interoperability testing of end-products. Please visit www.mpegh.com for more information.

#### 2. COPYRIGHT LICENSE

Redistribution and use in source and binary forms, with or without modification, are permitted without payment of copyright license fees provided that you satisfy the following conditions:

\* You must retain the complete text of this software license in redistributions of the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software or your modifications thereto in source code form.

\* You must retain the complete text of this software license in the documentation and/or other materials provided with redistributions of the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software or your modifications thereto in binary form. You must make available free of charge copies of the complete source code of the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software and your modifications thereto to recipients of copies in binary form.

 $^{\star}$  The name of Fraunhofer may not be used to endorse or promote products derived from the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software without prior written permission.

\* You may not charge copyright license fees for anyone to use, copy or distribute the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software or your modifications thereto.

\* Your modified versions of the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software must carry prominent notices stating that you changed the software and the date of any change. For modified versions of the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software, the term "Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software" must be replaced by the term "Third-Party Modified Version of the Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software".

#### 3. NO PATENT LICENSE

NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED LICENSES TO ANY PATENT CLAIMS, including without limitation the patents of Fraunhofer, ARE GRANTED BY THIS SOFTWARE LICENSE. Fraunhofer provides no warranty of patent noninfringement with respect to this software. You may use this Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software or modifications thereto only for purposes that are authorized by appropriate patent licenses.

#### 4. DISCLAIMER

This Fraunhofer FDK MPEG-H Software is provided by Fraunhofer on behalf of the copyright holders and contributors "AS IS" and WITHOUT ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE COPYRIGHT HOLDER OR CONTRIBUTORS BE LIABLE for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary, or consequential damages, including but not limited to procurement of substitute goods or services; loss of use, data, or profits, or business interruption, however caused and on any theory of liability, whether in contract, strict liability, or tort (including negligence), arising in any way out of the use of this software, even if advised of the possibility of such damage.

5. CONTACT INFORMATION

Fraunhofer Institute for Integrated Circuits IIS Attention: Division Audio and Media Technologies - MPEG-H FDK Am Wolfsmantel 33 91058 Erlangen, Germany www.iis.fraunhofer.de/amm amm-info@iis.fraunhofer.de

# **Appendix:**

# .NET 8 Desktop Runtime x64

Download **Microsoft .NET 7 Desktop runtime** (if not already installed) – Search for '**Microsoft .NET 8 Desktop Runtime x64'** or click on the link below: <u>https://dotnet.microsoft.com/download/dotnet/8.0</u>

Look for the **'.NET Desktop Runtime 8.x.x'** and install the Windows **x64** version. Once installed the Windows Update service will keep it up to date.

## Integrated Audio and Video Player in MMH:

A few MMH tools have a 'Play' button to test play a selected file in each tool. By default, MMH uses a basic player with no playback controls. If users wish to use a player with playback controls, please download and install the MVPNet player at this URL:

## https://reva.blob.core.windows.net/mmh5/MPVInstaller.msi

When the MVPNet player is installed MMH will automatically use it for all playback from MMH

## A Note on Music Concert Folders & File naming:

If your music concerts discs are split into individual songs files it is much easier to play specific songs and add specific songs to Playlists etc.

Kodi (and other media players) will show the concert song files and allow users to navigate to them through either their inbuilt file browsers or from their Library views or tablet & smart phone apps (for Kodi remote apps). However, Kodi also requires additional metadata about each music video file stored as XML in an NFO file.

MMH will create the NFO files for Kodi or XML sidecar XML files for JRiver automatically if Concerts are stored as per Kodi's folder requirements below.

Kodi expects Music Videos to be stored in a folder structure like this:

## (Root Concert Folder)\ARTIST - CONCERT NAME

Example: F:\Concerts\David Gilmour - Remember That Night

Please note the dash '-' character between the Artist and Concert/Video Name

For MMH Root Concert Folders can be on any drive accessible from your Windows PC including NAS/Servers.

 IMPORTANT:
 This application (MMH) expects all Music Video/Concert Folder names formatted as:

 ARTIST - CONCERT NAME or ARTIST - CONCERT NAME (YEAR)

MMH will also add the Year to NFO or XML files if your concert folder name ends in a bracketed year: Artist - Concert (Year)

**HINT:** To allow Kodi to load the concerts just add the Root Concert Folder as a Video Source (Music Video) and set the scrape options to 'nfo only'

Inside the Concert folder will be your media content:

- One or more Music Video files (MKV, M2TS, VOB, MP4, AVI, TS etc)
- For each Music Video File, one NFO file with same name as Video file (e.g First.mkv and First.nfo) or one XML file for JRiver (depending on preference settings)
- Folder.jpg: The concert poster art/cover art image
- Fanart.jpg : Artist Fanart/background image

Music Media Helper will create the NFO (or XML), Folder and Fanart jpg files and split a single Concert Video into separate chapters and provides tools to rename the concert chapters with the song titles. (The images scraped from TMDB).

**NOTE:** When MMH creates NFO or XML files in a convert/video folder it also creates a file named: Concert.nfo. This file is used to hold data about the concert for future NFO or XML updates (i.e. MMH just reads the Concert.nfo to get this data). You should also copy Concert.nfo to your final media folder, along with media and NFO or XML files.